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Gulf International Bank

Gulf International Bank 1s a leading merchant bank in the Middle East with 1ts principal focus on the Gulf Cooperatton
Council (GCC) states GIB provides client-led, mnovatve financial products and services Its client base includes
major private-sector corporations, Gulf-based financial instututions, mulunational campames active 1n the region and the

governments of the GCC states

GIB has gained an international reputation for project and trade finance and 1s a leading player 1n the regional syndicated
loan market Its other primary business aleas include merchant banking services such as investment banking, capital

markets and asset management

The Bank was established 1n the Kingdom of Bahrain in 1975 It 1s owned by the six GCC governments and the Sauds
Arabian Monetary Agency In addition to its matn subsidiary, Gulf International Bank (UK) Linuted, the Bank has branches

in London, New York, Riyadh and Jeddah, and representative offices in Beirut and Abu Dhabi

GIB
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Financial Highlights

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

EARNINGS (US$ millions)
Net {loss) / income after tax (396 2} [757 3) 2555 2030 1502
Net interest income 288 3 3054 2577 2090 1752
Fee and commussion income 733 881 658 44 2 367
Operating expenses 1429 141 2 1440 1387 124 4
FINANCIAL POSITION (US$ mullions)
Total assets 25,0335 299540 24,7872 22,8566 19,2390
Loans 129721 1246018 81450 46,2737 48471
Investment secunhes 22205 80707 8,4229 78396 B46%1
Senior term financing 24315 246578 11,8671 1,9445 11,6783
Equiy 19255 22153 1,8566 17183 11,5866
RATIOS {Per cent)
Profitability
Return on average equity (192 1) {37 2} 143 123 99
Return on average assets 1 4} {28) 11 10 08
Caprtal
Risk asset raho”
- Total 173 120 1né 127 1o
-Ter 1 125 25 87 92 97
Equity 05 % of total assets 77 74 75 75 §2
Asset Quality
Loans as % of total assets 518 421 329 27 4 252
Secunhes as % of tofal assets 97 314 428 431 524
Liquidity
Liquid assets ratio 463 528 652 709 739
Deposits o loans cover [mes) ** 16 18 23 25 26

*  Risk asset ratio calculated under BIS Basel 1 for years ended prior to 2008 Basel 2 for 2008
** Deposits include term financing

Credit Ratings
Standard Capital
& Poor's Intelligence
Long-term A A3 BBB+ A+
Short-term F-1 P-2 A2 Al
Indmvidual /D
Financial Strength D+ A-
Outlock Stable Stable Stable Stable
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A classic arabesque pattern, the inspiration for our Annual Report, takes us

back to our roots. It is in these roots that GIB’s four core values lie.
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Chairman's Statement

Chairman

N BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Oll 15 my pnivilege to present the Annual Report
of Gulil International Bank (GIB) for the year ended
315t December 2008 Without doubt this proved to be one
of the most challenging years 1n the Group's history

Dunng the second half of 2008, the global credit crunch,
sparked by the meltdown 1n the US sub-pnme mortgage
sector the previous year ntenstfied wnto a full-blown global
finan¢ial cnsis, which industry analysts have descrnibed as
the worst for over 70 years The contagion effect which
spread to almost every asset class, also wmnpacted the GCC
markets Most of the regienal stock markets witnessed their
worst year ever, many major industrial projects were either
put on hold or cancelled, and oll prices plummeted by over
70 per cent frem their record bigh i July 2008 While the
underlymng fundamentals of the Gulf region remain strong
and economue stability 1s unhkely to be severely undermimed
by the weakening global economy 1t will take considerable
ume before the markets begin to recover, and the outlook for
2009 remains challenging

Accordingly, the Bank mmplemented a number of

important mmitiatives during 2008, designed to strengthen

Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Suhainu

1ts ability to meet current and future challenges and protect
the interests of all its stakeholders The most important of
these was the sale of a significant portion of 1ts non-core
imvestment securities portfolio, effective 315t December
2008 The secunties were sold at therr amortised cost less
specific provisions for impairment as at the effective date
of the sale The securiies comprised the Bank’s entire
exposure to collateralised debt obligatons and other asset-
backed secunties, investments i f{inancial nstitution
subordinated debt, and certain financial Insutution
sentor debt Following the sale GIB had no exposure
to collateralised debt obligations or other asset-backed
securities [lus transaction protects the Bank from any
future losses from these secuniies, materally delevers
and de-nisks the balance sheet, reduces rsk-weighted
assets resulting in a sigmficant enhancement of the Bank s
regulatory capital adequacy ratios, and eliminates the
fundmg risks of the assets

This proacuve and bold approach, which 15 now
mcreasingly recogrused as the most effecive way of

addressing the current lack of confidence 1n the global

banking industry, illustrates the decisive approach 1o
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Chairman's Statement (continued)

removing the distraction of the non-core investment
securities portfolio This will enable the Bank to focus
on its core business activities, continue to strengthen its
franchise, and further enhance 1ts professional reputatton
m the marketplace

Other steps taken in 2008 include the implementation of
a strategy by the Bank's UK subsidiary GIB(UK) Linuted,
focusing on client asset management and treasury services
In this context, GIBUK’s proprictary trading acuvilies were
disconunued in the first quarter of the year thereby mnsulating
the Bank from the severe market volaulity witnessed i the
latter part of the year

GIB achieved a pre-provision operating profit of
US$179 8 million for 2008 compared to US$201 2 million
the previous year After taking o account prudent and
conservative proviswons, the Bank reported a net loss of
US5396 2 million, representing a substantial improvement
over the net loss of US$757 3 mullion in 2007 In view
of expectauons of deteriorating economic and market
conditions 1n 2009, GIB ncreased its non-specific provisions
aganst its loan portfolio by a signtficant US$120 mullion 1n
2008 to ensure that 11 has a conservative buffer as 1t enters a
potentially uncertain environment 1he significantly higher
provision level 1s based on the histonically highest-ever
corporale default rates, witnessed in 1991 However, 1 would
like to stress that the Bank s loan portfolio, which recorded
only a marginal increase 1n 2008 to US$12 9 billion (2007
UiS$12 6 billion) remains strong and healthy, with exposures
primarily to regional governments and government-related
entittes, regronal infrastructure  projects, and  project
financings with strong supporting cash flows GIB's capital

adequacy levels improved significantly duning the year,

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK

with Basel 2 Total and Tier | ranos at 315t December
2008 of 17 3 per cent and 12 5 per cent respectively, both
exceptionally high in relation to international standards

I am pleased to report that the Bank's core merchant
banking acuvities generated yet another strong performance
1m 2008, with total revenues exceeding the previous year's
record performance This reflects a strong increase in
imterest income, and the success of GIB’s relauonship
managers in ¢continuing to ulilise the Bank s relanonships to
gencrate non-asset based fee tncome These achievements
once agamn reinforce the validiy of GIB s GCC-focused
merchant banking strategy Introduced six years ago,
this has successfully contributed to the Bank’s ongoing
diversification and quality of earnings, and 1s enhanced
ternational status and reputation

Today, GIB 1s a market leader 1n a number of banking
services 1 the region, mcluding project and structured
finance, syndicatons and corporate advisory The Bank 1s
alsa one of the largest Arab commercial managers of chients’
assets, with a US$ 14 bllion portfolio of fiduciary assets under
management The Bank’s new financial services company in
Saud Arabia - GIB Financial Services - which commenced
operattons in 2008, underlines GIB’s strategy of expanding
its activities into key financial markets of the GCC

Looking ahead, the Board and Management are currently
evaluaung ways of further strengthemng the Bank’s already
successful GCC-based franchise to facilitate the earliest
possible return to profitability Proposals for a new strategy
and business model for GIB are currently under review

A number of changes took place in the composition
of the Board duning the year On behalf of the Board

of Durectors, I would hike 1o pay tribute to the outgoing




Chasrman  Sherkh Ebralum bin Khalifa Al Khalifa who
served GIB with distinction since 2001 1 also welcome
Mr Khalil Nooruddin who represents Bahrain Mumtalakat
Holding Company, the sovereign wealth fund of the
Kingdom of Bahrain as a new Director of the Board
His skills and experience will greatly assist the Board m
carrying out its duties

With sadness, | announce the decision of the Bank’s
Chuef Execuun e Officer, Dr Khaled Al-Fayez to retire after
working for more than 35 years in the banking industry
Dr Al-Fayez served as the Bank's first General Manager
untif 1983, when he joined Gulf Invesiment Corporation as
Group Chuef Executive Officer He rewured to GIB in 2001
as Cluef Execuuve Officer During hus tenure the Bank
desveloped into a leading player in many fields GIB was the
first bank in the Middle East to have a senior debt issue and
a subordinated debt issue and to be awarded ivesiment-
grade raungs by all three major international rating
agencies On behalfl of the Bank s sharcholders, direclors,
management and staff 1 would like to thank Dr Al-Faycz
for his leaderstup and conirtbution to the development of
GIB nto a highly respected financial institution, and wish
him a blessed and well-earned retirement

[n trn, | would hike 10 welcome Dr Yahya Alyahya
as the new Chief Execuuve Officer who assumed his new
role on L5t January 2009 Dr Alyahya brings with him a
wealth of expenence in both the public and private sectors,
which will prove mvaluable 1n leadmg GIB during these
challenging umes As the new Chairman of GIB, I look
forward 1o working with my fellow Directors and the
Management team to guide the Bank’s strategic direction,

and ensure the continued future success of GIB as a leading

regional financial insttution, providing prospenity for our

stakeholders

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | express
my sincere appreciauon for the support and encouragement
of our shareholders, for the conunued loyalty and trust of
our clients, for the professtonalism and dedication of the
Bank's managemcnt and staff, and for the construcine
cooperatton that GIB centinues to receive from the regtonal

regulatory and supervisory authories

Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Suhaim

Chatrman
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Expressed through the geometric pattern which has a distinet centre point
that emphasises a singularity of purpose.
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Management Review

HE PERFORMANCE OF GIB'S COREMERCHANT
Tand investment banking activities during 2008
compared favourably with the record performance
generaled by the Bank in 2007 This reflected both an
increase In interest income, and the growing ability of
the Bank to leverage lending relauonships to generate
fee income Signilicantly, this performance was achieved
against the backdrop of a scvere global financial cnisis
and economic downturn during 2008, and the adverse
impact ont the GCC region during the latter half of the year
Throughout the year, GIB continued to implement 1ts GCC-
focused merchant banking strategy which, since 2002, has
successfully contnbuted o the quality and dnersificauon
of the Bank’s sources of revenue

ECONOMIC AND MARKET BACKGROUND
Against the bachdrop of the US sub-prime mortgage cnsis
the year generally started on a positive note, with growth
momentum across the GCC economies supporied by strong
business fundamentals and sustained investor confidence,
despite some underlying concems about inflation, iquidity,
energy costs and the value of real estate assets The GCC
stoch markets continued to perform well in the first half of
2008, building on the strong recovery that charactensed the
previous year

However, by the second half of 2008, sub-pnme
related stresses 1n US financial markets transformed into a
global financial cnsis, causing severe market dislocations
and serzing up credit markets The intensity of this cnisis
sernously impacted developed and developing economies
alike, while increased risk aversion led to widening spreads,
falling equity markets, and a retrenchment 1o capital flows
Governments around the world were forced to mntervene and
bailout or nanonalise many leading financial institusions
while tumbling demand resulied in dinumshed industrial
production in both the East and the West

In this chmate, not only have growth prospects for
both high-tncome and developing counines detenorated
substanually, but the enswing impact on the GCC region has
also proven to be far deeper and wider than anticipated The
price of crude o1l plummeted froma record high of just under
USS$150 per barrel n July to less than USSH0 by the end of
the year and deficit balances have emerged across numerous
regional accounts as a result Moreover, the difficult global
financial market conditions have led 1o large losses in the
reglon’s vast overseas investment porifolios, while most
of the GCC stockh markets witnessed their worst year ever
2008 slumping even more than the bourses 1n the West
where the cnsis began GCC stock market caprtalisation

dropped to US$600 billron, compared to US$1 2 trullion
at the end of 2007 Worsening conditions also prevented
major internattonal banks from continuing project financing
activities 1n the GCC, with several of the region’s large
industrial projects being put on hold or cancelled, while
many exisung projects expenenced difficulties in secuning
refinancing facilities

Inspite of circumstances remaing difficult the medium-
term outleok for the GCC cconomics remains cautiously
opunusue, since regional countries have a comparatively
stronger base from which to recover, given the accumutlation
of huge reserves of cash following the six-year economic
boom that accompanied soaring o1l prnces The underlying
macro-economic fundamentals of the GCC economies
remain strong with the IMF and World Bank forecasung
GDP growth to slow down marginally to betw een three and
five per cent sn 2009 compared to around six per centin 2008
Whle fiscal budgets are being adjusted to either balance or
show deficit balances for 2009, most GCC governments
have committed funding to complete major social and
infrastructure projects, while regional markets arc expected
to react posittvely once global conditions start improving

MERCHANT BANKING
With activity n the syndicated loan and project finance
markets coming to a virual standsull for new busmess
durmg the latter half of 2008, GIB focused on closing
loan mandates on hand, providing support to 1ts bilateral
relatonships, and diversifying revenue strcams As a result
the loan portfolio recorded moderate growth of around 5
per cent Despite an increase n the average cost of funding
resulung from the market ilhiquidity during the second half
of the year the gross revenue from loans and adyances
increased compared to 2007

The regional syndicated loan markel was severely
disrupted during the second half of 2008, with volumes
plummeung compared 1o the previous year due 1o a lack
of lhiqudity The suuation was further exacerbated by
international banks, which dommate the high end of the
market, cutimg down or ceasing therr involvement m project
financing deals in emerging markets, as the full impaet of
the credit crunch unfolded This adversely impacted the
volume of syndicated loans arranged and managed by the
Bank 1n all sectors where 1t had successfully maintained
dominant regional league table posiuons in earlier years,
for the areas of corporate finance, project financing and
financial insututions Nevertheless, acung as 2 mandated
lead arranger, the Bank was successful in executing several
syndicated loan transactions under extraordimary market
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Management Review (continued)

conditons These included a SAR32 bilhon Shana-
comphant, contract-related faciliy for the Saud: Binladen
Group, incorporating lettersof creditand letters of guarantee
1ssuance o finance construction of a housing project for
the King Abdullah University for Science & ‘lechnology,
a US$375 mullion syndicated term loan facility for United
Arab Shipping Company for the acquisition of container
vessels, a US$100 mullion Islamic facthty for BMI Bank
(Bank Muscat International), a US$500 mithon project
financing facility for Qatar Electnety and Water Company
for its Ras Abu Fontas Power and Water Desalinauon
Project, a US$100 mulhion term facility for New Medical
Centre m UAE for 11s health care business and a US$1 8
bithon commercial faciliy for Saudi Polymers Company’s
US$5 hillion greenfield integrated petrochemical complex
at Al-Jubail

Increasing emphasis on fee-generating business led
to securing mandates from regional borrowers for project
development and debt advisory mandates duning the year
The mandates include raising debt and equity for three
greenfield projects in Saudi Arabia, arranging financing for
a regional shipping company, assisung several developers
during the bidding process for selection of partners for a
number of mndependent power and water projects, and
balance sheet restructuring for several other chents

The Bank’s GCC private equuty business enjoyed an
active and successful year in 2008, highlighted by a number
of new acquisttions GIB’s portfolio compnises a total current
i estment of US$130 nmulhion, with a farr value of US$175
nuliton The pooled gross IRR of unrealised invesiments
15 20 per cent which compares more than favourably
with many of the top-quartile PE funds worldwide The
Bank 15 a co-sponsor of the highly successful GCC Equity
Fund, of which the fair value of the rmual investment of
US$20 millien 1n 2006 1s now estimated at US$50 million,
representing an IRR of 41 per cent

Capital market transactions in 2008 globally were
affected by marketvolatlity and reduced investorconfidence,
with many corporations delaying 1ssuance until conditions
improve The GCC region was no exception, with regional
Islamic Sukuk 1ssuance which dominated capital markets
during 2006 and 2007, dropping dramatically duning 2008
GIB, n consultation with relevant issuers, placed on hold
the launch of a number of Sukuk 1ssues for which 1t hagd been
mandated earlier 1n the year However, in whal consututes
a groundbreaking transaction, the Bank solely managed
the sale of UAE Dirhams 600 miltion {{JS$163 million)
of Sukuk for Qatar-based Al Mana Group, a major trading,

l (] GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK

automotive and contracung company, to fund its ongoing
expansion plans Comprising a umique, innovative Shana-
comphiant structure this was the first ume that a Qatan
company had raised financing in UAE [Dirhams, paving
the way for corporations in the region to tap cross-border
oapportunities and hiquidity, in order to finance projects and
€Xpansion programmes

GIB mamtamns a presence outside the GCC region
through s branches 1n London and New York, and ns
representative offices in Abu Dhaby and Beirut Based on
significant trade flows and long-term relationships with the
GCC, the Bank’s internauonal trade finance and insututional
lending 1 mainly conducted in the MENA region In 2008,
GIB maintamed 1ts support for mternational contractors and
sponsors involved 1n projects across the region, through the
1ssuance of performance and project-related guarantecs,
letters of credit, and working capinal facihiues

INVESTMENT BANKING
After a positive start to the year, the region’s investment
banking sector was affected by adverse market conditions
duning the latter half of 2008, parucularly following the
dramanc fall m GCC stock markets after the Lehman
Brothers bankruptcy mm September The global financial
cnisis affected investor sentiment, with many scheduled
IPOs and private placements delayed or cancelled, and
several planned mergers and acquisiions put on hold
Through its Saudi-based subsidiary, GIB Financial
Services (GIBFS), the Bank acted as exclusive financial
adviser on two [POs dunng the year The first was for
Halwam Brothers Company, which was oversubscrnibed
more than mne times [ he total 1ssue size was SAR171 4
mullion, while subscriptions recerved from institutional and
retail investors exceeded SAR1 6 bilhion GIB also acted as
Jomt book munner for the institntional tranche of the offering
The second was for Abdullah Al Othaim Markets Company,
which was oversubscribed more than 10 tumes The total
1ssue size was SAR270 million, while subseripnons received
from msutunional and retail investors exceeded SAR2 75
billien GIB also acted as lead underwriter for this offering
The Bank was alse mvolved in a number of private
placements durmg 2008 These included acting as GCC
financial adviser for Bnush Islamic Insurance Holdings
(BITH) on its second round of equity raising advising Dubal
Investments Company (D) on the sale of a 40 per cent equity
stahe in M*Share, the prvate equity arm of DI, and privately
placing tw o milhion shares of Riyadh Cement Company
Moreover GIB acted as financial adviser to Suez




Environment, a leading global player in water and waste
treatment, in the acqusition through one of 11s subsidiaries
(Trashco) of Al Duwiyya General Transport which
specialises in sohid waste disposal in Abu Dhabn The
Bank was also mandated by the High Comnussion for
Development of Hail Region in Saudi Araba to act as
lead financial adviser, lead manager and underwnter for
the Hail Cement Company {(under incorporauon) due to
be established with a capual of SARI 2 bilhion, half of
which 1s planned 1o be offered to the public through an 1PO
on the Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) In another key
achtevement, (G1B obtained listing sponsor status at Dubay
International Financral Exchange (DIFX) which will enable
1t to advise companies planming on list:ing on the DIFX

ASSET MANAGEMENT
In early 2008 the Bank’s London-based subsidiary, Gulf
Internattonal Bank (UK) Limited (GIBUK) embarhed on
a major iitiative to concentrate resources and emphasis on
1ts asset management business This has enabled the Group
1o perform more effecively and compeutively despite a
worsening global market environment

Client assets under management (AuM) by GIBUK at
year-end were US$14 3 bilhon [n 2008, when no hiquid
assel class, with the exception of government bonds, yiclded
a positive return and global equities lost 40 per cent of their
value, client redempuions accounted for less than 25 per
cent of AuM GIBUK remains one of the largest and most
established commereial asset managers in the Mrddle East

The UK-based mvestment team manages a diversified
range of international products covering a wide spectrum
of asset classes The busmess 15 divided across five mam
sub-groups Bond Ponfolios imvesung m global sovereign
bonds, including emerging markets Equity Portfolios,
mvesting 1n and providing coverage of global and regional
equity markets and converuble secunties, Fund Products,
delivening specialised exposure 1o imvestment grade
and high yield corporate fixed income assets, Structured
Products, managing vehicles covering the whole spectrum
of asset-backed secunties,
exercising fiduciary duty n placing clients’ cash across a

and ‘lreasury Serices,

range of matunities These acuviuies are supplemented by
a dedicated chient function providing the highest quality
service to all investors

The business optimisation mmtiatives taken at the start
of 2008 have ensured that the Bank s asset management
team 15 well positioned to drive growth n assets and fees,
even as compellors are consolidating Key objectives

for 2009 include mamtaing the current coverage of
global assets with a drive towards a stronger emerging

markets specialisation, together with an increased focus on
improving client service to enhance customer loyalty and
brand presence, both in the Middle East and globally

TREASURY
GIB’s Treasury business faced extremely challenging
conditions during 2008, with global and regional liquidhty
rapidly detenorating, particularly during the latter half of
the year With credit markets remaining virtually locked
during the last quarter, and banks increasingly reluctant to
lend to each other GIB moved quickly to tackle funding
challenges on a proacuive basis Due to long-standing
relationships nurtured with the Bank's hey depositors, it
proved possible to adequately meet funding requirements
In addwon, the hquidity sitwation of the Bank was
sigmificantly safeguarded by measures tahen in recent years
to diversify sources of funding

Client business 1n foreign exchange remamed strong
during 2008, and GIB continued to see a growing demand for
products to hedge interest rate and currency nisks, particularly
as a result of the high levels of market volaulity Of parucular
importance, GIB's foreign exchange earmngs of US$16 1
mullion 1n 2008 were at their mghest ever level This entirely
reflected 1ncome generated from cuslomer-related business

On the assets side as part of the Bank’s strategic
mitiatives 1o de-rnisk the balance sheet and refocus on its
core business activities, a significant portion of the non-core
mvestment secunties portfolio was disposed of 1n a sale
effective 315! December 2008 The assets sold included the
Bank’s enure exposure to collateralised debt obligations,
asset-backed secunties and subordinated bank debt, on
whech GIB had taken substantial provisions for impairment
As a result of the sale, the Bank has successfully de-nisked
its balance sheet and sigmficantly enhanced its regulatory
capital adequacy rauos

For 2009 GIB’s strategy will be increasingly focused on
well-diversified investment management as well as chent-
anented business activities The Bank will use its specialist
financial market skiils and expertise to structure appropriate
risk management solutions for its clients

GIB’s capntal adequacy levels remain strong with
Basel 2 Total and Tier i ratios of 17 3 per cent and 12 5
per cent both high m relation to global standards The
international rating agencies have mdicated that GIB
follows a conservauve provisioning approach and enjoys
very strong support from its shareholders
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Financial Review

PERATING INCOME WAS US$1798 MILLION
Ofor the year This was 11 per cent lower than 1n the
previous year despite the unprecedented market turmoil
and deteriorating global economic environment witnessed
during the year Total income of US$$322 7 mithion was 6
per cent down on 2007 while total expenses were al much
the same level as 1n the prior year Net interest income of
US$288 3 mulhion was 6 per cent lower than in the prior
year largely reflecting reduced investment secunity volumes
resulung from ongoing maturiies Fee and commission
income at US$73 3 nullion was L7 per cent down on the
prior year This was nevertheless the second hughest level
of fee income 1n the Bank's history reflecting fees derived
from a diversified range of business activities including
asset and fund management, letters of credit and guarantees,
and corporale advisory In keeping with GIB s tradiuonal
conservative approach to provisiomng, the Bank made a
sigmificant addtuon to its non-specific loan provision in 2008
In view of the prevailing economic conditions, the Bank
mcreased its non-specific loan provision to a level consistent
with probabilities of default equating to the previous highest
ever corporate default levels that were witnessed 1in 1991
As a result, the non-specific loan provision was increased by
USS115 0 nullion to US$180 O mullion at the end of 2008
This high provisioning leve! will provide a conservative
buffer as the Bank could face a challenging envaronment
i 2009 After taking account of the exceptional loan loss
provision charge, and provisions for investment secunties
that were subsequently sold, the Bank recorded a net loss of
US$396 2 million This w as a marked improv ement over the
net loss of US$757 3 nulhion recorded in 2007

NET INTEREST INCOME
Net interest income at US$288 3 mullion was US$17 3
million or 6 per cent [ower than 1n the prior year Netinterest
income 1s prncipally derived from the following sources -
* margin income on the commercial lending portfolio
+  margin income on the inv estment secunties portfolio,
+ money book activities and
* carmings on the investment of the Groups net free
capital
The year-on-year decrease 1n net interest income
was largely atinbutable to lower interest earmings on

the mvestment of the net free capial atinbutable to the

significant reducuion i US interest rates to histonically
low levels, and also to lower net interest eamings derived
from the nvestment secunties portfolio as a result of the
non-replacement of matuning securiies These decreases
were, howcver, largely offset by ligher net interest earnings
derived from the Group s commercial lending portfolio
Lean margim mcome was 38 per cent up on the previous
year This reflected both higher average volumes and
average margins While there was only a relatively small
year end to year end increase in the loan portfolio, there
was a more significant year-on-year increase i the average
loan volume The more resinctive credit environment
also facihtated the enhancement of margins on both new
and renewed credit facilities Net interest earmings on the
commercial lending portfolio accounted for more than half
of the Group s net interest tncome 1n 2008

Margin income on the investment secunities portfolio
accounted for 17 per cent of net interest imcome 1n 2008
Margin income on investment secunties decreased by 6
per cent in 2008 as maturing assets were not replaced due
to the credit market turmoil prevailing during most of the
year

Money book earnings represent the differential between
the funding cost of mterest-bearing assets based on internal
transfer pricing methodologies and the actual funding cost

incurred by the Bank This includes benefits derived from

Gross income develspment (USS millions)

400

300

200

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Han mteves
nc

121.4 1392 147.7 368 344

fetimteet 75,2 209.0 257.7 3054 288.3

beaa 12966 3482 4054 3424 3227
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Financial Review (continued)

the mismatch of the repricing profile of the Group’s interest-
beanng assets and habilines Money book earnings in 2008
were lower than in the prior year reflecting a hugher cost of
funds dunng the second half of the year The money book
nes ertheless generated posiuve interest earnings for the year
Due to the reliance on deposits denved from counterpartics
m the GCC and wider Middle East, the increase n costs
in the ntemnational terbank markels associated with the
credit market cnisis had a relauvely limited impact on the
Bank's interest earnings

Earnings on the investment of the Group's net frec
capital were 36 per cent down on the prior year The net
free capital was largely uninvested during the year with the
umnvested funds placed on a short term basis in the money
market Earnings on the net free capial were therefore
negauvely impacted by the significant reduction in short
term US interest rates duning the latter part of the year to
histoncally low levels

NON-INTEREST INCOME

Non-interest income compnses fee and commission tncome,
trading income, realised profits on mvestment securities and
other income

Gross income composition (%)

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Tadrgardobher 985 247 202 91 -

Wi 124 133 162 203 203

[Pt 591 600 636 706 797
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

* To focihitate year-anyear companison 2008 and 2007 rradh
tncome excludes losses on expasures directly impacted by the credit

market crisis
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Fee and commission mcome, which at US$73 3 million
represented the second largest income category, was al
the second highest level in the Bank’s tistary Fee and
commussion meome was US$14 8 milhon or 17 per cent
Jower than the record level of fee income recorded n 2007
Fee and commissien mcome has nevertheless grown almost
threefold 1n the six years since the GCC-focused merchant
banking strategy was adopted n 2002 An analysis of fee
and commussion mcome with prior year comparatives 15
set out In note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
Investment banking and management fees at US$48 |
maliion were US$13 I nulhion or 21 per cent down on the
prior year This income category compnses fees generated
by the Group's asset management, fund management,
corporate advisory and underwniting acuvities The year-
on-year decrease reflected the generally lower tevel
of 1nvestment banking actvity in the siressed market
environment As referred o 1n note 34 to the consohidated
financial statements assets held n a fiduciary capacity
amounted ta US$14 3 billion at 315t December 2008
GIB therefore continues 1o be the largest Arab-owned
commercial assel manager Commissions on letters of credit
and guarantee at US$22 8 nullion were US$2 0 mitlion or
10 per cent up on the prior year and therefore conunued
to make an mmporant contribution to fee and commuission
income 1he significant year-on-year advance was largely
attnbutable to an increase tn guarantee COMMUISSIONS ON
GCC-related business activities

The Group's vamous trading activities wncurred a
US$86 7 million loss for the year Trading income 1s
reported inclusive of all related income, including nterest
income, gains and losses arising on the purchase and sale,
and from changes i the fawr value of trading secunties,
dividend income, and interest expense, including all related
funding costs An analysis of trading income 1s set out in
note 23 o the consolidated financial statements The trading
loss for the year included a loss of US$28 4 million arising
on the hquidauon of the Group's assel backed secunty
proprietary trading portfolio The portfolio was liguidated
during the first quarter of the year thereby protecting the
Bank aganst the further sigmficant detenioration in the
structured product markets 1n the second half of the ycar
The trading loss was also attnbutable 1o losses on externally
managed funds of US$65 8 million These losses pnncipally




iy

Expenses development

{Us$ millions)

1244 1387 1440 141.2 1429

arose on alternative nvestment (hedge} funds Durning the
year, the Bank actively reduced 1ts exposure to hedge funds
AL 318! December 2008, the Group's hedge funds classified
as held-for-trading had been reduced 10 US$152 8 milhon
The Bank 15 conunuing to exit its investments 1 hedge
funds at the earliest possible opportunity

Foreign exchange profits, which were entirely customer-
related, at US$16 | mullion were US$6 4 mullion or 66 per
cent up on the previous year This was the highest ever level
of foreign exchange carmings All other trading actvities
incurred a marginal aggregate loss for the year reflecting the
volaule and challenging market environment, particularly
during the second half of the year

Profits on investment sccuriies amounted to US$39 4
million for the year Profils pnncipally arose on the sale of
a strategic equity investinent and on the early redemption of
secunities in the floatng rate debt secunty portfolio

Other wncome of US$8 4 mullion principally comprised
profits realised on the sale of prenuses and equipment
loan recovenies and dividends received from equity

mvestments

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses at US5142 9 million were only USS1 2
mullion up on the pnor year As explained in more detal
later in this secuion, the year-on-year increase was recorded
1n the other operating expense category

Staff expenses were US33 3 mullion down on the prior

year Staff expenses in 2007 included a one off, exceptional
expense of US$4 0 nullion relaung to the restructunng of the
Group’s London-based subsidiary, GIBUK Excluding this
exceptional expense, staff expenses were at much the same
level as 1n the pnor year reflecting cost contro! measures
Premises expenses were US$0 7 mithon ar 6 per cent down
on the prior year reflecting general cost savings

Other operating expenses were US$5 7 millhion up on
the prior year This was partly atinbutable to the benefit of
an exceptional, one off VAT refund 1n 2007 expenses In
addiuon, 2008 expenses included exceptronal consultancy
fees relating to the mvestment sccunties portfohe and

strategic imbatives

PROVISIONS
The Bank took prudent and conservative provisioning
aclions 1 relation 10 investment security exposures that
were adversely impacted by the credit market crisis and also
n anticipation of a potennal increase 1n corporate defaults
in the detertorating economic environment

The total provision charges 1n 2008 for investment
securities and loans and advances were US$365 | million
and US$201 7 million respectively

The provision charge for investment securiues largely
related to collateralised debt obliganons (CDOs), asset
backed securities and impatred financial institution securities
that were sold effective 315! December 2008 1 he securities
were sold at their amortised cost less specific provisions for
impairment as at the effective date of sale

I he loan provision charge compnsed specific provistons
of US$86 7 million and a net increase n the non-specific
loan provision of US$1150 million The specific provision
charge largely related to one corporate exposure that 15 1n
the process of being rescheduled As commented on m more
detal 1n the loans and advances section of the Financial
Review, the significant increase m the non-specific loan
provision reflected mcreases in the expected probabilities of
default used 1n the calculation of provisions measured on a
collecuve basis Higher probabilies of default are anticipated
to result from the impact of the global recession on the
regional economic environment While the Bank’s lending
activities are pnmanly focussed on providimg financing 1o
key infrastructure projects, shareholder-related entiies and

top tier corporates, 1t was nevertheless considered prudent to
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Capital adequacy ratio

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

11.0% 12.7% 11.6% 12.0% 17.3%

From 2008, the capio! adequacy rana 15 calculated in accordance with the
CBB's Basel 2 guidelines Comporativa rahos are prasentad n accordance
with the Basel T guidelines of the Bosel Committee on Banking Supsmsion

enhance provisions m order to provide a conservative buffer

as the Bank enters a potenually uncertain environment

CAPITAL STRENGTH
Total equity amounted to US$1,9255 mullien at 318t
December 2008 At the 2008 year end the ratio of equity
and Tier 1 capilal (o total assets were 7 7 per cent and 7 9
per cent respectively, ranos that are high by mnternational
comparison The average Tier 1 capital to total assets ratio
of the top 1,000 world banks was 4 5 per cent according to a
survey published in The Banker magazine in July 2008

Issued share capital increased by US$1 0 billion dunng
the year following the complenon of the legal formahues
relaung o a capital increase ratified by the shareholders of the
Bank in February 2008 The capital increase was classified
m the consohidated balance sheet at 315! December 2007 as
a proposed mcrease 1in share capital pending completion of
the relevant legal formalities

A US5289 8 million decrease in total equity during 2008
compnsed the net of the US$396 2 mulhion loss for the year
and a US$106 4 mulion net ncrease in the fair value of
avaulable-for-sale secunties and denvative cash flow hedges
In accordance with IAS 39, changes in the fair values of
available-for-sale secuiinies and denvaus e cash flow hedges
are accounted for 1n equity The net increase in the far value
of available-for-sale secunties largely reflected the beneficial

impact of the sale of a significant portion of the investment
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secunities portfolio effecuve December 2008 The unreahsed
revaluation loss on available-for-sale securities at the 2008
year end was US$67 1 mullion, representing only 3 per cent
of the total value of the available-for-sale secuntres portfolio
The relauvely small unreahised revaluation loss reflected the
high quality of the remaiung secunties portfolio following
the sale of secunties 1 December 2008 The remaining
available-for-sale secunties principally comprised investment
grade-rated debt secunues issued by major nternauonal
financial 1nstitutions and government-related entities

With a total regulatory capual base of US$27479
million and total risk-weighted exposure of US$15,894 2
milhon, the nsk asset rato calculated i accordance with
the Central Bank of Bahrain s Basel 2 guidelines was 17 3
per cent while the Tier 1 ratio was a strong 12 5 per cent
In accordance with nigrnational regulatory guidelines,
the fair value adjustments to equity ansing under 1AS 39
m relation to available-for-sale securities and denvauve
cash flow hedges are excluded from the regulatory capital
base, with the exception of unrealised gains and losses on
equuity investments As a result, at the 2008 year end net far
value losses of US$59 9 million were added back to equity
to dernve the regulatory capital base for capital adequacy
purposes |he Bank’s tegulatory capial base 1s enhanced
by subordinated term financing facihues amounting 1n
total to US$330 0 million The subordinated term financing
facilities are approved for inclusion i Tier 2 capital for
capital adequacy purposes by the Bank s regulator, the
Ceniral Bank of Bahram (CBB)

The nisk assel ratlo imcorporates both market and
operational misk-weighted exposures The Basel 2 Pillar
3 repont set out 1n a later section of the Annual Report
provides further details on capital adequacy and the Bank’s
capital management framework The Group’s policies 1n
relation to capital management are set out in note 26 to the
consohidated financial stalements As descnibed n more
detail tn the note the Group’s pelicy 1s to maintain a strong
capital base so as to maiawn mvestor, counterparty and
market confidence and to sustain the future dexelopment of

the Group’s business

ASSET QUALITY
The geographical distnbution of risk assets 15 set oul i note
27 to the consohdated financial statements The eredit nsk




profile of financial assets based on internal credit ratings 1s
setout 1n note 26(a)} to the consolidated financial statements
I lus note demonstrates that 83 per cent of all financial assets
comprising placements, securiies and loans, were rated
4- or above, 1 ¢ the equivalent of investment grade-rated
Further assessment of asset quality can be faciliated by
reference to note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
an the fatr value of financial instruments

Based on the valuation methodologies set outin that note,
the net fair values of all on- and off-balance sheet financial
mstruments at 315! December 2008 svere not sigificantly
different to their carrying amounts All non-trading securities
are classified as available-for-sale and mecasured at farr
value Avalable-for-sale secunties are accordingly stated at
fair value in the consolidated balance sheet

At the 2008 year end, placements and available-for-sale
securities accounted for 16 per cent and 9 per cent of total
assets respectively while loans and advances reptesented 52

per cent

Investment Securitres
Investment securities totalled US$2,2205 midhion at
315! December 2008 The investment securities portfohio
which s entirely classified as available-for-sale, principally
compnsed mvestment grade-rated debt secunities 1ssued by
mayot nternational financial mstilutions and government
related entities

Based on an agreement effective 3151 December 2008,
the Group sold, without recourse, a sigmficant poruon of
1ts investment secunties portfolio to shareholders of the
Bank The secunties were sold at thewr amortised cost less
specific provisions for impairment as at the effecine date
of sale Accordingly, no profit or loss was recorded on
the transaciton The sold secunities compnised the Bank s
entire exposure 10 collateralised debt obligauons (CDOs)
and other asset backed securities, other than those sold
or maturing prior t¢ the settlement date of the sale of the
secuniues on 27th March 2009, nvestments 1 non-GCC
financial tnstitution subordinated debt and impaired financial
insttution semor debt Following the sale, the Group had no
exposure, net of specific provisions, to collateralised debt
obligations or other asset backed securiies The sale 15
commented on 1n more detail in note 7 to the consolidated

financal statements

Asset mix by category |

100
80
60
40
20
0
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
EH o 15 16 20 51 18
Placements, dus
Fomshowbekden 300 279 224 214 367
other Iquid assets
N s 524 431 428 314 97
Lo ond 252 274 328 421 518
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

An analysis of the basis used for determining the fair
values of investment securities 15 set out n note 36 to the
consohdated financial statemenis At 315t December 2008,
US$1,966 2 million or 89 per cent of investment securities
were valued based on quoted prices while an additional
US$204 7 milhion or 9 per cent was valued based on cost
less provisions for intparrment Only US549 6 million
was based on observable market data, representing private
equity fund investments for which the fair values were
based on the net asset values of the investment vehicles No
fair values of available-for-sale sccunties at 315t December
2008 were derived from modelled-based valuation
methodologies

Investment securities comprise two types of debt
securty portfolios and a limited investment in equities and
equity funds The larger debt secunly portfohio comprnises
floaung rate securities or fixed rate securines that have
been swapped to yield constlant spreads ov er LIBOR These
accounted for 82 per cent of the total investment secunties
portfolio at the 2008 year end The smaller debt security
pertfolio compnises fixed income securiies This portfolio
amounted to US5201 4 million at the end of 2008 This
largely compnsed GCC government-related bonds
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Investment debt securities rating profile

US$ millions %
1,690 4 84 1

Bl ~ratea f Acato A

[l see-+ o B88- / Baa 10 Baocd 2564 127
. Other debt secunhes 64 4 32
Total 2,011.2 100.0

Equity investments amounted 1o US$209 3 mullion at the
end of 2008 and compnised private equity investments and
externally managed funds providing a diversified exposure
1o the private equity sector

Ananatysis of the investment secuntics portfolic by rating
calegory Is set out In note 9(a) to the consolidated financial
statements US$1 690 4 mullion or 84 per cent of the debt
secunties at the 2008 year end were rated A- or above  Based
on the rating of the 1ssuer a further US$256 4 nulhon or 13
per cent of the debt securities represented other investment
grade-rated securities Thus 97 per cent of the tofal debt
securitics comprised investment grade-rated securnities

Other debt securiies, the 1ssuers of which are rated
below BBB- / Baa3 or are unrated amounted to US$64 4
mullion at the end of 2008, thus compnsing only 3 per cent of
the total investment debt securities portfolio These largely
compnsed securittes 1ssued by unrated GCC entities

There were no past due secunties, net of specific
provisions, at 315! December 2008 Impaired im estment
securiies, representing securities against which a specific
provision 15 maintaned amounted o US$669 8 million at
315t December 2008 This principally conprised investments
mstructured investment vehicles (§1Vs) of US$564 5 mulhon
The 51Vs were fully provisioned Total specific provisions
for imparrment at 318! December 2008 represented 96 per
cent of gross impaired investment secunties

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK

=

Loans and Advances
Loans and advances amounted 1o US$12.972 1 million at
the 2008 year end This represented a US$370 3 mullion or
3 per cent ncrease compared to the 2007 year end 94 per
cent of the loan portfolio at the 2008 year end represented
lending within GIB’s core market in the GCC states

Based on contractual matunties at the balance sheet
date, 46 per cent of the loan portfolio was due to mature
within one year while 67 per cent was due o mature within
three years Only 21 per cent of loans were due to mature
beyond five years Details of the classificauon of loans
and advances by wndustry are set out 1n note 10{a) to the
consohdated financial staiements while the geographical
distnbution of loans and advances 1s contained 1n note 27
At 3181 December 2008 25 per cemt of the loan portfolio
compnised exposure to the cnergy o1l and petrochemical
sector [his reflects the Group’s strategic focus on project
finance and syndicated lending in the GCC states

The credit risk profile of loans and advances, based
on mternal credit ratings, 1S set out m note 26(a) to the
consohdated financial statements US$9,378 3 mullion or 72
percent of iotal loans were rated 4- orabove,1 e the equisalent
of mmestment grade-rated All but US$1077 mihon
were classified as standard The classified loan exposures
principally compnised one corporate exposure that is subject
to reschedubing discussions and two regtonal mmvestment
compames that are simlarly considenng rescheduhing
options 1n view of short term hiquidity constraints

Total loan loss provisions at 315! December 2008
amounted to US$2742 mullion Counterparty specific
provisions amounted to US$94 2 million while non-specific
provisions were US$180 0 mullion Total specific provisions
of US$94 2 milhon sigmficantly exceeded the gross book
value of past due loans of only US$6 0 million Specific
provisions were therefore maintamed agamst loans that
were nol past due 1n respect of either principal or interest

Specific provisions are determuned based on the
recoverable amount of the loan The recoverable amount 1s
measured as the present value of the expected future cash
flows discounted based on the interest rate at the inception
of the facility Non-specific provisions are determined on a
portfolio basis utihsing an meurred loss model The incurred
loss model estimates the probable losses mherent within the
portfolio at the balance sheet date but that have not been




specifically idenufied The model 1s based on applicable
credit ratings and associated historical default probabilities,
loss seventy and rating migrations, and reflects the current
macroeconomic, political and business environment and
other pertinent mdicators

There was a net US$115 0 mullion increase n non-
specific loan provisions during 2008 to US$ 180 O nuilion at
the 2008 yearend Thencrease nthe non-specific provision
was based on increases in the expected probabihues of
default used 1n the calculavion of provisions for impairment
measured on a collectne basis Higher probabilittes of
default are anircipated to result from the impact of the global
recession on the regronal economic environment

The probabilitics of defauit applted in the calculation of
the non-specific provisions at 318! December 2008 equated
toaspeculative-grade default rate of 13 9 per cent exceeding
the previous high corporate default rates witnessed in July
1991 The default rates applied 1n the calculateon of the non-
specific loan provision and the resultant provisioning levels
for sentor, unsecured exposure by intemnal rating category

were as follows -

Senor,
unsecured
Internal rating  Probability of provisioning
grade default level
(PDs) %
| 003% -
2+ 003% -
2 003% -
2- 006% -
3+ 018% 0 1%
3 0 34% 02%
3. 0 36% 02%
4+ 102% 0 7%
4 105% 0 7%
4 - 129% 0 8%
5+ 225% 1 5%
5 348% 23%
5- 621% 4 0%
6+ 987% 6 4%
6 2793% 18 2%
6 - 39 45% 25 6%
7 8361% 54 3%

The provisioning fevel 1s based on a Loss Given Default
(LGD) of 65 per cent for semor, unsecured exposure

Loan maturity profile

US$ millions %

B v 6,027 7 465
B v 22 27125 209
W veors4as 1,539 1 18
F' " Over 5 years 2,692 8 208

Total 12,972.1  100.0

For the purpose of the calculation of the non-specific
provision, the Bank only takes account of collateral held in
the form of cash While collateral in the form of secunities,
listed equities and physical assets 1s used for nsk mimgation
and protection purposes, 1l 1s not taken nto account 1n the
calculaton of the non-specific provision

The gross and net book values of past due loans amounted
to US$6 0 million and US$1 0 million respeetnely The
provisioning coverage for past due loans was therefore
85 per cent Past due loans are defined as those loans for
which either principal or interest 1s over 90 days past
due Under 1AS 39, interest on impaired loans should be
recogmsed 1 meome based on the net book value of the
loan and the 1nterest rate that was used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuning the recoverable
amount Howenver, 1n accordance with gmidelies 1ssued by
the Bank’s regulator, the CBB, interest on past due loans 1s
only to be recogmised in income on a cash basis In view of
the Group s high provisioning coverage for impaired loans,
the difference between the two bases of accounting 1s not

matenial An agemg analysis of past due loans 1s set out
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PDO loan development

120 3

100
80 2
&0
40
20

0 0
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

PDO loons (US$ millions)
PDO loans as % of gross loans

PDO laans 840 53.7

8105 169% 0.84% 0.22% 0.13% 0.05%

187 17.0 6.0

% of

loan

in note 10(c) 1o the consohdated financial statements No
new loans became past due 1 2008 All past due loans were
overdue by between two and five years The gross volume
of past due loans also continued to be substantally less than
total provisions Total provisions for foan losses exceeded
the gross volume of past due loans by US$268 2 million
This means that rather than earmings being impaired by the
funding cost of the net book value of past due loans, there 15

an earnings enhancement

Other Asset Categores
Cash and other hquid assets which amounted to US$303 0
mullion at the 2008 year end, are analysed in note 5 to
the consohidated financial statements They principally
compnsed cash and balances with banks

Placements with banks totalled US$4,037 4 million at
the 2008 year end and were well diversified by geography
as illustrated n note 27 to the consohidated financial
statements Interbank placemems were largely with GCC
and European bank counterparties, representing the
Group s two principal operating locations Placements
with banks represented 16 per cent of total assets al the
2008 year end

The amount due from shareholders at 315! December
2008 15 commented on m more detml n note 7 to the
consolwdated financial statements This represented an amount
due 1n relation to the sale of secunnies as referred to earlicr 1
the Financial Review commentary The total amortised cost

less speaific provisions for impairment of the sold secunues

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK

at the effective datc of sale on 3ist December 2008 based on
rates of exchange prevailing on that date was US$4,8320
million The amount due from shareholders was settled on
27th March 2009

1 rading securities at US$207 | nullion compnsed funds
managed by internauional 1nstitutions with acknowledged
experuse n therr field, providing diversified exposure to
allemative mvestment strategies and international debt
marhets Duning 2008, the Bank's imvestments m hedge
funds were reduced from US$334 @ million at the end of
2007 to US$153 0 mullton at the 2008 year end The Banh
15 contmting to reduce 11s mvestments in hedge funds with
the intention of fully exiting the mvestments at the earhest
possible opportumity

Risk Asset and Commument Exposure

Risk asset and commument exposure at 315t December
2008 amounted to UUS$28,209 6 mullion Risk assets and
commutments comprise all assets included in the balance
sheet (with the excepuon of other assets} and credit-related
contingent items As referred to earher, an analysis of risk
asset and commitment exposure by category and geography
15 contained 1n note 27 to the consohidated financial
stalements As 1s evident from this note US$222727
mmillion or 79 per cent of total nisk asscts and commitments
represented exposure to counterparties and entities located
i the GCC states The remaimng nisk asset exposure largely
represented short term nterbank placements with major
European banks An analysis of denvauve and foreign
exchange products 15 sel out 1n note 30 while a further
analysis of credit-related conungent items together with

their nsk-weighted equivalents 1s contained mn note 31

FUNDING

Bank and customer deposits at 318t December 2008
totalled US$18,395 0 nullion Customer deposits amounted
to US$15,009 1 million at the 2008 year end being
US$1.335 1 mullion higher than at the previous year end
Customer deposits at US$15,009 | million represented 82
per cent, or well over three quarters, of total deposits A
lower funding requirement resulting from the cessation of
proprictary trading activities and the liquidation of related
trading assets as well as a decrease in investment securities

as a result of ongoing maturities, coninibuted to a reducuon




Risk asset and commitment exposure

US$ millions %

B ccc 22,2727 790

- Crher Middle East & North Afnca

. Evrope

Eﬁ North America

5429 19
4,040 0 143
1,090 6 3¢
Asta 262 4 09

Total 28,209.6

100.0

in bank deposits Bank deposits at 3151 December 2008
amounted 1o US$3,385 9 mullion representing only 18 per
cent of total deposits

Total deposits are analysed by geography 1n note 13
to the consolidated financial statements US$12,2234
million or 66 per cent of total deposits were denved from
counterpartics in GCC countrics while a further US$54,213
million were denved from the wider Middle East and North
Afnca Deposits denved from other countries, principally
Europe, amounted to US$1,957 7nulhon oronly 11 per cent
of total deposits This compares to placements with non-
GCC counterparties of US$3,5104 milhon The Group 1s
therefore a net placer of funds in the international interbank
markets, and has no net reliance on the international
interbank market This helped 1o protect the Bank during
the unprecedented hquidity squeeze and associated drying
up of hquidity 1n iternatonal interbank markets witnessed
n the latter part of 2008

Securines  sold under agreements to repurchase
{repos) were US$1,244 8 nullion at 315! December 2008
A sigmficant decrease n repos at the 2008 year end was
attributable to the sale of a sigmficant portion of the
mvestiment securities portfolio effective 3151 December

2008 The Bank contitues to utiise its remamming high
quality and highly rated mvestment secunties to raise
funding on a collateralised basis where effective from a cost
and tenor perspeciive

Senior term fipancing at 3151 December 2008 totalled
US$2.431 5 million Only US$306 9 nullion of sentor term
finaneing 1s due to mature in 2009 US$1,200 0 mullion, or
almost half of the Group's senior term financing 1s not due
to mature untl 2012 Further commentary on Liquidity and
funding 1s provided n the Basel 2 Pillar 3 report

Deposits - geographical profile

US$ millions %

B ccc 12,223 4 46 5
Cther Middle East &
Nm"'{: N'"cae as 42139 229
. Other countries 19577 06
Total 18,395.0 100.0
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Adherence to a strict form and the rules of geometry mean that there is no
deviation away from an ideal.
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Corporate Covernance

SOUND GOVERNANCE
GIB has long recognised the importance of sound corporate
governance as a critical factor in attaiming fairness for all
stakeholders and achieving orgamsational imtegnty and
efficiency, and the Board of Directors and Management
are committed to complying with established best pracuce
1 that regard

Although not a publicly traded company, GIB has
progressively adopted and umplemented internauonal best
practices of publicly traded financial institutions, and since
2003 has published a statement on Corporate Governance
in 1ts Annual Report

During 2008, GIB conunued to work on new imbatives
aimed at promoting enhanced corporate govemance
practices, with particular emphasis on increasmg the
awareness and understanding of directors, management
and staff on this important topic

In additton, a number of steps were taken to further
strengthen GIB's corporate  governance framework,
ranging from self-assessments at all levels to ensure
compliance with the requrements of the Central Bank
of Bahrain ( CBB’) on corporate governance, to specific
mtlestones such as the adoption of a Disclosure Palicy
in accordance with the requirements of Basel 2 Pillar 3
to reflect the Bank’s commitment o enhancing corporate
governance financial transparency, and fairness in the
disclosure of financial informatton for the benefit of all
users of that informauion, including regulators, customers,

counterparhes, rating agencies and other stakeholders

ORGANISATION

The Bank has a corporate governance structure m place
that segregates functtons and responsibilities, reflecting
the necessary division of roles and responsibilities betw een

the Board of Directors and Management

s There 1s an effecive and appropnately constituted
Board of Directors responsible for the stewardship of
the Bank and the supervision of the Bank’s business,

which recerves from Management such information as

1s required to properly fulfill ts dunies and the dunes
of the Commuttees (hat assist i, and which delegates
1o Management the authorty and responsibility for

managing the day-to-day business of the Bank

+ There 1s an effectve and appropriately orgamsed
management structure responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Bank and the implementation
of Board-approved strategy, policies and internal

controls

¢  There 1s a clear division of roles and responsibilities
as between the Board of Directors and Management
and as between the Charrman and the Chief Executive
Officer { CEQr)

» There are defined and documented mandates and
responsibihnes (as well as delegated authonties, where

applicable} for

* The Board

¢ The Chairman of the Board

¢ The Board Committees

¢ The Management

+  The Chief Execuuive Officer

« The six Management Commuitees (Management
Commuttee, Group Risk Commitiee, Asscts &
Liabthties Committee, Information  Securty

Management Committee Informauon Technology

Resources

Steening Commuttee and Human

Committee)

The orgamisation chart and corporate govermnance structure

1s set out on page 112 of this Annual Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises ten non-executive Directors including

the Chairman and Vice Chairman, who together bring a

wide range of skills and expenence 1o the Board Their

biographies are set out on page 113 of this Annual Repont
In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Associauon,

Directors are appoinied by the Bank s shareholders who

consist of the six Gulf Cooperation Council governmenis
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Corporate Governance (continued)

namely Saudi Arabia (Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency

(SAMA) and Public Invesiment Fund (PiF)), Kuwan

(Kuwait Invesiment Authonty}, Qatar (Qatar Investmem

Authority), Bahrain (Bahrain Mumtalakat Holding

Company BSC), Oman (Mimstry of Finance of the

Sultanate of Oman), and the United Arab Emurates

{(Mimstry of Finance of the United Arab Emirates)

The Bank's Artcles of Associauion also require that
the Bank holds, annually, a properly constituted General
Assembly

The Board is responsible for the strategic direction
of the Bank, maintaiming an appropriate organisalion
structure, approving major policies monitoring business
performance, operations and the integnty of internal
controls, nurturing proper and cthical behaviour, providing
appropriate oversight, and conducting corporate gov ernance
m a transparent manner

The Board performs its responsibilities as a supervisory
board while delegaung to the Bank’s Management the
responsibtlity for the management of the Bank within
policies, gurdelines and parameters set by the Board

In fulfillment of the requirements of the corporate
governance rules of the CBB Letters of Appoimtment are
1ssued by the Chairman to all the Directors
« First remmding them that Directors are responsible for

contnbuting to the oversight of the Bank’s affairs with

professionalism and integrity with the aim of achieving
the strategic and financial objectines adopted by the

Board,

* Second, poinung out that a key responsibility of
the Board 1s to fill the gap between stakeholders
{sharehaolders creditors, employees, cuslomers, etc ) to
whom the Board owes a duty of care, and executine
management, by monitoring management closely on
behalf of stakeholders, and

» Third, drawing attenuon to the fact that a detaled
description of Directors’ responsibiliiesis outlined in the
Mandate of the Board and i the Mandate of Dsrectors
as adopted by the Board and that these responsibilities
are 1o be carried out 1n line with the standards of the

Code of Conduct adopted by the Board

74 GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK

In preparztion for Board and Commuttee meetings, the
Directors recerve 1n a umely manner regular reports and all
other information required for such meetings, supplemented
by any addiuonal information specifically requested by the
Directors from time to tme lhe Directors also receive
monthly financial reports and other regular management
reports that enable them to evaluate the Bank’s and
management’s performance against agreed objectives As
prescribed in the Bank’s Articles of Association, the Board
plans at least four meeungs per year with further meetings
1o oceur at the discretion of the Board

In 2008, the Board met ten times, the Audit Commutiee
met five times, the Risk Policy Commuttee met five times,
and the Human Resources & Compensation Commitiee
met twice

The details of Committee memberstip and Directors’

attendance are set out in the table on page 25

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Commuttees of the Board of Directors denve their

authorities and powers from the Board

The Audit Comnusttee

The mandate of the Audit Commuitee requires 11 10

«  Agsist the Board in fulfilling its stantory and fiduciary
responsibilities with respect tointernal controls, accountimg
policies, audiung and financial reporting practices

»  Assist the Board n its oversight of (1) the mtegnty and
reporung of the Bank’s quarterly and annual financral
statements, (1) compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and (1) the ndependence and performance
of the Bank s internal and external audiiors

+ Review the activities and performance of the internal

audit function

The mandate of the Audit Commtice provides further
particulars on financial reporting processes, process
improvements, as well as additional ethical and legal
compliance overview respensibilities

The Group Chief Auditor reports functionally to the

Audit Commutee and admrnistrauvely to the CEO




DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE DURING 2008

Board and Communiee meeungs attendance duning 2008

Human
Resources &
Board Members Board Audit Compensation Risk Policy | Executive**
meetings  Commuitee  Committee  Commuttee | Commttee
meetings meetings meehings meetings
H E. Mr Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Suhaimi - Chairman
(from May 2008)
(Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency ) 6 (6)
H E. Sheikh Ebratum bin Khalifa Al Khalifa
(Chairman unul 30t Apnil 2008)
(Minsiry of Finance, Bahram) 4(4) 6 (6)*
Mr Abdul Aziz M Al-Abdulkader - Vice Chairman
{Saudt Arabun Monewary Agency) 1010} 1(I)
Dr Harmad bin Sulaiman Al-Bazar
{Public Invesmment Fund, Saudt Arabia) 8(10) 5(5)y* 2(2)
Mr Saud bin Nassir Al-Shukaily
{Mimiry of Finance, Oman) 8(10) 5(5) 2(4)
Mr Khalid bin Abdulla Al-Sowaids
(Qatar Imestment Authorm, Qarar) 13 (10) 2(2) 5(5)
Mr Nasser Khamis Al-Suwaidi
{(Mimsiry of Finance, UAE) 10 {10) 3(3) 2
Dr Khalid Abdulla Al-Sweilem
{Saudr Arabian Monelan Ageney) 13£10) 5(5) 1(2) 5(5)* LX)
H E. Dr Abdul Rahman bin Ahmed Al-Jafary
{Saud: Arabian Monetary Agency) 10 (1) 2(2) 35
Mr Ahmed Tahous Al-Rashed Al-Tahous
{Kwwant Imvestment Authority, Kunait) 9 (10} 4(5) 4 (5} 9(9)
Mr Khalll Ebrahum Nooruddin
(Bahram Mumialakar Holding Co , Bahramn) 1(1) 1(D
Note Mr Nooruddin joined as Board member on
26th November 2008.

* Commuttee Chairman

Figure in brackets indicate maximum number of meetings during the pertod of membership

** Executive Commuttee A special executine committee of the Board composed of three Directors (mentioned
under the Executive Commuttee column wn the above chart) with Dr Khaled Al-Fayez CEQ and Mr Matthew Snyder,
Managing Director, met mne umes 1n 2008 to review the yimpact on the Bank of the sub-pnime mortgage crisis and
the global financial downturn and to examine the report of spectal consultants engaged to assist in the formulation
of the strategy to be adopted by the Bank, with a view 1o recommend appropriate action 1o the Board The Executne

Commuttee was disbanded i July 2008 as the full Board took over the Commuitee’s work
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Corporate Governance {continued)

The Human Resources & Compensatnion Committee

The mandate of the Human Resources & Compensation

Commuttee requires 1t to

¢ Assist the Board n fulfilling uts responsibilities for the
Bank s human resources and remuneration policies

¢ Review the Bank’s human resources and compensation
policy proposals, and make the necessary
recommendations in that regard for approval by the
Board

« Ensure that the Bank s remuncration levels remain
competitive for the Bank to continue io attract, retam
and molvate competent stalf to achieve the strategy
and objectives of the Bank

+« Monitor the overall cost of remuneration structures of
the Bank

+ Ensure that effecuve management systems are 1n place
to monitor and evaluate the performance of staff

*  Review the Bank'ssuccessionplan report forsubmission

to the regulators

The Risk Policy Commuttee

The mandate of the Risk Policy Commutiee requires it to

+  Assstthe Board in fulfilling its ov ersight responsibilinies
with respect to setung the Bank s overall nsk appeute,
parameters and Limits within which 1t conducts 1s
activities

« Ensure that the Bank has an effective sk management
framework i place and that all nsk controls
operating throughout the Bank are in accordance with
regulatory requirements and best practice standards for
management of risks i banks

» Ensure that realistic policies in respect of management
of all sigmficant nsks are drafted and approved
appropnately

* Review the Bank's nsk profile and sigmificant nsk
posiions

¢  Approve with management the overall credut nish policy
Timuts

+ Receive, review, challenge and recommend for

approval by the fult Board, any proposed amendments

to the overall nisk appetite for the Bank
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« Ensure that roles and responsibilites for nsk
management are clearly defined, and that they reman
independent of business development

« Ensure that ona umely basis, management informs the
Commuttee of all ssgmficant nsk ansing and that 11 1s
comfortable with management’s responses and action
taken to address such findings

» Ensure that management reports sigmficant excesses and
exceptions as and when they anse, to the Commitice
for information and review

« Monitor whether management mamntams a culture
that rewards the recogmition, communication and

management of risks

MANAGEMENT

The Sentor Management team, which 1s responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Bank entrusied to 1t
by the Board 15 headed by the Chief Executive Officer,
who is assisted by the Chief Operating Officer, the Chief
Financial Officer, the Chief Investment & Treasury Officer,
the Managing Pirector - Rish Management, the Managing
Director - Merchant Banking, and the Managing Director -
Operations & Admimstrauen Their biographies are set out
on page 114 of this Annual Report [t was announced on Ist
December 2008 that the Chuef Executive Officer, Dr Khaled
Al-Fayez, would retire at the end of December 2008 afier
workmg for more than 35 years in the banking tndusiry

and that Dr Yalya Ahalna weuld become the new Chief
Execuiwve Officer of GIB on I8! January 2009

S1x commutices assist the Chief Executive Officer in
the management of the Bank
+  Management Commitlee
«  Group Rish Commtice
+ Assels and Liabshues Committee (ALCO)
« Human Resources Commuitiee
« Information Technology Steening Committee
« Information Secunty Management Commutiee

These committees derive therr authorities from the




Chief Execuuine Officer based on the authorties and limits

delegated by the Board of Directors
In fulfilling its pnncipal respoasibility for the day-to-day

management of the Bank, the Semor Management team 1s

required to 1mplement Board-approved polictes and effective

controls, within the strategy and objectives set by the Board
Letters of Appointment are also issued by the Charrman

10 members of the Semor Management 1eam setting out

their specific responsibilines and accountabilities  that

mclude assisting with and contnbuting to the following

¢« Formulation of the Bank’s strategic objectines and
direction

+  Formulation of the Bank s annual budget and business
plan

+ Ensuring that high-level policies are 1n place for all
areas and that such policies are fully applied

+ Setting and managing risk/return targets 1n line with the
Bank’s overall nisk appetite

« Determimng the Bank’s overall nisk based performance
measurement standards

¢ Reviewing business units” performance and imitiating
appropriate action

+ Ensuning that the Bank operates to the highest ethical
standards, and complies with both the letter and spinit of
the law, apphicable regulations and codes of conduct

+ Ensuning that the Bank 1s an exemplar of good business

practice and customer service

Their attention 1s also drawn to the fact that these obligations
are 1n addition 1o their specific functional responsibilines
and objectives, and those set out 1n the Bank’s Corporate

Policy Manuatl

STAFF COMPENSATION
In line with industry best practice and in consultation with
cxternal independent remuneration consultants, GIB has
established a comprehensive staff compensaton policy
based on total compensation

I'he scheme consists of the following for all staff except
the CEO
s A fixed component representing basic pay, allowances

and benefits, that are reviewed and compared annually

with market levels, based on an independent market

survey and adjusted as appropnate

¢« A varable component representing a performance-
related award linked to the performance of the Bank,
the contribution of the relevant unit and the individual’s
personal performance T he scheme 1s based on defined
quantitative as well as qualitaive measures

+ Based on established cnitena, the performance bonus of
the Managing Directors are recommended by the CEOQ
for review and endorsement by the Board’s Human
Resources and Compensation Comnuttee, subject to
Board approval

+ Annually the Human Resources and Compensation
Committee reviews Management proposals with regard
to long term retention incentrves and makes necessary

recommendations for Board approval

CEO COMPENSATION

¢« The CEO 1s appointed by the Board of Directors for
a term of 3 years Renewal 1s considered prior to the
expiration of each term

* The fixed compensation components are ncgotiated
and determined at ume of renewal, with the assistance
and put from independent external compensation
evaluation experts

+« The performance bonus of the CEO 1s recommended
by the Board s Human Resources and Compensation
Committec and approved by the Board based on
the established scheme mechanism approved by the

Board

BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMPENSATION
To assist with establishing the appropriate structure and
level of compensauon, mdependent external consultants
are mvolved to advise on market practice and provide
suggestions Generally, the compensauon 1s hnked to
actual attendance of meetings

The structure and level of the compensation for the
members of the Beard of Directors are approved by the

AGM and consist of the following
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+ Atiendance fees payable to members atiending different
Board-related Commiutee meetings

+ Allowance to cover travelling and lodging while
autending Board-related Committec meetings

» A pre-defined fixed amount representing an annual

rernunerauon fee

STRATEGY & OBJECTIVES
After having conducted a thorough analysis of 1ts operations
in the context of the regional and global industry 1n 2002,
the Bank implemented improvements to 11s governance
structure, orgamisauonal structure, business model and
performance framework, and started to put into effect 1ts
new objective, best summarised as follows to become the
GCC merchant bank of chorce, with market leadership in a
diversified porifolio of activities

Within that objecuve, every year the Board of Directors
reassesses and approves a detailed sirategic plan that covers
the planned acuvities of the Bank for the next three years,
in hight of changing global and regional market condittons
Given the current financial crisis, the Board is in the process

of conducting this reassessment of strategy and objecuves

COMPLIANCE
The Board has adopted a Comphance framework that
reflects the principles for promoting sound compliance
practices at GIB, which demonsirates the Bank’s adherence
to applicable legal and regulatory requirements and 1o
high professional standards The role of the Compliance
function 1s to assist semor management 1o ensure that the
activiues of GIB and its staff’ are conducted 1n conformity
with applicable laws and regulations, and gencrally with
sound practices pertinent to those activiies The Head of
Compliance (Bahrain), who reports directly to the Chief
Executive Officer, also has access to the Board of Directors
through the Audit Commiuee, if required

In ensurng that the tone emanates from the top, the
Chiefl Executive Officer 1ssues a yearly message (o all of
GIB reminding everyone of the importance of complying

withall laws and regulations applicable to GIB’s operanons,
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and good comphance behaviour 1s rewarded by making ita

mandatory measurement item 1n staff evaluations

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
The Bank s current antu-money laundenng and combaung
the financing of terronsm (AML/CF1} procedures and
guidelines conform to the legal and regulatory requirements
of the Kingdom of Bahrain These legal and regulatery
requirements largely reflect the FATF recommendauons
on Money Laundenng and special recommendations on
lerronist Financing

The G1B AML/CFT procedures and guidelines apply toall
of the Bank’s offices, branches and subsidianes (collecuvely
“GIB enuties™), wherever located In addition, the GIB
entities located outside Bahran are subject to the laws and
requirements of the jurisdicuons where they operate, and 1f
local standards differ the higher standards should apply

Systems are 1n place to ensure that business relationships
are commenced with clients whose 1dentity and activities
can reasonably be established to be legitimate 1o collect
and rtecord all relevant client mformation, to monitor
and report suspicious iransacttons, to provide periodic
AML/CFT tramming to employces and to review with
enternal auditors the effectiveness of the AML/CFT
procedures and controls The GIB AML/CF1 procedures
prohibit dealing with shell banks

A proacuive structure of officers 1s 1n place to ensure
group-wide compliance with AML/CFT  procedures,
and the timely update of the same to reflect the changes
in regulatory requirements This structure consists of
the Head of Compliance (Bahrain) and Group Money
Laundering Reporung Officer, MLROs, Deputy MLROs

and Compliance Officers

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

The Bank has in place a Corporate Communications
policy 1n line with the requirements of the Central Bank of
Bahrain, to ensure that the disclosures made by the Bank are
farr, transparent, comprehensive and umely, and reflect the

character of the Bank and the nature, complexity and nsks




mherent 1 1ts business activities Mam communication
channels include an Annual Report, corporate brochure,
newsletter, and announcements 1n the appropriate media
This transparency 15 also reflected 1n the Bank’s
website (www gibonlme com) that provides substantial
information on the Bank, including us profile and
milestones, statements on Its vision, mission, strategy and
objectives, 1ts Code of Conduct, 1ts press releases, as well

as 1ts financial statements

DISCLOSURES
The Bank’s website also provides the Bank's Annual Reports,
and all the information contained 1n these reports 1s therefore
accessible globally That information includes management
discussion on the business activities of the Bank, as well as
discusston and analysis of the financial statements and nisk
management The financial information reflects the latest
international accounting standards requirements, including
the increased level of disclosure resulting from the adoption
of IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments Disclosures, such as the
disclosures on related party transactions in note 35 to the
conschdated financial statements

As mentioned earlier, 1n 2008 the Board has also adopted
a Disclosure Policy 1n accordance with the requirements of
Basel 2 Pillar 3 The objecuve of that Policy 1s 1o ensure
transparency 1n the disclosure of the financial and nisk

profiles of the Bank to all interested parties

CODE OF CONDUCT
Finally, the Bank’s website also contamns the Code of
Conduct that was approved by the Board, with rules on
conduct, ethics and on avaiding conflicts of interest,
applicable to all the employees and Directors of the Bank
The Code of Conduct 1s designed to gwde all
employees and Directors through best practices to fulfill
therr responsibilittes and obligations towards the Bank’s
stakeholders 1n compliance with all apphcable laws and
regulations
The Code addresses such tssues as upholding the

law and following best practices acting responsibly

honestly, fairly and ethucally, avording conflicts of nterest,

protecting Bank property and data protecting client
confidential imformation and safeguarding the information
of others, complying with nside information rules and
with the prohibition on nsider trading, preventing money
laundering and terronism financing, rejecting bribery and
corruption avoirding compronusing gifts speaking up and
whistle-blowing

Members of staff can also access the Code of Conduct
on the GIB 1niranet, where 1t 15 available i both Enghsh

and Arabic
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This is shown in the fine, yet intricate detail of the arabesque.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Gulf Intemational Bank B S C (“the Bank”) and
its subsidianies (together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st December 2008, and
the consolidated statements of income, cash flows and the changes in equity for the year then ended, and o summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes

Responsibility of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Infernational Financial Reporting Standards This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining mntemal control relevant to the preparaton and fair presentation of the consohdoted financial statements
that are free from matenial misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and epplying appropniate accounting
policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these consohidated financial statements based on our audit We conducted
our audst in accordance with International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consoﬁ:dafed finanaial
statements are free of material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consoldated
financial statements The procedures selected depend on our judgment, induding the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the ¢ idated finoncial statements, whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal contro! relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the con:caidufed financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropniate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressin
an optrion on the effechiveness of the entity’s infernal confrol An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 3
accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estmates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financiol statements

We beheve that the audit evidence we have cbtained is sufficient and appropniate fo provide a basis for our audit
opinion

Opinion

In our opnion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, i all matenal respects, the financial posttion of
the Group as at 315t December 2008, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Internahonal Financial Reporhing Standards

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

tn addition, in our opinion, the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements
are in agreement therewith We have reviewed the accompanying Chairman's Statement and confirm that the information
contained therein is consistent with the consolidated financial statements We are not aware of any wiolations of the
Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001, the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financia! Inshiuhions Law 2006, terms of the
Bank's licence or its memorandum and articles of association having occurred during the year ended 315! December 2008
that might have had o matenal effect on the business of the Bank or on s financial position Safisfactory explonations and
information have been provided fo us by the management in response to all our requests

=
KPMG
Public Accountants

Manoma, Kingdom of Bahrain
5th March 2009
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At311208 At31 1207

Note USs$ millions USS millions
Assets
Cash and other hquid assets 5 3030 5327
Due from brokers - 2433
Placements with banks é 4,037 4 56291
Due from shareholders 7 48320 .
Trading securhes 8 2071 1,342 6
Investment securihes % 22205 8,0707
Loans and advances 10 129721 12,601 8
Cther assets 11 4614 15338
Total assets 25,0335 29,9540
Liabilihes
Deposits from banks 13 3,385.9 59707
Deposits from customers 13 15,009.1 13,6740
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 14 1,244.8 41415
Securihes sold but not yet purchased - 2332
Cther habilites 15 486.7 5115
Senior term financing 16 2,431.5 2,657 8
Subordinated term financing 17 5500 5500
Total liabilihes 231080 277387
Equiy
Share capital 18 2,500.0 1,5000
Proposed increase in share caplrcﬂ 18 - 1,0000
Share premiwsm 7.6 76
Reserves 19 216.0 109 &6
Retained ecrnings {798 1) {4019}
Total equiy 1,925.5 22153
Total iabilihes & equity 25,033 5 29,954 0

The consolidated knancial statements were approved by the Board of Directars an 58 March 2009 and signed on their behalf by -

Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Suhgim: Yahya bin Abdulich Alyahya
Chairman Chief Execuhve Officer

The notes on pages 37 to 80 form port of these consolidated hnancial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Income

Note
Interest iIncome 21
Interest expense 21
Net mterest mcome
Fee and comrmussion income 22
Net trading loss 23
Prohits on investment securthes
Cther income 24
Total income
Statf expenses
Premises expenses
Other operahng expenses
Total operating expenses
Net income before provisions and tax
Previsions for investment securihies 9
Provisions for loans and advances 10
Net loss before lax
Taxahon [charge) / credit on overseas actvihies
Net loss
Earnings per share 37

Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Suhaimi
Chairman

The notes on pages 37 Io 80 form part of these consolidated Fnancial statements
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Year ended Year ended
31.1208 311207
Us$ millions _ US$ milhons

1,222.0 1,5127

o %7 . 271

2883 3056

733 881

(86 7) (86 6)

394 296
.84 57,

3227 342 4

950 983

104 111

.. %S5 ... _ 38
AL A _ 1412

179 8 201 2

{365 1) {965 7}
ern o 8%,
(387 0) {757 6)

ey 03
(396.2) {757 3)
__lusso 16 __lusso 55)

Yahya bin Abdullah Alychya
Chief Executive Officer




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Operabmg achvities

Net loss after tax

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash inflow from operating achivibies
Provisions for investment securities
Provisions for loans and advances
Prohts on investment securthes
Amorhsahion of investment securihes
Decrease / (increase} in accrued interest receivable
{Decrease] / increase in accrued interest payable
Decrease / [increase) in other net assets
Net decrease :n trading secunhes

Net cash inflow from operahng achvities
Inveshng activihes

Net decrease in due from brokers
Net decrease / {increase) in placements with banks
Increase in due from sharcholders
Net increase in loans and advances
Purchase of investment securities
Sale and maturity of investment securihes
Net cash mflow / {outffow) from inveshng achvifies
Financing achvihes
Net {decrease) / increase in deposits from bonks
Net increase in deposits from customers
Net [decrease) / increase in secunes sold under agreements to repurchase
Net decrease in securihes sold but not yet purchased
Net (decrease} / increase in senior term financing
Increase in share capito!
Drvidends paid
Net cash {outflow] / inflow from finanang actvaties

[Decrease} / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 15t January

Cash and cash equivalents at 315t December

Fhe notes on pages 37 to BO form part of these consolidated hnanciol statements

Year ended Year ended
311208 311207
U535 millions Uss millions
(396 2) {757 3}
3651 2657
20017 (69)
(39 4) (29 6)
0.7 26
109.7 {6 4)
77.2) 353
36.7 (127 6)
s a5
13366 293
2433 707 6
1,591 6 {1,306 &)
(4,832 0) -
{572.0) {4,449 9}
{662.4) {2,653 8B)
60713 18154
20398 {5,887 3)
{2,584 9} 2668
1,3350 2,5103
(2,896 7) 1,921 9
{233 2) {629 5)
{226.3) 7907
1,000.0 5000
- (127 7)
3,606 1) 52325
(229 7) 2645
5327 268 2
3030 5327

(8]
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Proposed
Share Increase n Share Retained
capital share capital premium Reserves earnings Total

USSmillions  US$ millions _Us$ millons  USS mifhions UsS$ milhons 1 US5 millions

At 15t January 2007 1,000.0 - 7.6 3659 483 1 1,856 6
Arnising n the year -
- Available-for-sale securities
net fair value losses - - - (248 8) - {248 8)
- Cash flow hedges
net fair volue gains - - - 13 - 13
Transfers in the year -

- Translers to statement of income T |- 1. H 188}
Net losses recogmised directly n equity - - - (256 3} - {256 3)
Net loss for the year et {7573} {7573)
Total recogmised expense for the year - - (256 3) {7573} (1,013 4)
Increase in share capital 5000 1,0000 - - - 1,500 0
Dwidend for 2006 - - s _zz7) 0277
At 315t December 2007 15000 10000 76 1096 _(4019) 22153
Ansing in the year - i h

- Available-for-sale securihes

net fair value gains - - - 82 - 82

- Cash Row hedges

net fair value gans - - - 105 . 105
Transfers in the year -

- Transkers to statement of income N - A 877
Net gains recognised directly in equity - - - 105 4 - 106 4
Net loss for the year e (3962) (3962}
Total recognised income /

{expense) for the year - - - 106 4 (396 2} (289 8)
Transfer to share capital 10000 (1LO00O) v e Tl
At 315f December 2008 2,5000 - 7.6 2160 (798 1) 1,9255

The notes on pages 37 to B0 form part of these consolidated Ainancicl statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 315! December 2008

1. INCORPORATION AND REGISTRATION

The parent company of the Group {the Group), Gulf Intemational Bank B S C (the Bank), 15 o Bahraimi Shareholding Company
incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain by Amiri Decree Law No 30 doted 24th November 1975 and 1s registered as a cenvenhonal
wholesale bank with the Central Bank of Bahrain The regsstered office of the Bank 1s located ot Al-Dowalt Building, 3 Palace Avenue,
Manama, Kingdem of Bahram

The Group s principdlly engaged in the provision of wholesale commercial and investment banking services The Group operates
through subsidiaries, branch offices and representative offices located 1n six countries worldwide The total number of staff employed
by the Graup at the end of the financidl year was 561

2. ACCOUNTING POLUCIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consohidated hnanaal statements are set out below -

21

22

23

Basis of preparahion

The consohdated financial statements have been prepared n accordance with Internationaf Financial Reporting Standards and
in conformity with the Bahrain Commercial Compames taw and the Central Bank of Bohrain and Financial Inshtuhons Lew
The consohdated financial statements have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention as modified by the revaluahon
of Ircdmg secunihes, available-for-sale secunhes, securifies sold but not yet purchcsed, and dervative inancial instruments as
explamned m more detanl in the following accounting policies Recognised assets and habilines that are hedged by dervative
finanaal instruments are also stated at fair value in respedt of the nisk that 1s being hedged The accounting pelicies have been
consistently applied by the Bank and its subsidiaries and are consistent with those of the previous year, except as noted below

In October 2008, the Internahional Accounting Standards Board (IASB} amended IAS 39 - Financial Instruments Recognition
and Measurement fo permit the reclassifhcation of certain non-derivative knancial assets in order to ensure consistency with US
GAAP The amendments were made in response to requests by regulators to enable banks to measure non-denvative financial
assets which are no longer traded in an active market at amortised cost

The amendments to 1AS 39 permit the reclassification of non-derivative financic! assets from held-for-trading to available-
for-sale where the financial asset 1s no longer held for the purpose of sale in the near term  Such reclassifications are only
permitted 1n rare circumstonces Rare circumstances are considered to anse from a single event that 1s unusual and highly
unlikely to recur in the near term

The omendment to 1AS 39 in respect of the reclassthcation of rading securihes that are no longer held for the purpose of sale
in the near term was adopted with effect from 15t October 2008

An amendment to Internatonal Finanaial Reparting Standard (IFRS) 7 - Financial Instruments Disclosures intraduced additional
disclosure requirements for financial assets that are reclassified in accordance with the amendments to 1AS 39 The relevant
disclosures are set out in note 9 te the consolidated hnancial statements

Consoldation pnnciples

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Gulf Internahonal Bank B S C and its subsicharies Subsichary
vndertakings are companies and other entihes, including special purpose enhhes, i which the Bank holds, directly or
indirectly, more than one half of the voting rights, or otherwise has the power to exerase effective control over the finanaial
and operating policies of the enhity Al intercompany balances and transactions, induding unrealised gains and losses on
transachons between Group companies, have been ehminated

Foreign currencies

ltiems included in the hnancial statements of the Bank ond its pnnmpal subsidiaries are measured based on the currency of the
primary environment in which the entity operotes {the funchonal currency} The consolidated finanaial statements are presenied
in US Dollars, representing the Bank's funchonal and presentation currency Transachons in foreign currencies are converted
1o US Dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the transachon Monetary assets and habilihes denominated in
Forelgn currencies are translated into US Dollors at market rotes of exchange prevalhng at the balance sheet dote Realised
and unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses are included in trading income
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

2 ACCOUNTING POLCIES {confinued)

2.4 Financial assets and hobilities

al

b)

Finanaal ossets and labilihes comprise all assets and labilites reflected on the halance sheet, atthough excluding investrents
in subsidiaries, associated campantes and jomnt ventures, employee benefit plans, property and equipment, deferred faxation
and taxahon payable

Inihal recognition and measurement

financial assets are classified af incephon into one of the following three categories -
* held-for-trading

» loans and receivables

« avallable-for-sale secunihes

Financial assefs are infiially recogmsed at foir value, ncluding transaction costs that are directly atinbutable to the acquisition
of the financial asset

Financial hobilihies are initially recogrised ot fair value, representing the proceeds receved net of premiums, discounts and
transaction costs that are directly atinibutable 1o the inancial liability

Alf regular way purchases and sales of financiat assets and liabilihes held-for-trading are recognmised on the trade dote, 1 &
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the inancial asset or fiabihty All regular way purchases and sales of
other financial assets and labilihes are recognised on the setlement date, 1 & the date on which the asset or Liability 15 recerved
from or delivered to the counterparty Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery within the ime frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent o inthal measurement, financicl assets and hobilihes ore measured at enther fair value or amort sed cost, depending
on their classification -

Held-for-trading
Held-for-trading financial assets and habilies are ossets or habilities acquired or incurred for the purpose of generating o
profit from short-term fluctvahons in price or are included 1n @ portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit taking exists

Held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities are measured at forr value The fair volue for financial assets and habilihes
traded in active markets 1s based on quoted prices, mcluding quotations obtaned from lead managers, brokers and dealers
The bid price ts used to measure financiol ossets and the offer price 15 used to measure finanac! liabilies Mid-market
prices are used to measure fair value only to the extent that the Group has financial assets and habilities with offsethng risk
positions

For all other held-for-irading financicl assets and liabilihes not traded i an achve markel, fair volue 1s determined using
appropnate valuahon techmques Valuahon techniques include companison to similar instruments for which there are
ohservable prices, discounted cash flow techriques, and ophon pricing models

Realised and unreclised gains and losses, interest earned or incurred, and dividends recaved on held-for-rading financial
assets and habilihes are included in trading income

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 1n an actve
market, other than those classified as held-for-trading The majenty of the Group's loans and recevables are icluded 1n the
loans and odvances balance sheet category

Financial assets classified as loans and recevables are stated ot amorhsed cost using the effechve interest rate method as
described n note 2 7(a), less provision for impairment, with nterest revenue recogmised in the consohidated statement of
income
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES {conhnued)

2.4 Financial assets and licbilities {contnued)

q

25

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale inancial assets are assets which are intended to be held for an indehmite period of hme and may be sold
in response to needs for hquidity, changes in interest rates or concerns with respect to credit detenoration Available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at fair value The fair value for ovailable-for-sale financial assets in active markets 15 bosed
on quoted prices, including quotahons obiained from lead managers, brokers and dedlers The fair value for avarlable-for-
sale hinanaicl assets in inachive markets 15 determined using appropriate valuchon techniques Valuahon 1echmques include
comparison to similar nstruments for which there are observable prices, and discounted cash flow techmques Unquoted and
iliquid equity investments for which fair values cannot be rehably measured are stated ot cost less provision for impasrment

Unrealised gains and losses ansing from changes i the fair values of avallable-for-sale financial assets are recognised in a
separate revaluation reserve in equity The cumulative fair value adjustments on avallable-for-sale financial ossets which are
sold or otherwise disposed or become impaired, and which bad previously been recogmsed in equity are transferred to the
consolidated statement of mcome

Non-trading financial habilties
All financial liabilities, other than those designated as held-for-trading, are dassified as non-trading financial habilihes and
are measured at amornsed cost using the effechive interest rate method as described in note 2 7(a)

Derecogniton of hnancial assets and liabilihes

Financial assets are derecognised and removed from the consohdated balance shest when the nght to receve cash flows
from the assets has expired, the Group has ransferred its contractual right to receive the cash Aows from the assets, and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or where control 15 not refained Financial habilihes are derecognised and
removed from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligahon 15 discharged, cancelled, or expires

impairment of financial assets

A provision for impairment 1s established where there 1s objective evidence that the Group will net collect oll amounts due,
mcluding both principal and interest, in accordance with the contractual terms of the credit faality Objective evidence that o
financial asset 1s impaired may include a breach of contract, such as defoult or delinquency in interest ar pnncipa! payments,
the granhng of a concession, for ecanomic or legal reasons relating to the barrower's finoncial difficulhes, that would not
otherwise be considered, indications that 1t 15 probub|e that the borrower wilt enfer bankruptcy or other inanaial reorgamisation,
the disappearance of an active market, or other observable data relating 1o a group of assets such as adverse changes in the
payment status of borrowers or 1ssuers in the group, or economic conditions that carrelate with defaults in the group For equily
secunities dassified as avarlable-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost 1s considered in defermining
whether a security 15 impaired Where such evidence esasts, the cumulative net loss that has been previcusly recognised directly
tn equity 15 removed from equity and recognised in the consohdated statement of income The amount of the cumulative loss theit
15 removed from equity and recogrised in the consolidated statement of income is the difference between the acquisikon cost
and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that secunty previcusly recognised in the consoldated statement of income

The provision for impairment 1s determuined based on the difference between the net carrying amount and the recoverable
amount of the financial asset The recoverable amount 15 measured as the present value of expected future cash flows, including
amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate ot the incephon of the credit facilty
or, for debt instruments remeasured to fair value, at the current market rate of interest for @ similar inanceal asset

Provisions for impairment are also measured and recogmised on a collective basis in respect of imparments that exst at the
balance sheet dote but which will only be indvidudlly 1dentified 1n the Reure Future cash flows for financial ossets that are
collectively assessed for impairment are eshmated based on contractual cash flows and historical loss expersences for assets with
similar eredit nsk charactenshcs Histoneal loss expenence 1s adjusted, based on current observable data, to reflect the effects
of current condihons that did not affect the peniod on which the historical loss expenence 15 based

Provisions for impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income and are reflected in an dllowance account
agonst loans and advances and investment securihes
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

2.5

26

27

a)

b)

q)

<}

Impairment of financial assets {conhnued)
Financial assets are written off after ofl restructuring and collechion activihes have taken place and the possibility of further
recovery 15 considered to be remote Subsequen recoveries ore included in other income

With the exception of provisions for the impairment of avallable-for-sale equity instruments, provisions for impairment are
released and transferred fo the consaliduted statement of incame where a subsequent increase i the recoverable amount 1s
related objechvely to an event occurring after the prowision for impairment was established Impairment losses for available-
for-sale equity mstruments are only released and transferred fo the consclidated statement of income on the redempton or sale
of the instrument

Financial assets which have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due and are replaced on performing status
when all prncipal and interest payments are up o date and future payments are reasonably assured Financiol assets subject
to indvidual impairment assessment and whose terms have been renegohated, are subject to ongoing review to determine
whether they remain impaired or should be considered past due

Offsetting financial assets and habilites

Finanaial assets and financial ligbilines are only offset and the net amount reported 1n the consalidated balance sheet when
there 15 @ legally enforceable right to set cff the recognised amounts and there 1s an ifention to seitle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and setfle the lability ssmultaneously

Revenue recognihon

Interest income and interest expense

Inferest income and inferest expense for dll interest-bearing financiol ossets and habilites except those classified as held-for-
trading are recogmised using the effective inferest rate method  The effectve inferest rafe method 15 method of calculahng the
amortised cost of & hnancial asset or liability and of oflocating the inferest income or inferest expense over the expected lfe of
the asset or hability The effecive interest rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts estimated Ruture cash flows through the expected
life of the hinancial asset or liabiity or, where appropniate, @ shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the inancial asset or
liability The applicahon of the effechve nferest rate method has the effect of recognising interest income and inferest expense
evenly in proporhon o the amount outstanding over the penod to maturity or repayment In calculating the effective interest rate,
cash flows are estimated taking into consideration all contractual terms of the financial asset or hability but excluding future credit
losses Fees, ncluding loan ongination fees and early redemphon fees, are included in the caleulation of the effective snferest rate
to the extent that they are considered to be an integrol part of the effechive interest rate

Interest income 15 suspended when etther interest or principal on ¢ credit kacility 15 overdue by more than 90 days whereupon
alt unpord and aecrued interest 1s reversed from income Inferest on non-accrual facifities 1s included 1n income only when
receved Credit facilihes are restored to accrual status only after all delinquent interest and principel payments have been
brought current and future payments are reasonably assured

Fees and commissions
Fees and commussions that are integrdl to the effective interest rate of o inancial asset or hability are included in the calculaton
of the effechve interest rate

Other fees and commissions are recogmised as the related services are performed or received, and are ncluded i fee and
commission Income

Net trading income

Trading income arises from earnings generafed from customer business and market making, and from changes in fair value
resulting from movements in inferest and exchange rates, equily prices and other market variables Changes in fair volue and
gains and losses ansing on the purchase and sale of net trading mstruments are included in net trading income, together with
the related interest :ncome, interest expense and dividend income
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2 ACCOUNTING POUCIES [continued)

27
d)

28

29

Revenue recognihon [continued}

Dwvidend income

Dividend income 1s recognised as follows

- dwidends from structured finance investments are recogmsed when recewved and ore included 1n interest income The
structured finance investments are in the form of capital notes

- dividends from equity instruments classihed as held-for-trading are recogmised when the nght to receive the dividend 15
established and are included in net trading income

- dividends from equity instruments dassified as availuble-for-sale are recognised when the night fo receive the dividend 15
established and are included in other income

- in the separate financial statements of the Bank, dwidends from substdiaries are recogmsed when received

Securities financing arrangements

Secunhes purchased under agreements to resell {reverse repurchase agreements) and securihes sold under agreements to
repurchase {repurchase agreements) are treated as collateralised lending and borrowing transachons and are recorded in the
consohidated balance sheet at the amounts the securihes were intially acquired or sold Interest earned on reverse repurchase
agreements and interest incurred on repurchase agreements are included in inferest income and interest expense respechvely
Secunihes purchased under agreements to resell are included in cash ond other hquid assets

Premises and equipment

Land 15 stated at cost Other premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation The residual velues and
useful lives of premises and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet date, and adjusted where appropriate Where the
carrying amount of premises or equipment 1S greater than the eshmated recoverable amount, the carrying amount 1s reduced
to the recoverable amount

Generally, costs associated with the maintenance of exishng computer software are recogrused as an expense when incurred
However, expenditure that enhances and extends the benefits of computer software programmes beyond ther ongmal
specficahons and hves 1s recognised as a capital improvement and copitchsed as part of the onginal cost of the software

2 10 Other provisions

Al

Other provisicns are recogmised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of rescurces embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a relioble
eshmate can be made of the amount of the obligahon

Derivahve financial instruments and hedge accounhing

Denvative inanaial instruments are contracts, the value of which 1s derived from one or more underlying financial instruments
or indices, and include futures, forwards, swaps and options 1n the inferest rate, foreign exchange, equity, credit and
commodity markets

Dervative financial instruments are recognised in the consolidated bolance sheet at foir value Fair values are denved from
prevailing market prices, discounted cosh Aow models or option pricing models as appropnicte In the consohdated balance
sheet, derivahive hinancial instruments with pasitive fair values [unreahised gains) are included in other assets and denvative
finanaial instruments with negative fair values {unrealised losses) are included in cther liabilitres

The changes i the fair values of denvative inancial instruments entered into for trading purposes or to hedge other trading
posihons are included in net frading iIncome

The recognition of changes in the fair volues of denvahve financial instruments entered nto for hedging purposes 1s
determined by the nature of the hedging relationship For the purposes of hedge accaunting, denvative finanaial instruments
are designated as a hedge of either [1} the foir value of a recogrised asset or habiliy {fair value hedge), or (1) the future cash
flows atinbutable to a recognised asset or hability or @ firm commstment {cash flow hedge)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315! December 2008

2 ACCOUNTING POLCIES (continued)

2.1

212

213

42

Derivahve financicl instruments and hedge accounting [conhnued)

The Group's criterio for a dervative financial nstrument to be accounted far as o hedge include -

- the hedging mstrument, the related hedged item, the nature of the nisk being hedged, and the risk management objectve
and stralegy must be formally documented at the inception of the hedge,

- it must be clearly demonsirated that the hedge 15 expected to be highly effechve In offsetting the changes i fair values or
cash Aows atinbutable to the hedged risk in the hedged item,

- the effectiveness of the hedge must be capable of being reliably meosured, and

- the hedge must be assessed on an ongoing basis and determined to have actually been highly effective throughout the
hnaneia! reporting peniod

Changes n the forr values of denvative inancial instruments that are designated, ond qualify, as feur value hedges and that
prove to be highly effective in relation fo the hedged nsk, are included 1n net trading income together with the corresponding
change in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that 1s atinbutable fo the risk that 15 being hedged Unrealised gains
and losses ansing on hedged assets or liabilihes which are atirbutable to the hedged nsk are adjusted aganst the carrying
amounts of the hedged assets or hiabihities in the consolidated balance sheet If the hedge no longer meets the cnterio for
hedge accounting, any adjustment to the carrying amount of o hedged interest-beaning finanaal instrument 1s amorhsed to
income over the remaining perlod to maturity

Changes in the fair values of denvative financial instruments that are designated, and qualify, as cash flow hedges ond that
prove to be highly effective in relahon to the hedged sk, are recognised in a separate component of equity Unrealised gains
or losses recognised in equity are transferred to the consohidated statement of income at the same time that the income or
expense of the corresponding hedged item 1s recognised in the consalidated statement of income and are included in the same
income or expense category as the hedged item Unrealised gains or losses on any ineffective porhon of cash flow hedging
fransachons are included in net trading (ncome

The interest component of dervatives that are designated, ond qualify, as fair value or cash flow hedges is included in interest
income or interest expense relating o the hedged item over the hfe of the dervative instrument

Hedge accounting 15 discontinued when the derivafive hedging instrument either expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised,
or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting

Some hybnd instruments contain both a denvative and non-dervative component  In such cases, the derivahve 1s categorised
as an embedded denvanve If the economic characterishes and risks of the embedded dervative are not closely related to
those of the host contract, and the averall contract itself 15 not carned at fair value, the embedded denvative 15 bifurcated and
measured at fair value 1F 1t 15 not prachcally possible to bifurcate the embedded dervahve, the entire hybrid instrument 15
categonsed as held-for-trading and measured at fair value Changes in fair value are included in net trading income

Financial guarantees A

Financiol guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specihed payments to remburse the holder for o loss it
incurs because a specific debtor fails to make payment when due in accerdance with the terms of a debt instrument Financial
guarantees are 1ssued to hinancial inshiuhons and other counterparhies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafis and
other banking facilities, and to other parties in relation to the performance of customers under obligations related to confracts,
advance payments made by other parhes, tenders and retenhons

Financial guarantees are mihally recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee 15 1ssued The guarantee liobikty 15
subsequently measured at the higher of the imhal measurement, less amartisation to recognise the fee income earmed over
the periad, and the present value of any expected finanaiat obhigation ansing as o result of an anhicipated non-recoverable
payment under a guarantee Any increase 1 o licbility relating fo guarantees 15 included in the prowvision charge in the
consalidated statement of income Financial guarantees are included in other habilihes

Post refirement benefits

The majonity of the Group's employees are ehigible for post renrement benefits under erther defined benefit or defined coninbution
pension plans which are provided through separate trustee-admimistered funds or insurance plans The Group also pays
contibutions fo Government defined contribution pension plans in accordance with the legal requirements in each locahen
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

213

2.14

a)

b

215

216

217

218

219

220

Post rehrement benefits [conhnued)
The Group's contributions to defined contribution pension plans are charged to incame in the year to which they relate

The penston costs for defined benefit pension plans are assessed using the projected urit credit method The cost of providing
pensions 15 charged to income so as fo spread the regular cost of pensions over the service lives of the employees,
accordance with the adwice of an independent qualified actuary who conducts a full valuation of the plan every three years
The pension cblhigation 1s measured as the present value of the estmated future cash flows using interest rotes of government
securthes which have terms to matunity approximating the terms of the related habilny

Actuarial gans and losses are recognised 1n income when the net cumulative unrecognised actuanial gan or loss at the end of
the previous financial year exceeds 10 per cent of the higher of (1) the fair value of the plan assets, and () the present value
of the fund obligahens That portion of the net cumulahve unrecogrised actuarial gamn or loss 1s recogmised in income over the
expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan Otherwise, the octuarial gain or loss 1s
not recognised

Toxation

Current tax
Current taxation 1s the expected tox payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at the balance sheet
date, and includes any adjustments to tox payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax

Deferred tox 1s provided, using the liability method, for temporary differences anising between the tax bases of essets and
liabilites and their carrying amounts for inancial reporting purposes A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that
it 15 probable that future taxable income will be available against which the unuhlised tax losses and credits can be utilised
Currenﬁy enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred taxes

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and other liquid ossets

Segment reporting

A segment s a distinguishable component of the Group that 1s engaged in prowiding preducts or services [business segment)
or 1n providing products or services within a particular economic environment [geographical segment), which 15 subject to
risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments Segments whose revenue, result or assets compnise 10 per
cent or more of the tofal for dll segments cre reported separately

Fiduciary activities

The Group administers and manages assets owned by clients which are not reflected in the consolidated finanaial statements
Asset manogement fees are earned for prowiding investment management services and for managing mutual fund products
Asset adminisirahion fees are earned for providing custodial services Fees are recogmised as the services are provided and
are ncluded 1 fee and commission income

Drndends
Dvidends on 1ssued shares are recogmised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Bank's
shareholders

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparahve hgures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year

Future accounting developments

The Internchonal Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have 1ssued a number of new standards, amendments to standards,
and mterpretations that are not yet effechve and have not been apphed in the preparahon of the consolidated hnanaial
statements for the year ended 315t December 2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

2. ACCOUNTING POUCIES kontinued)

2 20 Future accounting developments {conhnued)
The relevent new standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations, are as fellows -

IAS 1 - Presentohon of Financial Statements A revision to IAS 1 becomes effective for financial yeors beginning on or
after 15t January 2009 The adophion of this revision will result in changes in the presentation of the conschdated financial
statements and 1s not expected fo have any impact on the inanciol position of the Group

IFRS 8 - Operahng Segments IFRS 8 becomes effective for financial years beginming on or after 13t January 2009
This standard replaces 1AS 14 - Segment Reporting and prescribes disclosure requirements in relahon to the Group's
operating segments, products, services and geographical areas in which it operates The adophon of this standard 1s net
expected to have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements

IAS 39 - Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement - Ehgible Hedged Items The amendmentto IAS 39 becomes
effective, with refrospective appheotion, for inanaial years beginming on or after 15t January 2010 The amendment to
IAS 39 clonfies the application of exishing principles that determine whether spectfic nisks or portions of cash flows are
eligible for designation n a hedging relationship The odophon of this amendment 1s not expected to have ony materiol
impact on the consolidated hnancial statements

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparahon of the consolidated finanaial stetements requires management to make estmates and assumphons that affect the
reported amounts of certain financial assets, habilities, income and expenses

The use of eshmates and assumptions 15 principally imited fo the determination of provisions for impaiwrment, the valvation of
financial mstruments, and the valuaton of the Group's dehined benefit pension plan as explained in more detail below -

Provisions for impairment
Financial assets are evaluated for impairment on the basts set out in note 2 5

in determiming provistons for impairment, judgement 15 required in the eshmation of the amount and tming of future cash fows

In addihon to provisions for impairment against specific assets, the Group dlso maintains provisions that are measured end
recognised on a collective basis Key assumptions included in the measurement of the portfolio provisions include data on the
probability of default and the eventual recovery amount in the event of a forced sale or wnite off These assumphons are based
on ohserved historicel data and updated as considered appropnate to reflect current condihons The accuracy of the portfolio
provisions would therefore be affected by unexpected changes in these assumptions

Equity securities dassified as available-for-sale are considered to be impared when there has been a significant o prolonged
dechine in fair value below cost The determination of significant or prolonged requires judgement In making the judgement, a
number of factors are taken nto account including the normal volatility m valuahion, evidence of o detenoration n the hnanaia!
condihion of the investes, indusiry and sector performance, and operational and hnancing cash flows

Farr value of financial assets and liabihties

Where the fair value of hnancial assets and habiihes cannot be denved from active markets, they are determined using a vanety
of voluation techniques that include the use of mathemahcal models The input to these models 15 derived from abservable markets
where avallable, but where this 1s not Feasible, a degree of judgement is required 1n determining assumptions used in the models
Changes in assumptions used in the models could affect the reported fair value of hnancial assets and hobilihes

Retrement benefit cbligations

Management, in coordinahon with an independent qualified actuary, are required to make assumphions regording the defined
beneft pension plan, changes in which could affect the reported liability, service cost and expected return on pension plan assets
The principal actuarial assumptions For the defined beneht pension plan are set out in note 12 and indude assumphons on the
discount rate, expected return on pension plan assets, mortalty, future salary increases, and inflation Changes in the assumphons
could affect the reported asset, service cost and expected return on pension plan assets

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK




4 CLASSIFICATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The classificaton of assets and ligbilities by accounting categorisahon was as follows -

Financiol Non-
habahes financial
Held-to-  Loans ond Held-for-  Available- at amorhsed assets &
maturdy  recevables trading for-sale cost  lobiihes Total
US$ mdlions US$ milhons  US$ millions  USS mflions USS mullions  USS millions  US$ millions
At 315t December 2008
Cash and other iquid assets Lo 3020 - - - - 3030
Placements with banks 4,037 4 - - - - - 4,037.4
Due from shareholders - 48320 - - - - 4,832.0
Trading securihes - - 207 1 - - - 2071
Investment secuntes - - - 2,220 5 - - 2,220 5
Loans and advances - 12,9721 - . - - 12,9721
Other assefs - 3005 1167 - - 442 4561 4
Total assets 4,0384 1B,406 6 3238 22205 - 442 250335
Deposits from banks - - - - 33859 - 3,385¢9
Deposits from customers - - - . 15,009.1 . 15,009.1
Secunihes sold under agreements
to repurchase - - - - 1,244 8 - 1,244 8
Other habilihes - - 1589 - - 3278 4867
Senior term financing . - - 24315 - 24315
Subordinated term financing - - - 5500 - 5500
Equity - - - - - 19255 19255
Total habilities & equity - - 158 9 - 22,6213 2,2533 250335
At 315! December 2007
Cash and other liquid assets 3599 1728 - - 5327
Due from brokers - 2433 2433
Placements with banks 5,629 1 - - - 56291
Trading securihes - - 1,342 6 - - 1,342 6
Investment secunties - - - 80707 - 8,0707
Loans and advances - 12,578 6 232 - - 12,601 8
Other assets - 1,442 6 46 3 - 449 15338
Total assets 59890 14,4373 1,4121 8,0707 449 299540
Deposits from banks - - 559707 . 59707
Depoasits from customers - - 13,6740 13,6740
Securihes sold under agreements
to repurchase - - - 4,141 5 41415
Securities sold but not yet purchased - - 2332 - - 2332
Other habilibes - - 855 - 4260 5115
Senior term financing - - - 2,657 8 - 2,657 8
Subordinated term financing - - - 5500 - 5500
Equity - - - - 22153 2,2153
Total hiabilihes & equity - - 3187 26,9940 2,6413 299540

The held-for-trading category ncludes the fair valves of denvatives designated as fair value and cash flow hedges

The Group did not have any financial assets or financial habilines clossifted as fair value thraugh the statement of income, other
than those classified as held-for-trading, at either 315 December 2008 or 315! December 2007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

CASH AND OTHER LIQUID ASSETS
3112.08 311207
uUss millions Us$ millions
Cash and balances wath banks 3020 1728
Certhcates of deposit 1.0 186 2
Treasury bills - X A
3030 5327
PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS

Plocements with banks at 315t December 2008 induded placements with non-bank financial inshtuhens amounting to US$45 0
millon {2007 US$18 3 million)

DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS

Based on an agreement effective 315t December 2008, the Group sold, without recourse, a significant porhon of s mvestment
securities portfolio to Bank’s shareholders The securities were sold of their amorhsed cost less speafic provisians for impatrment as
at the effective date of the sale Accordingly, no prefit or loss was recorded on the transoction

The total amarhsed cost less specihic provisions for impairment of the sold securities at the effective date of sale on 315 December
2008, based on rates of exchange prevailing on that date, was U$$4,832 O million This wos net of specific provisions for impairment
of US§544 7 million As reported n note 9(b), the specific provisions reloting to the sold securties were wrilten off The setflement
date for the sale of the secunihies s 27th March 2009 The recervable due from shareholders in respect of the sale of the securihes
based on rates of exchange prevailing at 315t December 2008 1s separately disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet

The securthes sold to shareholders compnsed the Bank's entire exposure to collateralised debt obligations and other asset backed
secunhes other than those sold or maturing prior to the setfement date of the transaction, investments in non-GCC financial
inshituhon subordinated debt, and impaired hinancial nstitution senior debt Following the sale, the Group had no exposure, net of
specthe provisions, 1o collateralised debt obligahons or other asset backed secunhes

This transachion protects the Group from any future losses from these securihes, matenally densks and delevers the balance sheet,
recuces nsk-weighted assets thereby increasing the regulatory copital adequacy rato, and eliminates the funding risks of the assets

TRADING SECURITIES
311208 311207
Us$ midlions Us$ millions
Managed funds 2070 421 4
Equihes 0.1 200
Government bonds and bills - 278 2
Listed debt securities - 6230
207 1 1,342 6

Managed funds represent funds placed for nvestment with external specialist managers The funds provide a diversified exposure
to equity and internahional debt markets
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9.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

a) Composihon

The crednt rahing profile of available-for-sale secunties, based on the lowest rating assigned by the major international rating
agencies, was a5 follows -

31.12.08 311207
USS rullions % US$ milhons %
Non-impaired securihes
AAA o A- / Aaa to A3 1,6904 841 6,657 4 879
BBB+ to BBB- / Baal to Baa3 2564 127 7662 @
Other debt securihes 64.4 32 156 1 22
Total non-impaired debt securihes 20112 1000 7,579 7 1000
Equity mvestments 182.0 2186
Structured finance investments - BOO
Impaired secunhes 27 3 192 4
2,220 5 8,0707

Investment securihes ot 315t December 2008 principally comprised investment-grade rated debt securihes 1ssued by major
international financral instituhans and government-related entihes

At 315t December 2008, 84 1 per cent of non-impaired debt secunhes were rated A- / A3 or above (2007 87 9 per cent)
Details of impaired investment securihes are set out in note 9{c)

On 318 December 2008, a significant porhon of the Group's investment securihes portfolio was sold to shareholders of the
Bank The securities were sold at their amerhised cost less specihe provisions for impairment as at the effectve dete of sale
Accordingly, the sale of the securihes had no impact on the consolidated statement of income for the year ended 315! December
2008 The iransachion 1s descnbed in more detatl in note 7

At 15t October 2008, end 1n accordance with the amendments to 1AS 39 - Financial Instruments Recogrition and Measurement,
a number of externally managed funds that are no |onger held for the purpose of sale in the short lerm were reclassified from
held-for-trading to avarlable-for-sale Due to the adverse impact of the credit cnsis, which 15 considered to meet the 1A539
amendment dehnition of a rare event, the manoged funds are closed to redemphons for the foreseeable future The funds were
redassified at their net asset values on the date of transfer on 151 October 2008 The movements in the carrying amount of the
reclassified funds were as follows -

Carrying

amount
USS millions

At 18t October 2008 608
Provisions for imparwrment {37.7)
Net movement in fair value A2

At 315t December 2008 273

Subsequent to the date of transfer on 15t October 2008, no amounts were recognised in income, other than prowvisions for
impairment
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315! December 2008

POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Graup contnbutes to defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans which cover substantially all of its employees

The Bank marntains defined cantnbution pension plans for the majority of its employees Contributans are based on a percentage
of salary The amounts to be paid as retirement benefits are determined by reference to the amounts of the contributions and
investment earnings thereon The total cost of contributions te defined contribution pension plans for the yeor ended 315t December
2008 amounted to U556 3 million (2007 US$5 8 million)

The Bank’s principal subsidiary, Gulf International Bank (UK) bimited {GIBUK), maintains a defined beneht pansion plan for a
large number of its employees The assets of the plan are held independently of the subsidiary’s assets n a separate trustee
administered fund The pension costs are charged to ncome 56 as to spread the regular cost of the pensions over the service lives
of the employees, n accordance with the advice of an independent quolified actuary whe conduets a full valuation of the plan
every three years using the projected unit credit method  In the intervening years the calculation 1s updated based on information
receved from the actuary The latest full actuanal voluahon was carried out at 18t January 2007

o] The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is analysed as follows.-

311208 311207

USS millions US$ millions

Fair value of plan assets 175 169 9

Present value of fund obhigatons 105, 1625

Plan surplus 160 74

Unrecognised actuanal loss 02 72

Met asset in the consolidated balance sheet 16.2 146
b} The movements in the fair value of plan assets were as follows -

2008 2007

USsS midlions U5$ millions

At 18t January 14699 1325

Expected return on plan assefs 109 92

Contributions paid by the Group 29 235

Benehts paid by the plan 2.7) {2 3}

Actuanial (losses) / gains (19 3) 34

Exchange rate movements {44 2) 36

At 315t December 117 5 149 9

The plan assets at 315t December 2008 compnise equity and debt securities in the ratio of 23 per cent and 77 per cent
respechvely {2007 35 per cent and 65 per cent respechvely) Cash holdings within the plan assets are included in debt
secunthes

The expected and actual returns on the plan assets for the yecr ended 315t December 2008 were U5$10 9 million and
Us$(8 8) milhian respectively (2007 US$9 2 milhon and US$12 6 milhion respectively) The overall expected rate of return on
the plan asses is determined based on market prices, apphcable to the period over which the obligahon 1 to be setfled The
expected refurn 15 determined separately for equity and debt secunities

o= CULF INTERNATIONAL BANK
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12. POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS {continued}

<} The movements in the present value of fund obhigations were as follows -

2008 2007
Uss$ millions Us$ milkons
At 18t January 1625 1617
Current service cost 2.2 28
Interest cost 9.4 84
Actuanal gains (31.7 {1 5)
Benehts paid by the plan 2.7} {2 3)
Exchange rate movements (38.2) 34
At 315t December 101.5 162 5
d) The movements in the net asset recognised in the consohidated balance sheet were as follows -
2008 2007
US$ millions US$ mulhons
At 1%t January 146 (7 3)
Net expense included in staff expenses 09 (28]
Contribuhons paid by the Group 29 235
Exchange rate movements {0 4) 12
At 315t December 162 146
The Group paid US$2 9 million in contribubions to the plan duning 2008 and expects to pay US$1 7 millien duning 2009
€] The amounis recognised in the consolidated statement of income were os follows -
2008 2007
Us$ millions U5$ mithons
Current service cost 22 28
Interest cost 94 84
Expected return on plan assets (109 %22
Amorhsahon of actuarial loss 01 08
Losses on curtailments and setflements 01 -
Net expense ncluded n stalf expenses o9 28
fi The principal actuanial assumptions used for accounhng purposes were as follows:-
2008 2007
Discount rate 6 4% 58%
Expected return on plan assels - equities 8 0% 80%
Expected return on plan assets - bonds 58% 58%
Future salary increcses 4 2% 4 5%
Fulure increases to pensions in payment 3.0% 24%
2008 ANNUAE REPORT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 313 December 2008

12. POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS {continued)

g} Historical informahon

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

USS millions  US$ milhons  US$ millions  US$ milkans  US3 mullions

Fair value of plan assets 117.5 169 ¢ 1325 1059 1000
Present value of fund obligahions 101.5 1625 1617 1381 1344
Plan surplus / (dehoi) 160 74 (29 2) {322) (34 4}
Experience gamns on plan assets 32 42 35 104 10
Expertence (losses) / gamns on plan hobilihes (14 6) 12 03 50 (300

13. DEPOSITS

Deposits from customers indlude deposits from central banks

The geographical composition of total deposits was as follows -

1208 311207

USs$ millions US$ midhons

GCC countries 12,223 4 12,6367
Other Middle East and North Africa countries 4,213 9 49317
Cther countries 1,957.7 20763
18,3950 19,644 7

GCC deposits comprise deposits from GCC country governments and central banks and other inshiutions headquartered in the
GCC states

GCC deposits at 315t December 2008 represented 66 4 per cent (2007 64 3 per cent] of total deposits

Total deposits at 313 December 2008 included Islamic-related transachions amounhing to US$1,084 O million (2007 US$2,463 7
million} Islamic-related transachons comprised Murabaha contracts

14. SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE

The Group enters into collateralised borrowing transachiens [repurchase agreements) n the ordinary course of its finanaing
achvihes Collateral 1s provided in the form of securihies held within the investment securibes and trading portfolios At
315t December 2008, the fair value of investment and trading securities that had been pledged as collateral under repurchose
agreements wos US$1,687 0 millien and mil respechvely (2007 US5$4,033 5 million and US$28 3 million respectvely}
The collateralised borrowing transachons are conducted under standardised terms that are vsual and customary for such
transachons

At 315t December 2008, the fair value of investment securties that had been pledged as collateral under the term repo facility
referred to 1n note 16 was US$106 1 milion (2007 US$344 4 million) This was in addition fo the investment securities pledged
as collateral under repurchase agreements referred to above

CULF INTERNATIONAL BANK
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15.

16

17

OTHER LIABILITES

Accrued interest

Denvative finanaial instruments
Deferred items

Minorily interests

Other, including accounts poyable and accrued expenses

Dervative financiol insiruments represent the negative fair values of denvahve financial instruments entered info for trading
purposes, or designated as fair value or cash flow hedges An analysis of the fair value of denvative financial insiruments 15 set

out In note 30{d}

Munority interests represent minonity interests in fund products managed by the Bank and its subsidiaries Fund products in which

311208 311207
US$ millions US$ millions
1831 2603
1589 855

754 804

- 110

623 743

486.7 5115

the Bank holds, directly or inchrectly, more than half of the net osset value are accounted fer on a consolidated basis

SENIOR TERM FINANCING

Foating rate repo

Floating rate loans

Islamic Muraboha term facilihies
Floahng rate loans

Islamic Murabaha term facility
Floating rate loan

Hoating rate loans

Islomic Murabaha term facthty

SUBORDINATED TERM FINANCING

Floahng rate note
Floating rate loans

The subordinated term hnancing facilihes represent unsecured obligahons of the Group and are subordinated n nght of
payment to the claims of depasitors and other creditors of the Group that are not also subordinated The subordinated finanaing
facihies have been approved for inclusion in tier 2 capital for capital odequacy purposes by the Bank's regulator, the Central

Bark of Bahran

Matunty 31.12.08 313207
US$ millions Us$ millions
2008-2009 100.0 3000
2009 177 9 1750
2009 29.0 290
2010 850.0 8000
2010 14.6 14 6
2011 600 400
2002 1,200 0 1,273 1
2008 - 61
24315 2,657 8
Matunty 311208 311207
US$ millions US$ millions
2015 4000 4000
2016 1500 1500
5500 5500

Lh
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

18 SHARE CAPITAL

The cuthornised share capital at 315t December 2008 comprised 3 0 billion shares of USS$1 each {2007 3 0 billion shares of US$1
each) The issued share capital at 315t December 2008 comprised 2 5 billion shares of US$1 each (2007 1 5 bullion shares of
US$1 each) All issued shares are fully pard

At o Extrasrdinary Generat Assembly meeting held on 20th February 2008, the shoreholders ratfied an earhier commitment in
2007 to increase the issued shore capital of the Bank by US$1 0 billion to US$2 5 billion The proceeds of the capital increase
were receved in March 2008 The capital increase was dassified as a proposed increose in share capital pending the complehon
of the relevant legal formaliies The legal formalihes were completed on 10th September 2008, following which the proposed
incresse in share capriol wos transferred fo share capital

19 RESERVES
Availobte-for-
Cash flow sale secunihes
Compulsary Voluntary hedge  revaluahon
reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
US$ millions  US$ mullions ~ US$ millions  US$ mublons USS mullions
At 15t January 2007 1469 2 1067 12 12 365.9

Arising 1n the year -
- Avaidable-for-sole securihes

net fair volue losses - - - {248 8} (248 8)
- Cash Row hedges
net fair value gains - - 13 - 13
Transfers in the year -
- Translers to statement of Income - - 10 (9 8) (8 8)
Net gains / {losses) recogmised
direcily in equity o - 23 (258 &) {256 3}
At 315t December 2007 169 2 1067 11 (167 4) 109.6

Ansing n the year -
- Available-for-sale secunifies

net fair velue gons - - - 82 82
- Cash flow hedges
net fair volue gamns - - 105 - 105
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers to statement of income - - {4 4) 921 877
Net gains recogrused directly in equity - - 61 1003 106 4
At 3151 December 2008 169 2 1067 72 (67 1} 216 0

In accardance with the Bank's arficles of associahion, 10 per cent of the Bank’s net profit for the year 1s required to be transferred
to each of the compulsary and voluntary reserves Transfers to the non-distributable compulsory reserve are required unhl such
hime os this reserve represents 50 per cent of the issued share coprtol of the Bank The voluntary reserve may be unlised at the
drscrehon of the Board of Directors No transfers were made to the compulsory or voluntary reserve for either the year ended 315t
December 2008 or 315t December 2007

20. DIVIDENDS

No dividend 1s proposed in respect of the financial year ended 315t December 2008
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21 NET INTEREST INCOME

20038 2007
Us$ mithons US$ millions
Interest tncome

Placements and other hiquid assets 2212 3069
Due from brokers 08 293
Investment securihes 3704 494 1
Loans and advances 629.6 682 4
Total interest income 1,2220 1,5127

Interest expense
Deposits from banks and customers 6626 N9
Securihies sold under agreements to repurchase 1521 127 ¢
Term financing 1190 167 3
Total interest expense 9337 1,207 1
Net interest income 2883 3056

Interest tncome on investment securihes includes dividends received from structured finance investments

Interest income on loans and advances includes loan ongmation fees that form an integral part of the effective interest rate of
the loan

Accrued but uncollected interest on imparred loans included in inferest income for the year ended 315t December 2008 amounted
to US$1 1 milhon {2007 nil} There wos no acerued but uncollected interest included in interest income on past due loans or past
due investment secunties for either the year ended 315t December 2008 or 315t December 2007

22 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2008 2007
uUss "j!!].’P_“_s US3 mithons
Fee and commission income

Investment banking and manogement fees 481 612
Commissions on letters of credit and guarantes 228 208
Loan commitment fees 32 50
Other fee and commission income 1.4 35
Tota! fee and commussion income 75.5 05
Fee and commission expense (2.2} (2 4)
Net fee and commission ncome 73.3 881

tnvestment banking and management fees compnise fees relating ta the prevision of investment management and Anancial services,
including asset and fund monagement, underwriting achvities, and services relating to structured financing, privahsations, IPOs,
and mergers and acquisiions

Investment barnking and management fees for the year ended 315t December 2008 included fee income relahng to the Group's
hduciary actmines arnounting to US$29 5 million {2007 US$35 3 millien)

Fee and commussion expense principally comprises secunty custody fees

L

2008 ANNUAL REPORT




23

24

25,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements {(continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

NET TRADING LOSS
2008 2007
us$ millions uUs$ mithons
Foreign exchange 161 ?7
Interest rate derivatives 33 14
Loans held for trading 02 01
Equity securihes {100 (2 0)
Debt securihies (30 5) {91 5)
Managed funds - (65 8} (4 3)
{86 7) (84 &)

Trading tncome comprises gains and losses arising both on the purchase and sale, and from changes in the fair value, of
frading nstruments, together with the refated interest mcome, interest expense and dradend income Trading income accardingly
incorporates all income and expenses related fo the Group's frading achvities

Foreign exchange indudes spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, and currency futures and options

Inferest rate dervatives includes interest rate swops, forward rate agreements, interest rate ophons, inferest rate futures, and credit
denvatives

Equily secunties includes equities, equity convertibles, and contracts for differences

The loss on debt securhes for the year ended 31t December 2008 included a loss of U5$28 4 million ansing on the hguidetion
of the Group's asset backed secunity propnetary trading portfolio The portfolic was entrely iquidated during the three months
ended 315t March 2008

The loss on managed funds for the year ended 315t December 2008 largely arose on alternative investment thedge) funds At 318t
December 2008, the Group's alternabve mvestment funds dossifed os held-for-trading ameunted to US$152 8 milhon {2007
US5333 9 milbon)

An analyss of the basis used for determining the fair values of held-for-troding finanaal assets and hiabilihes 1s set out in note 36

OTHER INCOME

Other income principally comprises profits rechised on the sale of premises and equipment, didends on availoble-for-sale equity
wmvestments, and loan recoveries

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Segmental mformanon 15 presented i respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments The primary reporhing format,
business segments, 15 based on the producs and services provided or the type of customer serviced and reflects the manner in
which finaneiat information 1s evaluated by management and the Board of Directors

a) Business segments
For finoncial reporhing purposes, the Group 1s orgamised into three main business segments -
- MerchantBanking the provision of wholesale commercial hnancing and other credit facilihes for corporate and inshtutional
customers, and the provision of financial advisery services relating to structured hnancing, privahsations, IPOs and mergers
and acquisihons

- Treasury the prowision of a broad range of treasury and capital market products and services to corporate and hnancial
nsttuhon chents, money market, proprietary investment achvihes and the management of the Group's balance sheet,
including funding

- Financial Markets the provision of asset and fund management services, and proprietary trading actwihies

Q GULF INTERNATTONAL BANK
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25. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION [continued)

d) Business segments [continued)

The results reported for the business segments are based on the Group's internal financial reporting systems The accounhng

policies of the segments are the same as those applied in the preparahon of these consohdated financial statements and are
set oul in note 2 Transachons between business segments are conducted on normal commercial terms and condihons Transter
pricing between the business units 15 bosed on the market cost of funds

Segment results, assets and habilihies compnise items directly atmbutable to the business segments The “corporate and other’
category comprises items which ore not directly attributable to specific business segments, including investments of a strategic
nature, and income ansing on the recharge of the Group’s net free capita! to business units Unallocated overheads and

excephonal charges are reported separately

The bustness segment analysss 1s as follows -

Merchent Financial Corporate

Banking Treasury Markets and other Totat
US5 millions UsS mithons US55 milliens US$ millions USS milhons

2008
Total iIncome 202.4 7.9 {22 130.4 3227
Segment result {33 8) (364 4) {27 7 1343 (291 4)
Unalfocated overhead {95 &)
Taxation charge on overseas achivities 92
Net loss ofter tax (396 2)
Segment assets 13,519 8 11,3826 507 80 4 25,033 5
Segment habilihes - 20,597 4 275 2,483 1 23,108 0
Totol equily 19255
Total habilihes and equity 25,033 5

2007
Total income 173 8 1181 {58 8) 109 3 342 4
Segment result 168 O (857 9) {77 1) 103 3 1663 7)
Unallocated overhead 93 9}
Toxahon credit on overseas achivihes 03
Net loss ofter tax (757 3)
Segment assets 13,0650 14,558 7 1,2357 1,094 6 29,9540
Segment habilihes 142 24,727 8 351 29616 277387
Tolel equity 2,2153
Total habilihes and equety 29,9540
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315 December 2008

25 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (conhnued)

b) Geogrophical segments
Although the Group's three main business segments are manoged on a werldwide basis, they are considered to operate in

two geographical markets the GCC and the rest of the world

The geographical composition of total income based on the locahion i which transachons ore booked and income 15 recorded
was as follows -

2008 2007

us$ millions US$ mithons

GCC countries 2908 3599
Other countries 39 {17 5}
322.7 342 4

The geographical analyses of deposits and nisk assets are set out n notes 13 and 27 respechvely
26 RISK MANAGEMENT

The principal risks associated with the Group’s businesses are credit risk, market nisk, hquidity sk and operahional nisk The
Group has a comprehensive nsk manogement framework in place for managing these nisks which 1s constantly evolving as
the business achvihes change n response fo credit, market, product and other developments The risk management fromework
15 guided by o number of overnding principles including the formal dehniton of msk management governance, an evaluchon
of nisk appette expressed i terms of formal sk imits, risk oversight independent of business units, diseiplined risk assessment
and measurement meluding Volue-at-Risk (VaR) methodologies and portfolio stress testing, and nisk diversification The Board of
Directors set the Group’s overall risk parameters and nisk tolerances, and the signihicant risk management policies A Board Risk
Policy Committee reviews and reports fo the Board of Directors on the Group's risk profile and sk taking achviies A Management
Committee, chaired by the Group Chief Executive Officer, has the primary responsibility for sanctioning nisk taking activities and
nsk management pohcies within the averall sk parameters and tolerances defined by the Board of Directors A Group Risk
Commttee, under the chairmanship of the Managing Director - Risk Management and comprising the Group’s most semior risk
professionals, provides a forum for the review and approval of risk measurement methodologres, risk control processes and the
approval of new products The Group Risk Commitiee also reviews ol risk policies and lmits that require the formal approval of
the Manogement Committee The nsk management conirol process 1s based on a detailed structure of pohaes, procedures and
limits, and comprehensive risk measurement and management information systems for the control, monitoring and reporting of
nisks Periodic reviews by internal and external ouditors and regulatory authorities subject the risk management processes to
additiona! scrutiny which help to further sirengthen the risk management environment

The principal nisks associated with the Group’s businesses and the related risk management processes are described n detall
in the Basel 2 Pillar 3 disclosure report in the Annual Report and are summansed below together with addihonal quanttative
analysis -

a) Credit nsk

Credht risk 15 the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligahions to the Group Credit nsk arises prinaipally
from the Group’s lending and invesiment activities in addihon to other fransachons involving both on- and off balance sheet
hnanaa! nstruments Disciplined processes are in place at both the business unit and corporate level that are intended to
ensure that nsks are accurately assessed and properly approved and momitored Formal credit limuts are applied at the
individual fransaction, counterparty, country and portfolio levels Overall exposures are also evaluated o ensure a broad
dwersihcahon of credit risk The credit management process involves the monitoring of coneentrations by product, industry,
single obligor, sk grade and geography, and the regular appraisal of counterparty credit qualy through the analysis of
qualitative and quanhtative informahion
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk {conhnued)

Credit risk 15 actively managed and rgorously monitored in accordance with well-defined credit policies and procedures
Prior to the approval of a credit proposal, a detalled credit nsk assessment 15 carried out which includes an analysis of the
obligor’s financial condition, market position, business environment and qualtty of management The risk assessment generates
an infernal credit risk rahing for each exposure, which affects the credit approval decision and the terms and cenditions of the
transaction For eross border ransachons an analysis of country nisk 1s also conducted The Group bases its credit decisian for
an indvidual counterparty on the aggregate Group exposure to that counterparty and all s related enhhes Groupwide credit
{imtt seting and opproval authorisahon requirements are conducted wathin Board approved guidelines, and the measurement,
monitoring and control of credit exposures are done on a Groupwide basis in a consistent manner

The Group also mitigates 1ts credit exposures on foreign exchange and denvative financial instruments through the use of
master nethng agreements and collatercl arrangements

Maxamum exposure to credit risk

The gross maamum exposure to credit nsk before applying collateral, guarantees and other credit enhancements was as
follows -

At311208 At311207
US$ millions US$ milhons
Balance sheet items
Cash and other hquid assets 303.0 5327
Due from brokers - 243 3
Placements with banks 4,037.4 56291
Due from sharehalders 48320 -
Trading securihes 207.1 1,342 6
Investment securities 2,220.5 8,070 7
loans and advances 12,9721 12,601 8
Other assefs, excluding derivahve-related items 2354 1,3450
Total on-balance sheet credit exposure 24,807.5 29,7652
Off-balence sheet items
Credit-reloted conhingent items 36375 7,261 9
Foreign exchange-related items 760 602
Denvative-related items 1233 441
Total off-balance sheet credit exposure 38368 7,368 2
Total gross credit exposure 28,644 3 37,133 4

Credt risk profile

The Group meniters, manages and contrals credit nisk exposures based on an internal credit ratmg system that rates indwidual
obligors based on a ratng scale from 1 to 10, subject to pasitive {+) and negative {-) modshers for ratng grodes 2 to 6 The
internal credis rating is o measure of the credit-worthiness of a single obhigor, based on an assessment of the credit nsk relating
to sentor unsecured, medium term, foreign currency credit exposure The pnmary obyectives of the internal credit rahng system
are the mamtenance of a single uniform standard for credit quality measurement, and to serve os the pnmary basis for Board-
approved nsk parameters and delegated credit authority limits The infernal eredit rating system also serves as a key input inke
the Group's nsk-adjusted retum on capital {(RAROKC) performance measurement system Rahings are assigned to obligors, rather
than faciliies, and reflect @ medium term fime honzon, thereby rating through an econemic cycle The internal ratings map
directly o the rating gredes used by the internahonal credit rating agencies as follows -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315! December 2008

26 RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

a) Credit risk {conhinued)
External Rating

Internal Historical default Firch end

Interndl rating grade dassiheation rote range _ Standord & Poor's Moody's
%

Investment grade
Rating grade 1 Standard c00-000 AAA Aca
Rahing grade 2 Standard 000-002 AA Aa
Rahng grade 3 Standard 005-007 A A
Rating grade 4 Standard 015-03] BBB Baa
Sub-mvestment grode
Rating grede 5 Standard 052-144 BB Ba
Rating grade é Standard 253-906 B B
Rahing grade 7 Standard 25 59 ccc Caa
Classified
Rating grade 8 Substandord 25 59 cC Ca
Rahing grade 9 Doubth! 25 59 C C
Rating grade 10 Loss - D -

The historical default rates represent the range of probabibity of defoults between the positive and negahve modifiers for each
ratng grode based on Standard & Poor's cne yeor default rates for the 27 years from 1981 to 2007 for senior unsecured
obligatons The default rates represent the averages over the 27 year peniod and therefore reflect the full range of econemic
conditions over that period

The credit nisk profile, based on infernal credit retings, was as follows -

311208 311207
Placements, due Placements,
from shareholders due from brokers
& other hquid Loans and & other hquid Loans and
assets Secunthes advances assets Securihes advances
Uss millons USS milklons  US$ nulhons US$ mithens  US$ mullions WSS millions
Nerther past due nor impaired
Rating grades 1 to 4- 21724 1,946 8 9,3783 6,370 1 8,0847 9,086 ¢
Rahng grades 5+ to 5- - 295 31246 350 299 4 3,057
Rahing grades &+ to 6- - 150 3548 - 1133 397 5
Rahng grade 7 - 19¢ 67 - 263 91
Equity investments - _.3891 - - 697 2 -
Carrying amount 1724 2,400.3 12,864 4 65,4051 22209 12,599 2
Past due or individually impaired
Rahng grades 1 to 7 - - - - 171 ¢
Rating grade 8 - - 262 - 63 -
Rohng grade 9 - - 815 - 78 -
Rahng grade 10 - - - - 20 26
Equity investments - 273 - - 44 -
Carrying amount - 27 3 1077 - 1924 26
Total 9,172.4 2,427 & 12,9721 46,4051 9,413 3 12,601 8

The above analysis 1s reported net of the following provisions for impairment -
Prowisions for impatrment - (776 5) (274 2) - (9850) {75 4)
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT [continued)

o}

b)

Credit nsk (conhnued)
indwvidually impaired financiol assets represent assets for which there 15 objective ewidence that the Group will not collect all
amounts due, mcluding both principal and inferest, in occordance with the confractual terms of the obligation

At 315t December 2008 there were no past due but not impaired financiol assets (2007 mil)

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in the form of physical ossets, cash deposits, securthes and guarantees
The amount and type of collaterat 1s dependent upon the assessment of the credit nsk of the counterparty The market/fair
value of the collateral is actively momitored on a regular basis and requests are made for addihenal collateral in accordance
with the terms of the underlying agreements Collatera! 1s not usually held against securihes or placements and no such
collateral was held ot either 315t December 2008 or 315t December 2007

An analysis of the credit nisk in respect of foreign exchange ond derivative financiol nstruments is set aut 1n note 30 while the
notional and nsk-weighted exposures for off-balance sheet credit-related nancial instruments are set out n note 31

Cred risk concentrahon

The Group menitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographc lecation The industrial classiheation of loans
and advances 15 set out in note 10 The geogrophmcl distribution of risk assets 15 set out in note 27 An analysts of the credit
risk in respect of foreign exchange and dervative financial instruments 15 set out 1n note 30

Setflement nsk
Setlement risk 1s the nisk of loss due to the failure of o counterparty to honour its obligahons to deliver cash, secuntes, or other
assets as contractually agreed

For certain types of transactions, the Group miigates this nsk by conducting setflements through o setflement or cleaning agent
to ensure that a trade 15 seitfed only when bath partes have fulfilled their cantractual setflement obligations Settlement himits
form part of the credit approval and limit monitoring process

Market nsk

Market nisk 15 the risk of loss due to adverse changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and market
conditions, such as hquidity The prinaipal market nsks to which the Group 15 exposed are interest rate risk, foreign exchange
nsk and equity price nsk associated with 1s trading, investment and asset and liabihity management activihes The portfolio
effects of helding a diversihed range of instruments across @ variety of businesses and geographic areas contribute to a
reduction in the potential negative impact on earmings from market nsk factors

- Trading market nsk The Group's trading achvihes principally compnise trading n debt ond equity secunhes, foreign
exchange and dervative inanaial instruments Denivative inancial instruments include futures, forwards, swaps and options
in the interest rate, foreign exchonge, equity, credit and commodity markets The Group manages and controls the market
nisk within ris trading portfolios through limit structures of both a VaR and non-VaR nature Non-VaR based constraints
relate, inter ahg, to posihons, volumes, concentrations, allowable losses and maturites VaR 1s a nsk measurement concept
which uses stahstical models to estimate, within a given level of confidence, the moximum potermal negative chcnge n
the market value of o portfolio over a speaified tme honizon resulting from an adverse movement i rates and prices It s
recognised that there are hmitahions to the VaR methodology These limitahons include the fact that the historical data may
not be the best proxy for future price movements The Group performs regular back testing exercises to compare actudl
profits and losses with the VaR estimates to momitor the statishical vahdity of the VaR model VoR is calculated based on the
Group's market nisk exposures at the close of the business each day Intra-day nisk levels may vary from those reported at
the end of the day In addstion, losses beyond the specthed confidence level are not captured by the VoR methodology VaR
1s not a measure of the absolute hmit of market nsk and losses in excess of the VaR amounts will, on occasion, anse To
manage the risk associated with extreme market movements, the Group conducts stress testng which measures the impact
of simulated abnormal changes in market rates and prices on the market volues of the portfolios The composition of the
debt and equity trading securities 1s set out i note 8 An analysls of dervative financicl insiruments, incduding the VaR of
foreign exchange and denvative trading controcts, 15 set out in note 30
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

26 RISK MANAGEMENT (confinued)

b} Market risk (conhnued)
Trading market nsk {continved)

The VaR by risk class for the Group’s trading posihiens, as calculated in accordance with the basis set out n note 33, was

as follows -
2008 2007
311208 Average High low 311207 Averoge High low
_Us§millons _USS millions _USS milions_ US§ millons  US§ miions_ USS milons USS millons _ US$ milbons _

Interest rate nsk 1.4 16 26 11 32 41 68 30
Foreign exchange nsk - 02 09 - 02 08 28 02
Equity risk 38 58 76 38 70 58 78 38
Total dwersihied risk 44 71 97 45 93 80 108 60

- Non-trading market nisk: Structural interest rate nisk anses in the Group's core balance sheet as a result of mismatches
in the repricing of interest rate sensive financial assets and licbilites The assaciated inferest rate risk 1s managed within
VaR hirmits and through the use of models to evaluate the sensitvity of earnings to movements in interest rates The repricing
profle and related inferest rate sensitvity of the Group's inancial assets and lisbilities are set out in note 28 The Group
15 exposed to the impact of changes n credit spreads on the fair value of avallable-for-sale debt secunihes Movements
in the fair value of avarlable-for-sale securhes are accounted for in equity Credit spread nisk 1s managed within VaR
limits and through the use of models to evalucte the sensitwily of changes in equity to movements in credit spreads Based
on the available-for-sale debt securihies held ot 315t December 2008, a 1 b p increase in credit spreads would result
in o US$0 6 million decrease n fasr value {2007 US$3 1 million) The Group does not mamtain material non-trading
equity or foreign currency exposures In general, the Group's policy 1s to maich hnancial assets and habilites in the same
currency or to mihgate currency nsk rhrough the use of currency swaps Datails of slgmﬁcant foreign currency net open
positions are set out in note 30(e)

The more significant market risk-related activities of a non-trading nature undertaken by the Group, the related risks
associated with those activities, and the types of dervative financial instruments used to manage and mimigate such risks
are summanised as follows -

Activity Risk Risk Mihgant

Management of the return on variable  Reduced profitability dueto o Recewve fixed interest rate swaps
rote assets funded by shareholders’ funds  fall in short term interest rates

Fixed rate assets funded by flocting rate  Sensitvity to increcises in short  Pay fixed interest rate swaps
liahilitres term nterest rates

Investment in foreign currency assets Sensitvity to strengthening of  Currency swaps
US$ against other currencies

Prohts generated in foreign currencies Sensitvily to strengtheming of  Forward foreign exchange contracts and
US$ against other currencies  purchased currency options
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT {conhnued)

<) Liquidhty risk

Liquidity risk 1s the risk that sufficient funds are not avallable to meet the Group's financial obhigations on a punctual basis as
they fall due

Liquidity management policies ore designed to ensure that funds are available at all imes to meet the funding
requirements of the Group, even i adverse condihons In normal conditions the objective 15 to ensure that there are
sufficient funds available not only to meet current financial commitments but also to facilitate business expansion These
objectves are met through the opplicaton of prudent liquidity controls These controls provide securily of access to
funds without undue exposure to Increased costs from the liquidahon of assets or the oggressive bidding for deposits
The Group's hiquidity controls ensure that, over the short term, the future profle of cash flows from matuning assets
1s adequately matched to the matunty of labilihes Liquidity controls also prowvide for the maintenance of o stock of
hiquid and readily realisable assels and o dwersihed deposit base in terms of both matuntes and range of depositors

The management of liquidity and funding 1s pnmartly conducted in the Group's individual geographic entifies within limuts set and
approved by the Board of Directors The hmits take account of the depth and liquidity of the market in which the enhty operates
It 1s the Group's generd! policy that each geographic entity should be self-sufhcient in relahon te funding its own eperations

The Group’s hquidity management policies include the following -

the monitoring of {1 future contractual cash lows against approved limits, and (i) the fevel of hiquid assets available in the
event of a stress event

the monitoring of balonce sheet hquidity ratios

the monitoring of the sources of funding in order to ensure that funding 15 derved from @ diversified range of sources
the moniforing of depositor concentrations in erder to avord undue reliance on indvidual depositors

the maintenance of a sahsfactory level of term financing, and

the maintenance of hquidity and funding contingency plans These plans identfy early indicators of stress condions and
prescribe the achions to be token in the event of systemic or other crisis, while mintmusing odverse long term imphicahons
for the Group’s business achviies

The Group has estoblished limits which resinct the volume of fihilihes matunng in the short term  An independent risk
management funchon monttors the future cash flow maturity profle against approved bmits on a dailly basis The cash flows
are monitered agonst limits applying to both daily and cumulative cash flows occurning over o 14 day period The cash flow
analysis 1s also monttored on a weekly basis by the Assets and Liabilihes Committee (ALCO}

Customer deposits form a sigmificant part of the Group's funding  The Group places considerable importance on maintaining
the stability of both its cusiomer and interbank deposits The stability of deposits depends on mamtaining confidence in the
Group's financial strength and financial transparency

The maturity proble of assets and habilities 1s set outin note 28  An andlysis of debt investment securihes by rating dassibeahon
15 set out in note 26 {a}

Operctional risk
Operational risk 1s the risk of unexpected losses resulhng from inadequote or failed mternal controls or procedures, systems
farlures, fraud, business interruphon, compliance breaches, human error, management fallure or inadequate staffing

A framewark and methodology has been developed to identify and control the vanous operational nsks While operatencl
risk cannot be entirely eliminated, it 1s maneged and mihgated by ensuring that the appropriate infrastructure, controls,
systems, procedures, and trained and competent people are in place throughout the Group A strong internal audit lunchon
makes regular, independent appraiscls of the control environment in alf identified risk areas Adequately tested contingency
arrangements are also in place to support operahons n the event of o range of possible disaster scenarios
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315! December 2008

26 RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

el

66

Capital management
The Group's lead regulator, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB), sets and monitors capttal requirements for the Group as a
whole The parent company and individual banking operations are directly supervised by their local regulators

As referred to in more detail in note 33, the Group adopted the Basel 2 capita! adequacy framework with effect from
1st January 2008

In applying curreni capital requirements, the CBB requires the Group to maintain a prescribed minimum rahio of total regulatory
capital to total nsk-weighted assets The CBB's minimum risk osset raho 15 12 per cent compared fo a minmum raho of 8 per
cent prescribed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision The Group calculates regulatory capital requirements for
general market nisk (n ifs rading portfohos using a Value-at-Risk moded and uses the CBB's prescribed nsk weightings under
the standardised approach to determine the risk-weighted amounts for credit sk and specihic market nisk Operahonal risk s
caleulated by applying the CBB's prescribed alpha co-efficient to the Group's average gross income for the preceding three
financial years

The Group's regulatory capital s analysed into two hers -

- Tier | copttal, compnsing 1ssued share copital, shore premium, retained earmings and reserves, adjusted fo exdude
revaluation gains and losses ansing on the remeasurement fo fair value of available-for-sale securthes and derivahve
cash flow hedging transachions with the exception of unrealised losses ansing on the remeasurement to fair value of equity
securihes dassihed as avanloble-for-sale securihes

- Tier 2 capital, compnising qualifying subordinated term finance, collective impairment prowisions and 45 per cent of
unrealised gams ansing on the remeasurement to fair value of equity securihes dassified as available-for-sale secunhes

The CBB applies various hmits to elements of the capital base The amount of innovative tier 1 securihies cannot exceed 15 per
cent of total her 1 capital, qualifying tier 2 caprtal cannot exceed tier 1 capital, and qualifying subordinated term finance cannot
exceed 50 per cent of her 1 capital There also are resmchons on the amount of collective impairment provisions that may be
included as part of her 2 capital Collechve impairment provisions cannot exceed 1 25 per cent of total nsk-weighted assets

The Group's nsk exposures are categonsed as esther trading book or banking book, and nsk-weighted assets are determined
occording to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet
exposures

The Group's policy 15 to maintain a strong copital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and morket conhdence and to
sustain the future development of the business The impact of the level of capitel on shareholders' return 15 also recogmised
as well as the need to maintain a balance between the higher retums that might be possible with greater gearing and the
odvantages and secunty aFforded by a sound capital position The Group manages its copital structure and makes adjustments
to the structure taking account of changes 1n economic conditions and strategic business plans The capital structure may
be adjusted through the dividend payout, the 1ssue of new shares, subordinated term finance and innovative tier 1 copital
secunties

The Group and its indvidually regulated operations complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the
years ended 313 December 2008 and 315t December 2007

Other than the adophon of fhe Basel 2 copital adequacy framework with effect from 15 January 2008, there have been no
matenal changes in the Group's management of capital during the years ended 318t December 2008 and 31s! December
2007

The capital adequacy ratio calculated in accordance with the guidelines of the Basel Committee 15 set out in note 33
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27. GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF RISK ASSETS

28

311208 311207
Placements,
due from
shareholders & Credit-related
other hquid Loans and conhngent
assets Secunhes advances tems Total Total
Us$ mllions  USS millions  USS millions  USS mulbons  US$ millions  US$ millions
GCC 5,6620 14123 12,2153 2,983 1 22,2727 21,8007
Other Muddle Eost & North Africa - 394 3321 1724 5439 417 8
Europe 30060 3632 3838 287.0 4,0400 75265
North America 3176 577 6 22 1932 1,090 6 4,9800
Asia 186 8 351 7 18 2624 5829
Lotin America - - - - - 1742
9172.4 2,427 6 12,972} 3,637 5 28,209.6 35,6821

At 315t December 2008, nisk expesures to customers and counterparhes m the GCC represented 79 0 per cent (2007 61 1 per
cent) of total risk assets The risk asset profile reflects the Group's strategic focus on merchant banking activities in the GCC skates
An analysis of derivatve and foreign exchange instruments is set out in note 30

MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The matunity prokle of the carrying amount of assets and habilihes, based on the contractual matunty dates, was as follows -

Cver
Within 4 months Years Years 5 years
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and 5 and other Total
US$ mdlions  US$ mullions  US$ mdlions  US$ millions  US$ milbons  US$ millions
At 315! December 2008
Cash and other hquid assets 3020 10 - - - 3030
Placements wath banks 4,037.4 - - - 4,037 4
Due from shareholders 48320 - - - 48320
Trading securihes 2071 - - - - 207 1
Investment securihes 14 2231 8433 365.8 &76 9 2,220.5
{oans and advances 3,272.4 2,7553 27125 1,539.1 26928 12,9721
COther assets 3229 578 109 11.5 58 3 4614
Total assets 13,085.2 3,037 2 3,5667 1,916 4 3,4280 25,033.5
Deposits 16,8971 1,478 6 154 a9 - 18,395.0
Securihes sold under
agreements fo repurchase 1,028.0 2168 - - - 1,244.8
Other habilihes 299.0 529 487 51.5 346 486.7
Term finanaing 29.0 2778 9247 1,200.0 5500 2,981.5
Equity - - - - 1,925 5 1,925.5
Total Labilities & equity 18,253.1 2,026 ¥ 988 8 1,255.4 2,510 1 25,033 5
At 315! December 2007
Total assets 12,7156 2,723 8 4,362 4 2,958 4 7,1938 29,9540
Total liabilhes & equy 18,788 6 5,826 5 1,146 5 1,355 5 2,836 9 29,9540
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

28 MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES {conhnued)

The asset and hability maturities presented in the previous table are based on contractual repayment arrangements and as such do
not take account of the effective maturihes of deposits as indicated by the Group's deposit retention records Totol average deposits
throughout 2008 for counterparties with indidual deposits of US$10 0 million and above at 315t December 2008 amounted
to US$13,081 2 million {2007 US$17.002 8 milhon) This represented 71 1 per cent of tetal deposits at 31 st December 2008
{2007 86 5 per cent} Formal liquidity controls are nevertheless based on confractual asset and hability maturihes

The gross cash flows payable by the Group under finanaial habilites, based an contractual maturty dates, was as follows -

Within 4 months Years Years Over
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and 5 5 years
USS milliens  USS rmllions USS millions  US$ milhons ~ US$ milhons
At 315t December 2008
Deposits 17,0503 1,502 5 163 4.8 -
Securihes sold under agreements
to repurchase 1,044 1 2253 - - -
Term financing 592 3102 1,0207 1,2731 5963
Denvatve finanaal instruments
- contractual amounts payable 1160 1833 2932 1637 2143
- contractual amounts recevable {52 0} 137 7) {228 4) (149 4) {1930
Total undiscounted financial habihhes 18,217 & 2,083 6 1,1018 1,292 2 617 6
At 315t December 2007
Deposits 17,227 8 26179 06 60
Securihes sold under agreements
to repurchase 11883 3,0951 - - -
Term finanaing 44 2 3334 1,398 8 1,522 0 6524
Dervahve inancial instruments
- contractual amounts payable 918 147 9 2394 98 2 593
- contractual amounts receivable {73 8) {157 5) {219 8) (97 7) {55 4}
Total undiscounted financial liabilihes 18,480 3 6,0368 1,4190 1,5355 656 3

Information on the confractual terms for the drawdown of gross loan commuiments 1s set out in note 31

The higures in the table abeve do not agree directly to the camrying amounts in the consolidated balance sheet as they incorporate
all cash Alows, on an undiscounted basis, related to both principal as well as these ssociated with huture coupon and interest
payments Coupons and inferest payments for penods for which the interest rate has not yet been determined have been caleulated
based on the relevant forward rates of interest prevailing af the balance sheet date

Held-fortrading habilittes {securshies sold but not yet purchased) have not been included in the table above as they are typically
held for short periods of hime

A matunity analysis of dervative and foreign exchange instruments based on nohonal amounts ts set out 1n note 30(¢)
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29,

INTEREST RATE RISK

The repricing profile of assets and liabilihes categones were as follows -

Non-interest
Within Months Months Over bearing
3 months 4106 71012 1 year ttems Total

USS millons WSS mdlions  USS mifhons  USS millions  USS midlions  USS millions

At 315t December 2008
Cash and other hquid assets 3020 10 - - - 3030
Placements with banks 3,662 4 750 - 3000 - 4,037 4
Due from shareholders 4,832 0 . - - - 4,8320
Trading secuntes - - - - 207 1 2071
Investment securihies -

- Fixed rate 20.0 134 135 154 5 - 2014

- Floahng rate 1,784.5 159.3 - - (134 0} 1,809 8

- Equihes & equity funds - - - . 2093 2093
toans and advances 10,610 3 2,371 2 144 6 26.0 {180.0) 12,9721
Other assets - - - - 461 4 461 4
Total assets 21,211 2 2,6199 158 1 480.5 5638 25,033.5
Deposits 17,3010 927 1 1532 13.7 - 18,3950
Securihes sold under agreements to

repurchase 10280 2168 - - - 1,244 8
COther hiabihines - - - - 4867 486 7
Term finaneing 29515 300 - - - 29815
Equity - - - - 1,925 5 1,925 5
Total habikhes & equity 21,280.5 1,173 9 1532 13.7 24122 25033 5
Interest rate sensihvity gap 69 3) 14460 49 466.8 (1,848.4) -
Cumulative inferest rate

sensttivity gap 69 3) 1,376 7 1,381 6 1,848 4 - -
At 315t December 2007
Cumulohve interest rate

sensihvity gap (748 1} 688 5 689 5136 - -

The repnang profile 1s based on the remaiming pened to the next inferest repnang date  The repricing profile of plocements
incorporates the effect of interest rate swaps wsed to lock-in o return on the Group’s net free capital funds Derwatwe financial
inslruments that have been used for asset and liability management purposes to hedge exposure to interest rate risk are incorporated
in the repricing profiles of the reloted hedged assets and habiihes The non-specihc provisions are deducted from non-interest
bearing assets

The substanhal majority of assets and liabilities repnce within one year Accordingly there 1s limited exposure fo interest rate risk
The prlnClpc:l interest rate nsk beyond one year as sel out in the asset and ||ab|!|fy repricing prohle, represents the mnvestment of
the Group's net free capital in fixed rate government securities and fixed receive interest rate swops At 315t December 2008 the
modihed durahon of these fixed rate securihes and interest rate swaps was 3 03 Medified duration represents the approximate
percentage change m the portfolic value resulting from a 100 bosis pont change in yield More precisely in dollar terms, the price
volue of a basis point of the hixed rate securihes and inferest rate swaps was US$140,500

Based on the repncing profile at 315F December 2008, and assuming that the fnancial ossets and habilihes were to remain untl
maturidy or sefflement wath no action taken by the Group to dlter the interest rate risk exposure, an immediate and sustained
one per cent mcrease i interest rates ocross all matunies would result in a reduchon 1 net income before tax for the following
year and in the Group's equity by approximately US$7 ¢ mullion and U5$22 1 million respechvely (2007 US$7 7 milhon and
U5528 & midhon respectivelyl The impact on the Group’s equity represents the cumulatve effect of the increase in interest rates
over the entre duration of the mismatches in the repricing prof'lle of the interest rate sensiive financial assets and habilihes

The Volue at-Risk by nisk class for the Group's trading posiions 1s setout in note 26 The market nisk relating to foreign exchange

and denvahve trading instruments 15 set out in note 30
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

30 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS

The Group utilises dervative and foreign exchange instruments to meet the needs of its cuslomers, to generote trading revenues
and as part of (s asset and hability management {ALM] actvity to hedge its own exposure to market nsk Denvative instruments
are confracts whose volue 15 derved from one or mora financiol instruments or indices They include futures, forwards, swaps ond
ophons in the inferest rate, foreign exchange, equity, credit and commodity markets Denvatves and foreign exchange are subject
fo the same types of credit and market sk as other financial instruments The Group has appropncte and comprehensive Board-
approved policies and procedures for the control of exposure to both market ond credit risk from its dervahve and foreign exchange
achvihes

In the case of dervahve fransactions, the notional principo! typically does not change hands It is simply @ quantity which 1s used to
calculate payments While notional principd! 1s @ volume measure used 1n the denvative and foreign exchange markets, # 15 neither
a measure of market nor credit risk The Group's measure of credit exposure 15 the cost of replacing centracts ot current market rates
should the counterparly default prior to the settfernent date Credit nsk amounts represent the gross unrealised gains on non-margned
transachons before taking account of any collateral held or any master netting agreements in place

The Group participates in both exchange traded and over-the-counter [OTC] dervative markets Exchange traded instruments are
executed through a recogmised exchange as standardised contracts and primanly comprise futures and ophons OTC coniracts
are executed between two counterparties who negohate specific agreement terms, including the underlying instrument, nctiona!
amount, matunty and, where cppropnate, exercise price In general, the terms and condions of these transachions are tailored to
the requirements of the Group's customers although conform to normal market practice Industry standard documentatian 15 used,
most commonly 1n the form of & master ogreement The existence of a master nething agreement 15 mtended to provide protection to
the Group in the event of a counterparty default

The Group’s pnnctpal foreign exchange transactions are forward foreign exchange controcts, currency swaps and currency ophons
Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to buy or sell o speaified quantity of foreign exchange on a specific future date
at an agreed rate A currency swap invoives the exchange, or notional exchange, of equivalent amounts of two currencies ond a
commitment to exchange interest periodically unhl the principal amounts are re-exchanged on a specified future date Currency
ophons provide the buyer with the nght, but not the obligation, exther to purchase or sell @ fixed amount of & currency ot o specified
exchange rote on or before o speafied future date As compensahon for assuming the ophon nsk, the ophion seller (or wniter} recerves
a premium at the start of the option peried

The Group's prinaipal inferest rate-related denvative fransachons are interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, futures and
options An interest rate swap 15 an agreement between two parfies to exchange fixed rote and floahng rate interest by means
of penodic payments based upon o notional principal amount and the interest rates defined i the contract Cerfoin agreements
combine inferest rote and foreign currency swap transachons, which may or may not include the exchange of principal amounts
In a forward rate agreement, two parties agree o future setflement of the difference between an agreed rafe and a future interest
rate, apphed to a nohcnal principal amount for an agreed period The setlement, which generally occurs at the start of the coniract
period, 15 the discounted present value of the payment that would otherwise be made at the end of that pericd An interest rate
future 1s an exchange traded contract for the delivery of a standardised omount of @ fixed income secunty or time deposit at a future
specihed date Interest rate options, including caps, floors and collars, provide the buyer with the nght, but not the obligation, either
to purchase or sell an inferest rate financial nstrument at o specified price or rote on or before a speaified future date

The Group's pncipal equity-related denvative fransactions are equity and stock index options An equiy option provides the buyer
wath the right, but not the obligation, erther to purchase or sell a specified stack or index ot a specihed price or level on or before o
specfied future date

The Group buys and sells credit profection through credit default swops Credit default swaps provide profechion agarnst the dechne
11 volue of o referenced asset as o result of credit events such as defoult or bankruptey [t s similar in structure to an option whereby
the purchaser pays o premium ko the seller of the credit defoult swap n return for payment related fo the detenoration in value of the
referenced asset Credit default swaps purchased and sold by the Group are dlassified as denvatve hinancial instruments

The Group also transads in other dervative products including total return swaps used to hedge frading fransactions
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30. DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS [continued)

a)

b}

Product analysis
The table below summarises the aggregate notienal and credit risk amounts of foreign exchange, interest rate, credit and
equity-related derivative contracts
Nehonal amounts Credit nisk
Trading Hedging Total amounts
Us$ millions USS millions  USS millions  US$ millions
At 315! December 2008
Foreign exchange contracts -

Unmatured spot, forward and futures contracts 1,5702 2,741 5 43117 760

Ophons purchased 138 - 138 -

Ophons wniten 138 - 138 -

1,597 8 2,741 5 43393 760
Interest rate contracts -

Interest rate swaps and swaphons 22618 2,8821 51439 1231

Options, caps and flocrs purchased 243 - 243 02

Options, caps and floors wnitten 243 - 243 -

2,3104 2,8821 5,192.5 ¥233
Credit contracts -

Protechon sold 1590 - 1590 -
Other contracts -

Total return swops 200 - 200 .
Total 4,087 2 5,623.6 9,710 8 199.3
At 315t December 2007
Total 51355 8,7933 13,928 8 106 3
There ts no credit nsk in respect of ophions, cops ond floors wnitten, and protection sold on credit contracts as they represent
obligahons of the Group
At 315t December 2008 the Value-at-Risk of the foreign exchange, interest rate, credit, and other denvahve trading contracts
analysed in the table above, as calculated in accordance with the basis set out in note 33, was US$0 2 million, US$0 2 million,
US$1 1 million and US$T O miflion respectvely (2007 US$0 2 million, US$0 2 millon, US$1 1 million and nil respectvely)
Value-at-Risk 1s a mecsure of market nisk exposure and 1s accordingly separate and in addition to the credit nsk exposure
represented by the credit nsk amounts in the oble above
Counterparty analysis

31.1208 311207
Bonks Other Total Total
US$ millons USS millbons  USS millions US$ millions

Credit nsk amounts
QECD counines 1001 - 100.1 710
GCC countries 25 963 98.8 348
Other countries 01 03 0.4 05
1027 96.6 1993 106 3

Credit risk 1s concentrated on major OECD-based banks and GCC-related customers
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

30. DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS (conhinued)

¢} Matunty analysis

Years Years Over
Year 1 2&3 485 5 years Total
USS mdhans UsS millions USS milbons  USS millions us$ milhons
At 315t December 2008
Foreign exchange contracts 4,339.3 - - - 43393
Interest rate contracts 19739 1,088 5 B767 1,253 4 51925
Credit contracts 600 - 950 4.0 1590
Cther contracts 20.0 - - - 200
Total 6,393 2 1,088 5 9717 1,257 4 9,710.8
A1 315t December 2007
Total 2418 1 1,713 4 1,131 5 1,6658 139288

The Group's dervahive and foreign exchange achwiies are predominantly short-term in nature Transachons with matunhes
over one year principally represent erther fully offset trading transachons or transachions that are designated, and quahfy, as
fair value and cash flow hedges

d} Fair value analysis

311208 311207
Posiive Negative Positive Negative
fasr value fair value fenr value faur value

USS millions USS millions  US$ millions US$ mulhons

Derwatives held for trading -

Ferward foreign exchange contracts 70 70 &5 (69
Fareign exchange ophons 03 {03 06 (0 &)
Interest rate swaps and swaphons 20 (86 &) 302 {28 1)
Total refurn swaps - 03 - -
Interest rate futures - - 01 -
Credit default swaps - - 07 {21)
Contracts for differences - - 13 -
99.3 {94 2) 394 (37 7}
Denvahves held as cash flow hedges -
Interest rate swaps 142 - 22 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts B - (7.0} - -
142 70 22 -
Derivatives held as fair value hedges -
Interest rate swops - (57 7 47 (47 8}
Amount included in other assets / [other habilities) 1135 (158 9) 46 3 {85 5)

e) Significant net open positions
There were no signihcant derivahve trading or foreign currency net open positions af either 315! December 2008 or at
315t December 2007
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30 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS [confinued)

f) Hedge eHechveness

Gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of income relatng to foir value hedging relahonships were as

follows -
2008 2007
US$ millions US$ millions
Net losses on derrvative hedging mstruments (19 6} {131)
Net goins on hedged items ctinbutable to the hedged risk 19.6 131

There were no melfective portions of forr value or cash low denvative hedging tronsachions recogmised in the consolidated

statement of income 1n erther the year ended 313! December 2008 or 313 December 2007

The periads aver which the Group was hedging its exposure to the vanabiity in future cash Rows for forecasted transactons

ware as Follows -

At311208

US$ mdbions USS milhons

Year 1 750
Years 2& 3 2000
Years 4 & 5 1000

31. CREDIT-RELATED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Ar311207

3500
750

Credit-related finanaial instruments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit ond guarantees which are
designed to meet the financing requirements of customers The credit nisk on these transactons 1s generu"y {ess than the controctual
amount The table below sefs out the notional prineipal amounts of cutstanding credit-related contingent items and the nsk-weighted
exposures calculated in accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision

311208 311207

Nohonal Risk- Notonal Risk-

principal weighted principal weighted

amount exposure amount exposure

US$ millions US$ mullions USs$ millions US$ midhons

Direct credit subshiutes 3346 2836 2,269 2 5952

Transachon-related contingent ifems 1,147 2 4400 1,5051 7000

Short-term self-hquidating trade-related contingent items 546.4 899 588 ¢ 997
Commitments, including undrawn loan commitments and

undervmifing commitments under note 1ssuance and
revolving focilihes 1,609 2 7828 28987 1,180 5
3,637 5 1,596 3 7,261 9 2,575 4

Commitments may be drawdown on demeond
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements {continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

31 CREDIT-RELATED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit-related financial instruments are reported gross before applying credit risk mitigants, such as cash collateral, guarantees and
counter-ndemmities At 315t December 2008 the Group held cash collateral, guarantees, counter-mdemnities or other high quality
collateral in relation to eredit-related hnancial instruments amounting to US$433 8 mifhon (2007 US$2,041 3 million)

Direct credit subshtutes at 315t December 2007 induded a US$2 0 bilion credit facility for which the Group was acting an beholf
of a syndicate of banks The facility matured during March 2008

32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Lihgahon

The Bank and its subsidianes are engaged in lingahon i vanous jurisdichions The litigahion involves cleims by and against Group
compantes which have arisen in the ordinary course of business The directors of the Bank, after reviewing the claims pending
against Group companies and based on the advice of relevant professional legal advisors, are satished that the outcome of these
cloims will not have a matenial adverse effect on the hnancial posihon of the Group

33 CAPMAL ADEQUACY
The CBB's Basel 2 guidehines became effective on 13t January 2008 s the common framework for the implementatian of the

Base! Committee on Banking Supervision's [Basel Committee) Basel 2 capital odequacy framework for banks incorporated m the
Kingdom of Bahrain
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33 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)}
The risk asset rato calevlated in accerdance with the CBB's Bosel 2 guidelines {2007 the Base! 1 guidehines of the Basel Commuttee

on Banking Supervision) was as follows -

31208 311207
US$ midlions US$ millons
Basel 2 Basel 1
Regulatory capital base
Tier 1 capital
Total equity 1,9255 22153
Adjustment to exdude net fair value losses 599 L 1663
Tier 1 capital 1,985 4 2,381 6
Tier 2 capital
Subordinated term financing 5500 5500
Mon-specific provisions subject to 1 25% risk weighted exposure limitation 198.7 650
Unredlised gains on fair velue of equity investments 138 -
Tier 2 copital 7625 86150
Tota! regulotory capital base {a} 2,747 9 2,996 6
Risk-weighted exposure
Basel 2 Basel 1
Notional Risk- Notonal Risk-
principal weighted principal weighted
amount exposure amount exposure
Us$ milhons US$ mithons US$ millions US$ milhons
Credit risk
Balance sheet items
Cash and other hquid assets 3030 505 5327 127 6
Due from brokers - - 2433 -
Placements 4,037 4 7987 5,629 1 1,006 4
Due from shareholders 48320 - - -
Investment securities 2,2205 1,167.1 8,0707 72157
Loans and advances 12,9721 10,637 7 12,601 8 11,384 8
Other assels 45614 3432 1,5338 993 ¢
12,997 2 20,728 4
Off-balance sheet items
Credit-related contingent ifems and forward placements 3,6421 1,597 3 7,261 9 2,5754
Foreign exchange-related items 43393 27 4 53034 176
Dervative-related 1tems 53715 31 8,6254 108
Repo counterparty risk 797 n/a
1,707 5 2,6038
Credit nsk-weighted exposure 14,7047 23,3322
Market risk
General market nsk 3147 4146 4
Specthc market nisk 2669 1,1932
Market nsk-weighted exposure 581.6 1,609 6
Operatonal risk
Operatonal risk-weighted exposure 607 9 n/a
Total nsk-weighted exposure (b} 15,894 2 24,941 8
Risk asset raho | (a)/(b} x 100 ] 17 3% 12 0%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements {(continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

33. CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)

For regulatory Basel 2 purposes, the Group has inhally adopted the standardised approach for credif nisk In time and subject
to approval by the CBB, the Group plans fo adopt the foundation internal ratings-bosed (FIRB) approach for credit nsk as it 1s
more closely aligned to the Group's internal sk and capital monagement methodalogies For market risk, the Group uses the
internal models approach GIB has imihally adopted the basic indicator approach for determining the capital requirement for
operational nisk, although 1s planning to adopt the standardised approach for operational nisk subject to approval by the CBB

In accordance with the copital adequacy guidelines of the CBB, revaluation gamns and losses arising on the remeasurement
to fair volue of avarllable-for-sale securihes and derwative cash flow hedging transactions are exduded from her 1 capital
with the exception of losses arising on the remeasurement to fair value of equity securihes dassified as avalable-for-sale In
accordance with the CBB's guidelines, gains ansing on the remeasurement to fair value of equity securihes classified as available-
for-scle are included 1n her 2 capital, although gans are imited to 45 per cent

The Group calculates the regulatory capital requirement for general market nsk using a Vatue-at-Risk model in accordance with the
provisions of the Amendment o the Capital Accord to Incorporate Market Risks 1ssued by the Basel Committee in January 1996
The use of the infernal model approach for the caleulation of the capital requirement for general market nsk has been approved
by the Bank’s regulator, the CBB The multiplicahon factor to be applied to the Value at-Risk calcvlated by the internal model has
been set at 3 75 {2007 3 0} by the CBB  The multiplication foctor was increased by the CBB duning 2008 based on the number of
backtesting excephons recorded m the 2007 hnancial year Thetrading-reloted exposuresthat gave niseto thebacktesting excephons
m 2007 were hiquidated in the three months ended 315t March 2008

Value-at-Risk 1s calculated based on a 99 per cent confidence level, a ten-day holding period and a twelve-month historical
ohservation period of unweighted data from the DataMetrics regulatory data set Correlations across broad risk categories are
excluded Prescribed additions in respect of specific nsk are made fo the general market nsk The resuliant measure of market nsk
1s mulhiplied by 12 5, the reciprocal of the 8 per cent infernahonal mimmum capital rahio, fo give market risk-weighted exposure
on a bass consistent with credit nsk-weighted exposure

The Group calculates the regulatory capitel requirement for operahonal risk by applying an alpho co-efficient of 15 per cent to
the average gross income for the preceding three fnancial years

34 FIDUCIARY ACTIVITIES

The Group conducts nvestment management and other fiduciary activihes on behalf of clients Assets held in trust or in a hduciary
capacity are not assets of the Group and accordingly have not been included in the consohdated knancial statements The aggregate
amount of the funds concerned af 315t December 2008 was US$14,337 3 millon (2007 US$24,089 7 million} The decrease in
assets held in trust or n @ hduaiary capacity was due to both o decline i the market value of the assets and the effect of foreign
exchange rote movements

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group's related party transactions are imited to the compensahion of its directors and executive officers

The compensaton of key management personnel was as follows -

2008 2007

US$ midhons __Us$ millons
Shert term employee benehts 87 97
Post-employment benefits 44 07
131 104

Key management personnel comprise members of the Board of Directors, the Group Chief Executive Officer and the Managing
Directors of the Group

Past-employment benehts principally comprise compensahon paid fo personanel on retirement or resignahon from the services of
the Group

There were no other related party fransachons
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36 FAIR YALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group's hnanaal instruments are accounted for under the hrstorical cost method with the excephion of trading secunties,
availoble-for-sale securities, securites sold but not yet purchased and derivahive finoncial insiruments By contrast the fair volue
represents the amount at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liabilily setfled, in a fransaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transachon  Differences therefore can arise between book values under the historical cost methed
and fair value esimates Undedymg the definhion of fair value is the presumption that the Group 15 a going concern without any
intenhion or requirement to curtail matenally the seale of its operation or to underteke a ransachon on adverse terms Generally
accepted methods of determining fair value include relerence to quoted prices or to the pricing prevailing for similar knoneial
instruments and the use of eshmahon techniques such os discounted cash flow analysis

Based on the valuahon methodologies outlined below, the far values of all on- and off-balance sheet financial nstruments
were not significantly different to their carrying amounts, other than term financing as referred to in note 36(c)

bl

qd

d)

el

Trading and investment securihes
The fair values of secunihies are based on quoted prices ar valuation techniques with the exception of investments in unquoted equity
mvestments for which fair volues cannot be reliably measured, the fair values of which are based on thesr carrying amount

Loans and advances

The fair values of loans held for frading are based on quoted morket prices The fair values of other loans on o floating nterest
rate basis are principally eshmated ot book velue less prowsions for impairment The fair values of troubled sovereign debt
ore based on market bid prices The fair values of impaired loons are eshmated ot the recoverable amount, meosured as the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted based on the interest rate at the incephon of the loan The fair values
of hxed rote loans are eshmaled on a discounted cash Aow basis uhhsing discount rates equal to prevaling market rates of
interest in the respective currencies for loans of similar residual matunity and credit quality

Term financing

The fair value of term financing 15 based on observable market data, including quoted market prices for debt instruments
1ssued by similarly rated financicl institutions and wath similar maturihes, or eshmated on a discounted cash flow basis uhhising
currently prevailing spreads for borrowings wath similar maturihes The fair values of senior term hnancing and subordinated
term hnancing ot 315t December 2008 wera U5$2,206 7 million and US$491 2 million respectively (2007 US$2,457 B
million and US$550 0 million respectively)

Other on-balance sheet items

The fair volues of foreign exchange and derivative financial instruments are bosed on market prices, discounted cash ow
techmques or aption pniang models as appropriate The fair valves of all other on-balance sheet financial assets and habilihies
approximote their respective book values due to their short term nature

Credit-related contingent items

There was no materia} fair value excess or shortfall in respect of credit-related off-bolance sheet financial nstruments, which
include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees, as the related future income streams reflected
contractual fees and commissions actually charged at the balance sheet date for agreements of similar credit standing and
maturity Speﬂftc provisions made in respect of indwidual transactions where a potenhal for loss has been identified are
included 1n provisions for the imparment of loans and advances
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2008

36 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {conhnued}

The valuchen basis for inaneial assets and hnancial labilihes carried at farr value was os follows -

Other

Valuation valuaton

based on techmiques

Quoted observable or amortised
prices market data cost Total

uUsS mihons Us$ millions tUS5% milhons USS midlions

At 3151 December 2008
Financial assets
Trading securihes 207 1 - - 207 1
Investment securities 1,966 2 496 2047 2,2205
Derivative finanaial instruments - 1132 03 1135
Financial habilihes
Dervative hnancial instruments - 158 6 03 158.9
At 3151 December 2007
Financial assets
Trading secuntes 1,342 6 - - 1,342 4
Investment securities 7,3383 4548 277 6 8,070 7
Denvative financial instruments - 457 06 463
Financic! labilihes
Securities sold but not yet purchased 2332 - - 2332
Denvative financial instruments 21 828 06 855

Quoted prices nclude prices obtained from lead managers, brokers and dealers The majonty of the Group's hnanciol
assets and liabilines that are carried at fair value are valued based on quoted market prices At 31t December
2008, 85 4 per cent of hnancicl assefs carried at fair value were valued based on quoted prices (2007 91 8 per
cent] Financial assets valued bosed on amorhsed cost included US$130 8 mllion of unquoted equity investments
{2007 US$107 2 milhon), for which the carrying value was determined based on cost less provisten for imparment

37. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculoted by dviding the net loss atinbuteble to the shareholders by the weighted average number of
shares in 1ssue during the year

2008 2007
Net loss after tax (US$ miflions) (396.2) (757 3}
Weighted average number of shares n 1ssue {milhions) 2,500 1,385
Basic earnings per share {US50.16) (US$0 55}

The diluted earnings per share 1s equivalent to the basic earnings per share set out above

The reclassiheation of secunties from held-for-trading to available-for-sale, referred to in note 9, did not have any impact on the
basic eamings per share
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
The principal subsidiary companies were as follows -
Country of Ownership interest
incorporahon 31.1208 311207
Gulf Internationa! Bank (UK} bimited United Kingdom 100% 100%
GIB Financial Services L LC Kingdom of Saud: Arabia 100% -
GIBINVESTEC Kingdom of Bahrain 100% 100%
AVERAGE CONSOUDATED BALANCE SHEET
The average conschidated balance sheet was as follows -
Ar31.1208 At 311207
_US$ millions US$ milhens
Assets
Cash and other hquid assets 222.3 3140
Due from brokers 105 628 2
Placements with banks 5,549 4 55128
Due from shareholders 132 -
Trading securihies 4352 1,798 7
Investment securihes 77146 82909
Loons and advances 13,090 0 10,407 @
Other assets 37546 529 6
Total assets 27,4108 27,482 1
Liabilihes
Deposits from banks 4,451 8 5,8851
Deposits from customers 13,6818 13,0507
Securiies sold under agreements to repurchose 3,3523 2,466 5
Secunhes sold but not yet purchased 73 5549
Other liabilities 8899 5985
Semor term financing 2,5850 2,3035
Subordinated term hnancing 5500 5394
Total hobilines 25,518 1 25,398 6
Total equity 18927 20835
Total habilihes & equity 274108 27,4821
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 3135t December 2008

40 PARENT COMPANY

The condensed unconsolidated financtal statements of Gulf Internationa! Bank B S C were s follows -

a) Condensed balance sheet

Ar31.12.08 At31 1207

U5$ midlions US$ millions
Assels
Cash and other hquid assets 1543 5055
Placements with banks 943 4 21912
Due from shareholders 4,8320 -
Trading securihes 174 6 398 4
Investment secunities 2,2198 8,058 1
investments in subsidiaries 228 6 2506
Loans and advances 13,0095 12,5333
Other assets 4077 1,452 9
Total assets 21,9699 25,3900
Liabilihes
Deposits from banks 3,262 8 592472
Deposits from customers 11,876.8 9,473 5
Securihes sold under agreements to repurchase 1,464 8 41128
Cther Labilihes 4585 456 4
Senior term financing 24315 2,657 8
Subordinated term hnancing 5500 5500
Total habilities 20,044 4 231747
Total equity 1,925 5 22153
Total highilihes & equity 21,9699 25,3900

The investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at fair value Gains and losses anising from changes in the fair values of the
investments are accounted for in equity

b} Condensed income statement

Year ended Year ended
31.1208 311207
UsS millons __ US$ milions
Net interest income 269 3 278 4
Fee and commission income 399 529
Trading {loss} / income (59.9 18
Profits on invesment secunhes 370 296
Dwvidend received from GIBUK - 141
Cther income 77 55
Total mcome 294.0 3823
Operahng expenses 98 6 867
Net income before provisions and tax 1954 2956
Provisions for secunties (353 5) (962 3)
Provisions for loans and advances {201 7) 69
Net loss before tax {359 8 {659 8)
Taxahon charge on overseas actvihies 32 57).
Net loss {343 0) {665 5)
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) Basel 2 guidelines became effechive on 15t January 2008 as the common framework
for the implementation of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s (Basel Committes) Basel 2 capital adequacy
framework for banks incorparated in the Kingdom of Bahrain

Since 2006, GIB (the Group} has routinely been monitoring capital adequacy for internal capital management purposes
based on both the Basel 2 standardised and the foundation infernal ratings based (FIRB} approaches for eredit nisk, and
the basic indicator and standardised approaches for operational risk, n addition to the internal models approach for
market nsk

For regulatory purposes, GIB has imihally adopted the standardised approach for credit risk In time and subject to
approval by the CBB, GiB plans to adopt the FIRB approach for credit risk, as it 1s more dosely aligned to the Group's
internal capital management methodologres For market nisk, GIB uses the internal model approach GIB has mihally
adopted the basic indicator opproach for determining the capital requirement for operational nisk although 1s planming
to adopt the standardised approach for operahonal risk when approved by the CBB

This Risk Monagement and Capital Adequacy report encompasses the Basel 2 Pillar 3 disclosure requirements prescnibed
by the CBS based on the Basel Committee’s Pillar 3 guidelines The report contains a descriphion of GIB's nsk management
and copital adequacy policies and practices, induding defailed information on the copital adequacy process

The disclosed hier 1 and total capital adequacy ratios comply with the minimum capital requirements under the CBB's
Basel 2 framework

GIB’s total rsk-weighted assets at 315t December 2008 amounted to U5$15,894 2 million Credit nsk accounted for
92 5 per cent, market risk 3 7 per cent and eperchonal nisk 3 8 per cent of the total nisk-wesghted assets Tier 1 and
total regulatory capial were US$1,985 4 million and US$2,747 9 million respechvely

Ar 315t December 2008, GIB's tier 1 and total capital adequacy rahos were 12 5 per centand 17 3 per cent respectively
GIB cms fo maintain a her 1 copital rahio above 8 per cent and a total capital raho in excess of 12 per cent

GIB views the Basel 2 Pillar 3 disclosures as an important contribution to ncreased risk ransparency within the banking
industry, and particularly important during market condions characterised by high uncertennty In this regard, GIB
has provided more disclosure in this report than 1s required in accordance with the CBB's Pillar 3 guidelines 1n arder
to provide the level of ransparency that 1s believed to be appropriate and relevant fo the Group’s various stakeholders
and market parhcipants

All hgures presented in this report are as at 31 st December 2008 unless otherwise stated

1.  INTRODUCTION TO THE BASEL 2 FRAMEWORK

The new capital adequacy module of the Central Bank of Bahram (CBB) rulebook was mtroduced with effedt from
15t January 2008 The module includes @ change of methadology from the previous {Basel 1} non-nsk based method
of calculating the capital adequacy requirements of banks incorporated in Bahram The Basel 2 fromework provides a
more nsk sensitive approach fo the assessment of sk and the calculation of regulatory capital, 1 & the minimum capital
that a bank 1s required to maintain The Basel 2 framework 15 intended to strengthen risk management prachices and
processes within hnancial institutions

The CBB's Basel 2 framework 1s based on three pillars, consistent with the Basel 2 framewaork developed by the Basel
Committee, as Foliows -

o Pillor 1 the caleulation of the risk weighted amounts (RWAs) and capital requirement
o Pillar 2 the supervisory review process, induding the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAF)

o Pillar 3 the disclosure of risk management and capital adequacy information

1.1 Pllar 1

Pillar 1 prescribes the basis for the calculation of the regulatory capita! adequacy raho Pillor 1 sets out the definihon
and calculahons of the RWAs, and the dervahion of the regulatory capital base The capital adequacy ratio is caleulated
by dwiding the regulatory capital base by the total RWAS
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INTRODUCTION TO THE BASEL 2 FRAMEWORK (continued)

Pilor 1 {conhnued)

The resultant rato 1s to be mantained above a predetermined and communicated level Under the previously applied
Basel 1 Capilal Accord, the mimimum capital adequacy raho for banks incorporated in Bahrain was 12 per cent
compored to the Basel Commuttee’s mimimum ratho of 8 per cent

With the immunent infroduchion of Pillar 2, the CBB will implement a minimum ratio threshold to be determined for each
inshtuhon individually, as described in more detail in the Pillar 2 section of this report As at 315t December 2008, and
pending the finalisation of the CBB's Pillar 2 guidelines, all banks incorporated in Bahrain were required to maintain a
mimmum capll'a| ddequacy ratio of 12 per cent

The CBB also requires banks incorporated i Bohran to maintan o buffer of 0 5 per cent above the minimum capital
adequacy ratio In the event that the caprtal adequacy rato falls below 12 5 per cent addihonal prudential reporting
requirements apply, and a formal action plan seting out the measures to be taken to restore the ratio above the target
level 1s to be formulated and submitted to the CBB Consequently, the CBB requires GIB to maintain an effective mimimum
capitaf adequacy rahio of 12 5 per cent No separate minsmum her 1 raho 15 required to be maintained under the CBB's
Basel 2 capital adequacy framework However, the maintenance of a strong her 1 rahe 15 nevertheless a focus of GIB’s
internal capital adequacy assessment process, as it represents the core capital of the bank

Under the CBB's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework, the RWAs are caleulated using more sophistcated and nisk
sensitive methods than under the previous Basel 1 regulations Credit nisk and market nsk are two essential risk types that
were included under Basel |, while operatonal risk has been introduced as a new nisk type in the CBB's Basel 2 capital
adequacy fromework The table below summanses the approaches available for calculatng RWAS for each nisk type in
accordance with the CBB's Base! 2 capital adequacy framewark -

Standardised Approach Standardised Approach Basic Indicator Approach
Foundaton Internal Ratings Internal Models Approach Standardised Approach
Based Approach {FIRB)

The approach applied by GIB for each nsk type 15 os follows -

Credit risk

For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB 1s using the standardised approach for credit nisk The standardised approach
15 similar to the basis under the previous Basel 1 cuplh::ll odequocy regulotions, except for the use of external rahngs to
denve RWAs and the abl]lfy to use a wider range of inanaial collateral

The RWAs are determined by multiplying the credit exposure by a risk weight factor dependent on the type of counterparty
and the counterparty’s external ratng, where available

Internally, GIB olso calculates the copital requirement under the more risk-sensitive and complex FIRB approach, although
the resultant ratio 1s not being used for regulatory compliance purposes at present

Market nsk

For the regulatory market nisk capital requirement, GIB 1s using the internal models approach based on Value-at-Risk
(VaR) models The use of the internal models approach For the cafeulaton of regulatory market nsk copital has been
approved by the CBB

Operahonal nsk

Under the CBB's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework, all banks incorporated in Bahrain are required to apply the besic
indicator approach for operational risk unless approval 1s granted by the CBB to use the standardised appreach The
CBB's Basel 2 guidelines do not currently permit the use of the advanced measurement approach {AMA} for operahonal
risk For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB 15 currently using the basic indicator approach, although internally the
Group dlso calculates the capital requirement based on the mere advanced standardised approach
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

ni}

1.3

INTRODUCTION TO THE BASEL 2 FRAMEWORK {conhnued)
Pillar 1 {conhnued)
Operational nsk {continued)

Under the basic indicator approach, the regulatory capital requirement s calculated by applying an alpha co-efficient of
15 per cent fo the average gross income for the preceding three financial years Under the stondardised appreach, the
regulatory capifa! requirement 15 calculated based on a range of beta coefficients, ranging between 12 and 18 per cent,
apphied to the average gross income for the preceding three financial years for each of exght predefined business lines

Pillar 2

Pllar 2 defines the process of supervisory review of an inshiuten’s nsk management framework and, ulhmately, its
coprtal adequacy

The new CBB capital adequacy framework no longer apphes a flat minimum capital adequacy ratio requirement of 12
per cent as required under the previous Basel 1 framework

Under the CBB's Pillar 2 guidelines, each bank 1s o be individually assessed by the CBB and an indrvidual mirnemum
capital adequacy ratio 1s to be determined for each bank The CBB 1s currenfly undertaking the assessment exercises,
which will allow therr sethng of minmum capital rahos n excess of 8 per cent, based on the CBB's assessment of the
hinanciat strength and risk management prachces of the insttuhon  Currently, pending finalisahon of the assessment
process all banks incorporated 1n Bahrain are required to continue to mamntain a 12 per cent minimum capital adequacy
rato as under the previous Basel 1 framework

Pllar 2 comprises two processes

+  an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), and
= g supervisory review and evaluahon process

The ICAAP mcorporates a review and eveluation of risk management and capital relotive to the risks to which the bank
s exposed GIB 1s currently developing its ICAAP around ifs economic capital framewark which 15 designed to ensure
that the Group has sufficient copital resources available to meet regulatory ond internal capital requirements, even
during periods of economic or financial stress The ICAAP addresses all components of GIB's nsk management, from the
darly management of more matenal nsks o the strategic capital management of the Group

The supervisory review and evaluahon process represents the CBB's review of the Group's capital management and an
assessment of internal controls and corporate governance The supervisory review and evaluation process is designed
to ensure that mshtuhions identify their matenal risks and allacate adequate capital, and employ sufficient management
processes to support such nisks

The supervisory review ond evaluahon process also encourages instiutons to develop ond apply enhanced nsk
management techmgues for the measurement and monitoring of risks 1n addition to the eredit, market and operational
risks addressed in the core Pillar 1 framework Other risk types which ore not covered by the minimum capital
requirements n Pillar 1 include hquidity risk, inferest rate risk in the banking book, business risk and concentration nsk
These are covered either by capital, or nsk management and mihgation processes under Pillar 2

Pillar 3

In the CBB's Base! 2 framework, the third pillar prescribes how, when, and at what level informanion should be disclosed
about an inshiution’s risk management and capial adequacy practces

The disclosures comprise detailed qualitative and quanhiative informahon The purpose of the Pillar 3 disclosure
requirements 15 to complement the first two pillars and the associated supervisory review process The disclosures are
designed to enable stakeholders and market parhicipants to assess an inshifuhon’s risk appehte and nisk exposures and
to encourage afl banks, via markef pressures, to move toward more advanced forms of nsk management

Under the current regulafions, partal disclosure consishng manly of quanttative analysis is required duning half year
reporting, whereas fuller disclosure 15 required to concide with the finanaidl year end reporing

in this report, GIB disclosures are beyond the minimum regulatory requirements and provide disclosure of the risks to which
It 1s exposed, both on- and off-balance sheet The disclosures in this report are in addition to the disclosures set out in the
consolidated finanaicl statements presented in accordance with the Internahonal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

This sechon sets out the consolidahion principles and the capital base of GIB as calculated in eccordance with the Pillar
1 guidehines, and describes the prinaiples and policies applied in the management ond control of nsk and capital

Group siruciure

The Group's hnancial statements are prepared and published on a full consolidation basis, with all subsidianies being
consolidated in accordance with IFRS For capital adequacy purposes, all subsidiaries are included within the Gulf
International Bank B S C Group siructure However, the CBB's capital edequacy methodology accommodates both
normal and aggregation forms of conschdahon

Under the CBB copital adequacy framework, subsidianes reporting under a Basel 2 framework in other regulatory
junsdichons may, af the bank's discretion, be consolidated based on that junsdichen’s Basel 2 framework, rather
than based on the CBB's guidelines Under this aggregation consohdation methodology, the risk weighted assets of
subsidiaries are consohdated with those of the rest of the Group based on the guidelines of their respechve regulator to
determine the Group's total nisk weighted assets

GIB's principal subsidiary, GIBUK, 1s regulated by the Financial Services Authority (FSA) of the United Kingdom, and
has calcvlated its nisk weighted assets in accordance with the FSA's guidelines

The prinaipal subsidharses and basis of conschdation for capital adequacy purposes are as follows -

Gulf Internaheonal Bank {UK) Limited United Kingdom 100% Aggregation
GIB Financial Services ULC Saud: Arabia 100% Full Consolidation
GIBINVESTE C Bahrain 100% Full Consolidation

There are no investments in subsidiories that are treated as a deduchon From the Group's regulatory capital

Risk and capital manogement

GIB maintains a prudent ond disciplined approach to risk taking by upholding a comprehensive set of risk management
pelicies, processes and hmits, employing professionally quolifed people wath the appropriate skills, investng 1n
technology and training, and actively promohng a culture of sound risk management at all levels A key tenet of this
culture 15 the clear segregation of duties and reporting lines between personnel ransacting business and personnel
processing that business The Group’s nsk management 1s underpinned by sts ability to identlfy, measure, aggregate
and manage the different types of risk it faces

The Board of Directars has crected from among its members a Board Risk Policy Commiltee to review the Group's nsk
taking achvihies and report to the Board in this regard The Board has the ulhmate responsibility for setting the overalt
nsk parameters and tolerances within which the Group conducts ifs achwities, including responsibility for sething the
copital ratio targets The Board reviews the Group's averall nsk proﬁ’e and ﬂgnlﬁcanf risk exposures as well as the
Group's major nisk polictes, processes and controls

The Management Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), has the pnmary responsibility for sonctioning
nsk taking policies and actvities within the tolerances defined by the Board The Group Risk Committee assists the
Manogement Commuttee 1n performing its risk related funchons

The Group Risk Committee, under the chawrmanship of the Managing Director ~ Risk Management [MD RM} and
comprising the Group's most semor nisk professionals, provides o forum for the review and approval of new products,
risk measurement methodologies and risk control processes The Group Risk Committee also reviews all risk policies and
hmuts that require approval by the Management Committee The Assets and Liabilihes Committee {ALCQY), chaired by
the Chief Investment and Treasury Ofhcer {CI&TO), provides a forum for the review of asset and hu'odny activities within
GIB It co-ardinates the asset and lobility hunchons and serves as o link between the funding sources and usage in the
different business areas
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

2.  GROUP STRUCTURE AND GVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT {conhnued}
22 Risk and capital management {continued)

From o conrol perspechve, the process of risk management s facilitated through a set of independent functions, which
report directly to semor management These functions include Credit Risk Control, Market Risk Control, Operahonal
Risk Control, Finanaiat Control and Internal Audit This mulh-faceted approach aids the effechve monagement of sk by
identfying, measuring and momitoring nisks from a variety of perspectives

Internal Audit 1s responsible for carrying out o risk-based programme of work designed to provide assurance that assets
are being safeguarded This involves ensuring that controls are in pkice and working effectively in accordance with Group
policies and procedures as well as with laws and regulahons The work carned out by Infernad Audit includes providing
assurance on the effechiveness of the risk management funchons as well as that of controls operated by the business units
The Audit Commiltee approves the annual audit plan and lso receives regular reports of the results of audit work

The Group's policy 15 to maintain a strong capilal base so as to maintain nvester, creditor and market conhdence ond
o sustain the future development of the business The Group manages its copita structure and makes ad|ustments fo the
structure toking account of changes 1n economic condihons and strategic business plans The capital structure may be
adjusted through the dvidend payout, and the issue of new shares, subordinated term finance, and nnovative her 1
capital securihes

The Chief Financial Officer {CFO) 15 responsible for the strategic planning process incorporating capital planning
Capital planning mdludes capital adequacy reporiing, econamic caprtal and parameter eshmaton, 1@ probability
of dekault (PD) and loss given default {LGD} eskmates, used for the calculahon of economic capital The CFO 15 also
responsible for the balance sheet management framework

The governance structure for nsk and capital management is llusirated in the table below -

Audit Committee Board Risk Policy Commuttee

Management Commuttee Group fisk Committee Assets and Liabilihes Committee
{Chairman CEQ) (Chaurman MD RM) {Chairman. Cl & TO)

The nisk, liquidity and capital management responsibiliies are illusirated in the table below -

Chief Finanaial Officer Managing Director - Risk Management
(CFO) {MD RM)

2.3 Rusk types

The major risks associated with the Group's business achwities are credit, market, aperational and hquidity nsk These
risks fogether with a commentory on the way in which the nsks are managed and controlled are set out below, based
on the Basel 2 piflar n which the risks are addressed
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (confinued)

Risk i Pilar 1

Pilar 1, which forms the basis for the calculation of the regulatory copital requirement, addresses three speahe nisk
types credit, market and operahonal risk

Credit nsk

Credit nisk 1s the nisk that a customer, counterpoarty or an issuer of securihes or other hnanciel instruments fails to perform
under its contractual payment obligations thus cavsing the Group to suffer @ loss in terms of cash flow or market value
Credit nsk 15 the predominant nisk type faced by the Group in it banking, investment and treasury activihes, both on
ond off balance sheet Where appropnate, the Group seeks to minimise its credit exposure using a vortety of techniques
including, but not hmited to, the following -

*  entering neting agreements with counterparhes that permit the offsetting of recervables and payables
«  obtarmng collateral

*  seeking third party guorantees of the counterparty's obligations

* imposing restrichons and covenants on borrowers

Credit risk 1s achively managed and ngorously momtored in accordance wath well-defined credit policies and procedures
Prior to the approval of a credit proposal, a detailed credit nsk assessment 1s undertaken which includes an analysis of
the obllgor’s hnancial condion, morket posihion, business envircnment and quohly of management The risk assessment
generctes an inferncl credit nsk rating for each counterparty, which affects the credit approval decision and the terms
and condihons of the transaction For cross-border transachions, an analysis of country risk 1s also conducted The
credit decision for an mdmdual counterparty 15 based on the aggregate Group exposure to that counterparty and all
its related enthes Groupwide credit limit sething and approvel authorisation requirements are conducted wathin Board
approved guidelines, and the measurement, momitering and control of credit exposures are done on a Groupwide
basis in o consistent manner Overall exposures are evaluated to ensure broad diversification of credit nsk Potential
concentrahon nisks by product, industry, single obligor, credit risk rating ond geography are regularly assessed with
a view to improving overall portfolie diversification Established limits ond actual levels of exposure are regularly
reviewed by the MD RM, Chief Credit Officer and other members of senior management All credit exposures are
reviewed ot least once a year Credit pohicies and procedures are designed 1o 1denhfy, of an early stage, exposures
which require mare detailed monitoring and review The credit risk associated with Foreign exchange and denvative
instruments s assessed in ¢ manner similar to that ossociated with on-balance sheet activiies The Group uhiises
dervahve transachons for proprietary frading, to facilitate customer fransachons and for the management of interest
and foreign exchange nsks associated with the Group's longer-term lending, borrowing and investment activihes Unlike
on-balance sheet products, where the principal amount and interest generally represent the mesamum credit exposure,
the nohonal amount relating to a foreign exchange or denvative transaction typically exceeds the credit exposure by a
substanhal margin The meosure of credit exposure for foreign exchange and dervative insiruments 15 therefore more
appropnately considered to be the replocement cost at current market rates plus an add-on amount commensurate
with the position’s size, volatility ond remaining hfe Denvatve contracts may also carry legal nisk, the Group seeks to
mimmise these nisks by the use of standard contract agreements

Market nsk

Market risk 1s the risk of loss of value of a inancaial instrument or a portfolio of hnancial instruments as a result of adverse
changes 1n market prices and rates, and market condihons such as hquidity Market nisk anses from the Group's trading,
asset and habtlity management and invesiment achivities

The categonies of market risk to which the Group 15 exposed are as follows -

Interest rate nisk results from exposure to changes in the level, slope, curvature and volatity of interest rates and credit
spreads The credit sprecd nisk i1s the nisk that the interest yield for o security will Increase, with a reduchon in the secunity
pnce, relative to benchmark yietds as o result of the general market movements for that rating and class of security
interest rate risk 1s the principal market sk faced by the Group and anses from the Group's investment achivihies in debt
securihes, asset and hability management, and the trading of debt and off-balance sheet denvative instruments

Foreign exchange nsk results from exposure to changes in the price and volalihty of currency spot and forward rates
The principal foreign exchange risk anses from the Group's foreign exchange forward and denvahve trading actviies

Equity nisk arises from exposures to changes in the price and volahlity of individual equities or equity indices

2008 ANNUAL REPORT

87




88

2.
24

m)

25

Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT {continued)
Risk in Pillar 1 {conhnyed)
Marke? nsk (continued)

The Group seeks to manage the market risks it faces through diversiheation of exposures across dissimilar markets
and establishment of hedges in reloted secunhes or off-balance sheet denvative mstruments To manage the Group's
exposures, i addition fo the exercise of business udgment and management experience, the Group uhlises it
structures including those relating to positions, portfolios, maturihes and maximum allowable losses A key element in
the Group's market risk management framework 15 the estimation of potential future losses that may anse from adverse
markst movements The Group uhlises Value-at-Risk {VaR) to eshmate such losses The VaR 1s derived from quanhiative
models that use statstical and simulation methods that toke account of all market rates and prices that may cause o
change In a posifion’s value These include inferest rates, foreign exchange rates and equily prices, their respective
volatiities ond the correlahons between these variables The Group's VaR 1s caleulated on o Monte Carlo simulation basis
using histortcal volanlities and correlations to generate a profit and loss distrbution from several thousand scenarios

The ViR takes account of potentiol diversification benehts of different positions both within and across different portfolios
Consistent with general market prachice, VaR 1s computed for all financial mstruments for which there ore reachly
available daly prices or suitable proxies VaR 1s viewed as an effective nsk management toot and @ valuable addihon
to the non-sruhshcaﬂy based limi structure It permits a consistent and uniform measurement of market nsk across all
apphcable products and activies Exposures are monitored against a range of lmuts both by nisk category and portfolio
and are regularly reported to and reviewed by senior management and the Boord of Directors

An inherent limitation of VaR 1s that past market movements may not provide an accurate predichon of future market
losses Histornic analyses of market movements have shown that extreme market mavements {1 e beyond the 99 per
cent conhdence level] occur more frequently than VaR models predict Stress tests ore designed to estimate the potential
economic losses in such abnormal markets Therefore, siress testing combined wath VaR provides a more comprehensive
picture of market risk The Group regularly performs stress fests that are constructed around changes in market rotes
and prices resulting from pre-dehined market siress scenarios, including both fusterical and hypothetical market events
Historical scenarios indlude the 1997 Asian crisis, the 1998 Russian cnsis, the events of 9/11 and the 2007 US
subprime crisis In addihon, the Group performs siress testing based on internally developed hypothetical market stress
scenanos Siress lesting s performed for alf matenal market risk portfolios

Operahonal risk

Operahonal risk 1s the risk of loss ansing from nadequate or faled internat processes, pecple and systems or from
external events, whether intentional, unintenhonal or natural It 15 an inherent nsk faced by all businesses and cavers
a large number of operatonal nisk events including business interruption and systems fadures, internal and external
fraud, employment practices and workplace safety, customer and business prachices, transachon execution and process
management, and demage to physical assets

Whilst operational nisk cannot be eliminated in 1fs entirety, the Group endeavours to minimise the nisk by ensuring
that a strong control infrastructure 1s in place throughout the organisation The vartous procedures ond processes
used fo manage operahonal nsk include effectve staff iraiming, appropriate controls to safeguard assets and records,
regular reconciliation of accounts and transachons, close monitoring of risk limits, segregation of dutes, and financial
management and reporting In addition, other control strategres, ncluding business confinuity planning and nsurance,
are in place fo complement the control processes, as applicable

Risk in Pdlar 2

Other risk types are measured and assessed in Pillar 2 GIB measures and manages these risk fypes although they are
not included mn the calculation of the regulatory capital adequacy ratio Most of the Pllar 2 nisks are included in GIB's
calculation of mternal economic capital Pdlar 2 nsk types include hquidity nisk, interest rate risk in the banking book,
business nsk ond concentration risk
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (contmued)

Risk in Piflar 2 [continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity nisk 1s the sk that sufficient funds ore not available to meet the Group's Ainancial obligations on a punctual

basis as they fall due The risk anises from the iming differences between the matunty profles of the Group's assets and
habilities It includes the risk of losses arising from the following -

Forced sale of assets at below normal market prices
* Raising of deposits ar borrowing funds ot excessive rates
*  The investment of surplus funds at below market rates

Liguidity management policies are designed to ensure that funds are available at alf imes to meet the funding requirements
of the Group, even in adverse conditians In normal condihions, the abjective 1s to ensure that there are sufiicient funds
available not only to meet current financial commitments but also to facilitate business expansion These objectives are
met through the applicahion of prudent iquidity controls These contrels provide access to funds without undue exposure
to ncreased costs from the hiquidation of assets or the aggressive bidding for deposits

The Group’s hquidity controls ensure that, over the short term, the future profile of cash flows from maturing assets 1s
adequcl'ely matched to the maturity of habilihes biquidity controls also prowde for the maintenance of a stock of hquid
ond reudlly realisable assets and a diversihed deposit base in terms of both maturihes and range of depositors

The management of iquidity and funding 1s pnmeanly conducted 1n the Group’s indmiducel geographic entiies wathen
approved himits The hmits take account of the depth ond liquidity of the market in which the entity operates

It 1s the Group's general policy that each geographic entrty should be self-sufficient in relahon to funding its own
operahons

The Group's liquidity management policies include the following -

¢ the momtering of {1} future contractual cash flows aganst approved lumits, and (1) the level of hiqurd assets avallable
in the event of a stress event

+ the monitoring of balance sheet liquidity ratios

*» the monitoning of the sources of funding in order fo ensure thot funding 1s denved from o diversified range of sources

= the monitoring of depositor concentrahons 1n arder to avoid undue relience on indwidual depositors

« the maintenance of a sohsfactory level of term financing, and

+ the maintenance of hquidity and funding contingency plans These plans identfy early indicators of stress conditions
and prescribe the achons to be taken in the event of a systemic or other crisis, while mimimising adverse lang term
implications for the Group's business achvihes

Concentrahon risk

Concentraton risk is the nsk related to the degree of diversification in the credit porifolio, 1 e the nisk inherent in doing
business with large customers or not being equally exposed across industnies and regions

Cancentrahon nsk 15 captured in GIB's economic capitol framework through the use of a credit nsk portfohio model which
considers single-name concentrations in the credit portfolio Economic caprtal add-ons are applied where counterparty
exposures exceed specified thresholds

Potenhial concentration nisks by product, industry, single obligor, and geography are regularly assessed with a view to
improving overall portfoho diversificaton Established limits and actual levels of exposure are regularly reviewed by
semior management and the Board of Directors

Interest rate risk tn the banking book

Structural interest rate nisk anses in the Group’s core balance sheet as a result of mismatches in the repricing of interest
rate sensihve financial assets and liabilhes The assoaated interest rate nisk 1s managed within VaR linits and through
the use of models to evaluate the sensitmly of earnings to movements in interest rates
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3.1

GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT {continued}
Risk in Pdlar 2 {continued)
Business nsk

Business nisk represents the earnings volahlity inherent i all businesses due to the uncertainty of revenues and costs
associated with changes in the economic and competitive environment Business nsk 1s evaluated based on the observed
volatihty in historical profits and losses

Monitoning and reporting

The monstonng and reporting of risk 1s conducted on a daily basis for market and liquidity nisk, en o monthly or
quarterly basis for credit nsk, and on a quarterly basis for operational nsk

Risk reporhng 1s regularly made fo senior management and the Board of Directars The Board of Directors recetves
infernal nsk reporting cavering market, credit, operational and hquidity risks

Capital management, including regulatory and internal economic capital ratios, 1s reported to senior management and
the Board of Direciors on a monthly basis

REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE CAPITAL BASE
This sechon describes the Group's regulatory capitol requirements and capital base

The composition of the total regulatory capital requirement was as follows -

Regulatory capital requirements

. Credit nisk copital 925
. Market risk copitat 37
§ ’ Operatienat nsk capital KE:)

Total 100.0

Caprtal requirements for credit nsk

For regulatory reparting purposes, GIB caleulates the capital requirements for credit nsk based on the standardised
approach Under the standardised approach on- and off-balance sheet credit exposures are assigned to exposure
categonies based on the type of counterparty or underlying exposure The exposure categories are referred 1o n the
CBB's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework as standard portfclios The primary standord portfolios are claims on
soverergns, claims on barks and claims on corporates Following the assignment of exposures to the relevant standord
portfolios, the RWAs are derved based on prescnbed nsk weightings Under the standardised approach, the nisk
weightings are provided by the CBB and are determined based on the counterparty’s external crecit rahng The extencl
credit rahings are derved from eligible extemal rating agencies approved by the CBB GIB uses ratings assigned by
Standard & Poor’s, Moody's and Fifch
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3.3

REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE CAPITAL BASE icontinved)
Capital requirements for credit nsk {conhinued)

An overview of the exposures, RWAs and capital requirements for credit nisk analysed by standord portfolio 1s presented
in the table below -

Rated Unrated Total Average Copital

exposure  exposure  exposure nisk weight RWA requirement

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions per cent USS millions  USS millions

Sovereigns 58097 02 58099 2% 1059 127
PSEs - 97 @7 100% ¢7 12
Banks 7,624 1 3151 79392 30% 2,400 8 2881
Corporates 1,4689 11,0562 12,5251 93% 11,6488 1,397 9
Equities - 2093 2093 150% 3140 377
Past due loans - 10 10 100% 10 01
Other assets 63 2 176 7 2399 Q4% 224 5 269
Total 14,9659 11,768.2 26,7341 55% 14,7047 1,764 6

Exposures are skated after taking account of credit nisk mihgants where apphicable The treatment of credit nsk mihgation
15 explained in more detail in sechion 4 4{va1) of this report

The unrated exposure fo banks principally represented unrated subordinated loans to rated banks
The definitions of each standard portfolio and the related RWA requirements are set out in sechon 4 of this report

Capital requirements for market nisk
GIB uses a Value at-Risk [VaR} model to calculate the regulatory capital requirements relahing to general market risk

The VaR caleulated by the internal model 1s subject to a mulhphcahon factor determined by the CBB GIB’s multiplicahon
foctor has been set ai 375 by the CBB The mulhplicahon factor was ncreased by the CBB from the regulotory
minimum of 3 0 dunng 2008, based on the number of back testing excephons recorded in the financial yeor ended
315t December 2007 The trading-related expasures thot gave rise to the back testing excephions in 2007 were liquidated
in the three months ended 31t March 2008

Prescribed addihions in respect of specihc nsk are made fo the general market risk The resultant measure of market risk
15 mulhplied by 12 5, the reciprocal of the theoretical 8 per cent minimum capital ratic, to give market risk-weighted
exposure on o basis consistent with credit nsk-weighted exposure

The RWAs and capital requirements for market nisk are presented in the table below -

Capitat

RWA requirement

US$ millions Us5 millions

Equity risk 2273 273
Inferest rate risk 772 23
Foreign exchange risk 102 12
Total genercl market risk 3147 378
Total spectfic market nsk 2669 320
Totol 581 6 698

The equity general market sk principally related to alternahive investment funds managed by external managers

Coprtel requirements for operational risk

For regulatory reporting purposes, the capital requirement for operational nisk 1s calculated according to the basic
indicator approach Under this approuch, the Group's average gross income aver the preceding three hnancial years
1s mulphed by a fixed clpha coefficient The alpha coefhaient has been set at 15 per cent in the CBB's Basel 2 capital
adequacy fromewark

The capital requirement for operahonal nisk at 315t December 2008 amounted to US$72 9 millon
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REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE CAPITAL BASE {continued)
Capital base
The regulatory capital base 1s set out in the table below -

Tier 1 Tier 2 Total
UsS midlions  US$ milions USS millions

Share capital 2,5000 - 2,500 0
Share premium 76 . 76
Compulsory reserve 169 2 - 1692
Volunlary reserve 1067 - 1067
Retained earmings 798 1) - {798 1)
Unreclised gains on fair valuing AFS equity investments - 138 138
Collective impairment provisiens

{subject to 1 25% RWA limitahon) - 1987 1987
Subord:inated ferm debt - 5500 5500
Tier 1 end her 2 capital base 1,985 4 7625 2,747 9

Tier 1 capital 1s defined as capiial of the same or dlose to the character of paid up copital and comprises share capital,
share premium, retained earmings and eligible reserves Retained losses, including the losses for the current year, are
ncluded in her 1 following the external audit Elgible reserves excludes revaluation gains and losses ansing on the
remeasurement to fair value of avalable-for-sale securties and derwative cash flow hedging transachens with the
exception of unredlised gains and losses ansing on the remeasurement to fair value of equily securihes classified as
available-for-sale Unrealised gains on equity securities classified as available-for-sale are included wn tier 2 capital

Tier 2 capital compnses quohfylng subordinated term finance, collective impairment provisions and 45 per cent of
unreahsed gains anising on the remeasurement to fair volue of equity securies classified as avallable-for-sale

The subordinated term hnanaing faciiies, amounting to US$550 0 million, represent unsecured obligatons of the
Group and are subordinated in nght of payment to the dlaims of depositors and other credifors of the Group that are not
also subordinated The subordinated hnancing facihies have been approved for inclusion in her 2 capital for regulatory
capital adequacy purposes by the CBB

The CBB applies various himits to elements of the regulatory capitol base The amount of nnovative tier 1 secunhes
cannot exceed 15 per cent of total her 1 caprtal, qualifying her 2 capitel cannot exceed her 1 capital, and qualifing
subordinated term finance cannot exceed 50 per cent of her 1 capital There are olso resinchons on the amount of
collechve impairment provisions that may be included as part of ter 2 capital

In accordance with the CBE's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework, secunhsahon exposures that are rated below B8- o
that are unrated are to be deducted from regulatory capital rather than included in RWAs At 315t December 2008, the
Group had no exposure, net of speaific provisians, to secunhisations

There are no smpediments on the transfer of funds or regulatory capital within the Group other than restrichons aver
transkers to ensure minimum regulatory capital requirements are met for subsidiary companies
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CREDIT RISK — PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES

This section describes the Group’s exposure fo credit nsk and provides detailed disclosures on credit risk in accordance
wath the CBB's Bosel 2 framework in relahion to Pillar 3 disclosure requirements

Defimtion of exposure classes

GIB has a diversified on- and off-balance sheet credit portfolio, the exposures of which are divided into the counterparty
exposure closses defined by the CBB's Basel 2 capitat adequacy framework for the standordised approach for credit nisk
A high-level description of the counterparty exposure classes, referred to as standard portfolios in the CBB's Basel 2 capital
adequacy framework, and the generic treatments, 1 @ the sk weights to be used to derive the RWAs, are os follows -

Sovereigns Portfolio

The sovereigns porffolie comprises exposures to goveraments and their respechve central banks The risk weights are
0 per cent for exposures n the relevant domeshe currency, or in any currency for exposures to GCC governments
Foreign currency claims an other sovereigns are nsk weighted based on therr external credit ratings

Certain mulhlateral development banks as determined by the CBB may be included in the soveresgns portfolio and
treated as exposures with a O per cent nsk weighting

PSE Porifolio

Public sector entihies [PSEs} are risk weighted according to their external ratings with the exception of Bahrain PSEs,
and domeshc currency cdaims on other PSEs which are assigned o O per cent risk weight by their respective couniry
regulator, which are assigned a O per cent nisk weight

Banks Portfoho

Cleums on banks are nsk weighted based on their external credit ratings A preferential risk weight treatment 1s available
for quohfy’ung short term exposures Short ferm exposures are dehned as exposures with an orlgmcl tenor of three
months or less

The Banks porffollo alse indudes claims on investment ﬁrms, which are rnisk welghfed based on therr external credit
ratings although without any aption for preferential treatment for short term exposures

Corporates Portfolio

Claims on corporates are nisk weighted based on their external credit rahings A 100 per cent nisk werght 1s assigned fo
exposures to unrated corporates A preferential nisk weight treatment s available for certain corporates owned by the
Government of Bahrain, as defermined by the CBB, which are assigned o O per cent risk weight

Equities Portfolio

The equities portfolio comprises equily investments in the banking book, 1 the investment securihes portfalic The
credit (specific) nisk for equities in the trading book 1s included in market nsk RWAs for regulatory copital adequacy
calculahion purposes

A 100 per cent risk wenghr 15 ass:gned to listed equihes and funds Unlisted equihes and funds are risk welghfed at
150 per cent Investments in rated funds are nisk weighted according to the external credit rating Equity investmens in
secunihsahions are deducted from the regulatory capital base

In addition to the standard portfolios, other exposures are assigned to the following exposure classes -

Past due exposures

All past due loan exposures, irrespechve of the categorisahion of the exposure if it were performing, are dassified
separately under the past due exposures asset class A nsk weighting of erther 100 per cent or 150 per centis applied
depending on the level of provision maintained against the loan

Other assets and holdings of securthsatien tranches
Other assets are nsk weighted at 100 per cent

Securthsahion tranches are nsk weighted based on their external credit ratings Risk weighhings range from 20 per
cent to 350 per cent Exposures fo securihsaton tranches that are roted below BB- or are unrated are deducted from
regulatory capital rather than subject fo o nsk weight
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

4. CREDIT RISK - PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES {conhnued)
42 External roting ogencies

GIB uses rahngs 1ssued by Standard & Poors, Moody’s ond Fitch to derive the nisk weightings under the CBB's Basel
2 copital adequacy framework Where ratings vary between raiing agencies, the highest rating from the lowest two
ratings 1s used to represent the raling for regulatory capitel adequacy purposes

4.3 Credit risk presentation under Basel 2

The credit nisk exposures presented in much of this report differ from the credit sk exposures reported in the consohdated
finaneial statements Differences arise due to the applicaion of different methadologres, as ilustrated below -

e Under the CBB's Basel 2 framewaork, off-balance sheet exposures are canverted info credit exposure equivalents
by applying a credit conversion factor {CCF) The off-balance sheet exposure 15 mulhiphed by the relevant CCF
applicable to the off-balance shest exposure category Subsequently, the exposure 1s treated in accordance with the
standard portfolios referred to 1n section 4 1 of this report in the same manner as on-balance sheet exposures

o Credit nsk exposure reporting under Pillar 3 1s frequently reported by standard portfolies based on the type of
counterparty The financiol statement presentation 15 based on asset class rather than the relevant counterparty
For example, a loan to a bank would be classified in the Banks standard portfolio under the capital adequacy
framework although 1s classihed in loans and advances in the consolidated hinancial statements

o Certan ehigible collateral 1s applied to reduce exposure under the Basel 2 capital adequacy framework, whereas no
such collaterel nethng 15 applicable in the consohdated financial statements

e Based on the CBB's Basel 2 guidelines, cerfoin exposures are either included i, or deducted from, regulatory capitol
rather than treated as an asset as i the consolidated financial statements, e g unrated secunhsahion tranches

o Under the CBB's Basel 2 capita! adequacy framework, external rating agency rahings are based on the highest rating
from the lowest two ratings while for infernal credit risk management purpases the Group uses the lowest rating

A4 Credit exposure
1)  Gross credit exposure

The gross and average gross exposure o credit risk before applying collateral, guarantees, and other creditenhancements
was as Follows -

Gross credit Average gross
exposure credit exposure
_UsSmillens _USS mullions
Balance sheet items:
Cash and other liquid assets 3030 2223
Due from brokers - 105
Placements with banks 4,037 4 5,549 4
Due from shareholders 4,8320 132
Trading securihes 2071 4352
Investment securihes 22205 77146
Loans and advances 12,9721 13,0900
Other assets, excluding derivative-related items 2354 2656
Tota! on-balance sheet credit exposure 248075 273008
Off-balance sheet items-
Credit-related contingent tems 3,637 5 50565
Derivahve and foreign exchange instruments 199 3 1823
Total off-balance sheet credit exposure 38368 5,238 8
Total credit exposure 28,644 3 32,5396

The average gross credit exposure 15 based on daily averages during the year ended 315t December 2008

Other assets principally comprised accrued interest, fees and commissions
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CREDIT RISK - PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES {continued)
Credit exposure {continued)

The gross credit exposure for denvative and foreign exchange instruments 15 the replacement cost {current exposure]
representing the cost of replocing the contracts ot current market rates should the counterparty default prior o the
setflement date The gross credht exposure reporred in the table above does not include pofenhcﬂ future exposure Further
details on the counterparty credit nisk re|cmng to off-balance sheet exposures are set out in sechon 7 31) of this report

Credit exposure by geography
The clossification of credit exposures by geography, based on the locahon of the caunlerparty, was as follows -

Placements, due

from shareholders Off

and other liquid Loans and Other balance
assets Securihes  advances assets  sheet items Total
USS millions  USS millions  USS milkons USS mdliens US4 mullions  US$ mullions
GCC 5,6620 1,4123 12,2153 1324 3,059 1 22,481 3
Other MENA region - 394 3321 48 1727 5490
Europe 3,006 0 3632 3838 813 356 6 4,170 %
North America 317 6 577 6 22 343 246 6 1,178 3
Asia 186 8 351 387 24 18 264 8
Total exposure 9.172.4 2427 6 12,9721 2354 3,836.8 28,644 3

The MENA region comprises the Middle East and North Africa
Credit exposure by industry
The classibcation of credit exposures by industry was as follows -

Placements, due

from sharehalders Off

and ofher liquid Loans and Other balance
assels Secunhes  advances assets sheet items Total
__Us$milbions  USS milhons US$ millions USS midlions  US$ mullons US$ millions
Financial services 4251 4 1,316 6 2,2202 117 3 4580 8,363 5

Energy, ol and

petrochemical - 241 4 3,306 7 308 1,1455 4,724 4
Construchon - - 1,079 0 i 1,196 4 22865
Treding and services - 2,201 3 146 2056 24215
Manufacturing - 156 1,054 3 62 3187 1,3948
Government 49210 4103 4447 84 431 5827 5
Transportation - 273 9233 20 1729 13,1255
Real estate - - 8336 213 885 Q43 4
Communicahon - - 608 4 47 270 6401
Equity investments - 416 4 . - 76 4240
Other - - 3006 190 1735 493 1
Total exposure 9,172 4 24276 12,972.1 2354 38368 28,6443
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4,  CREDIT RISK ~ PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES (contmued)
4.4 Credit exposure (continued)
v}  Credit exposure by internal rating
The credit nsk profile based on internal credit ratings was as follows -
Placements, due
from shareholders oH
and other hquid Loans and Other balance
assets  Securthes  advances assets sheet stems Total
US$ milkons  US$ millions  USS muflions USS miflions  USS milbons  USS millions
Nerther past due nor impaired
Rating grades 1 to 4- 91724 1,946 8 93783 1891 29022 235888
Rahing grades 5+ to 5- - 295 3,124 6 395 7318 39254
Rating grades &+ to &- - 150 3548 50 1108 4856
Rating grode 7 199 67 18 08 292
Rating grede 8 - - . 836 836
Equity investments - -2 F S A - 2 L3967
Carrywng amount 91724 2,400 3 12,864 4 2354 3,8368 28,5093
Past due or individually imparred
Rating grade 8 - 262 - 262
Rahng grade 9 815 - - 815
Equity investments 27 3 - - - 27 3
Carrying amount - 27.3 1077 - - 1350
Totol 91724 2,427.6 12,9721 2354 3,836.8 28,6443
The analysis 1s presented prior to the application of any credit risk mihgation techniques, for example, the off-balance
sheet exposures relating to grade 8 counterparhes are fully cash collaterahsed
The Group's nternal rating system 1s commented on in more detail in sechon 8 1 of this report
v}  Credit exposure by maturity
The maturity profile of funded credit exposures based on contractual maturity dates was s follows -
Placements, due
from shareholders
and other bhquid Loans and Other
assets Secunihes advances assets Total
US$ millions  US$ milhons  US$ millions US$ miflions US$ millions
Within 3 months 21714 3185 3,272 4 2010 12,9633
4 months fo 1 year 10 2231 27553 344 3,0138
Years 2to 5 - 1,209 1 4,251 6 - 54607
Years 610 10 - 4115 1,924 2 - 2,3357
Years 11 to 20 106 5 7388 845 3
Crver 20 years and other - 158 9 298 - 1887
Total exposure 92,172.4 2,427.6 12,9721 2354 24,8075
An analysis of off-balance sheet exposure 15 set out in sechion 7 of this report
vi]  Equities held in the banking book

Equity investments included 1n investment secunties on the consolidated balance sheet ere included in the equities
standard portfolio i the Pillar 1 credit sk coprtal adequacy framework Such equity investments principally represent
investments of a private equity nature, comprising both direct investments and nvestments in funds managed by external
speaahist managers and nternational investment banks
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CREDIT RISK - PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES (continued)

Credit exposure (conhnued)
Equihes held in the banking book [continued)

At 315t December 2008, equity investments held in the banking book amaunted to U5$209 3 millien, of which US$99 6
million comprised managed funds Unlisted equites, which prinaipally represent private equity investments, are stated
at cost less provision for impairment There are no achve markets or other appropriate methods from which to denve
reliable fair values for these investments The Group infends ta exit these investments principally by means of IPOs or
private placements

Duning the year ended 31st December 2008, the total realised goins on equity investments amounted to US$26 2
milhon At 313t December 2008, unreclised gains on equity investments amounted to US$30 6 million 45 per cent of
the unrealised gains, or US$13 8 milhon, was included in her 2 capital i accordance wath the CBB's Basel 2 copital
adequacy fromework

Credit nisk mitigahon

The credit exposure information presented in sechion 4 of this report represents gross exposures prior fo the application
of any credit sk mihgahon techmques Collateral tems and guarantees which can be used for credit sk mitigation
under the capital adequacy framework are referred to as eligible collateral Only certan types of collateral and some
1ssuers of guarantees are eligible for preferential nsk weights for regulatory copital adequacy purposes  Furthermore,
the collateral management process and the terms in the collateral agreements have to fulfil the CBB's prescribed minimum
requirements {such as procedures for the monitoring of market values, insurance and legal certainty} set out in their
capital adequacy regulations

The reduction of the capital requirement atiributable to credit nsk mihgaton 1s colculated in different ways, depending
on the type of credit nsk mihgation, s follows -

«  Adjusted exposure amount GIB uses the comprehensive method for hnancial collateral such as cash, bonds and
stocks The exposure amount 15 adjusted with regard to the hnanaicl collateral The size of the adjustment depends
on the volatlity of the collateral and the exposure GIB uses volahlity adjustments specified by the CBB, known as
supervisory haircuts, to reduce the benehit of collateral and to increase the magnitude of the exposure

& Substituhion of counterparty The substituhon method 15 used for guarantees, whereby the rating of the counterparty 15
subshtuted with the rating of the guarantor This means that the credit risk in respect of the customer 1s substtuted by the
credit nisk of the guarantor and the capital requirement 15 thereby reduced Hence, @ fully guaranteed exposure will be
assigned the same capital ireatment as if the loan was inhally granted to the guorantor rather then to the customer

Descriphion of the main types of risk miigation

GIB uses a vaniety of risk miigahion techniques tn several different markets which contribute to nsk diversificahon and
credrt protechon The different credit nisk mihganion techniques such as collateral, guarantees, credit denvatives, nething
agreements and covenants are used to reduce credit nsk Al credit mihgation activities are not necessanly recognised for
capital adequacy purposes since they are not defined as eligible under the CBB's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework,
e g covenants and non-eligible tangible collateral such as unquoted equities

Exposures secured by eligible financial collateral, guarantees and eredit dervatives, presented by standard portfolio
were as follows -

Exposure Of which secured by
before credit nsk Ehgible Ehgible guarantees
mitigation collateral  or crednt dervatives
US$ millions  US$ mullions us$ mdhions
Sovereigns 5,809 ¢ - 4833
Barks 8,958 4 108 2 1,1747
Corporates 13,394 5 8611 770
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

CREDIT RISK - PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES (continued)
Credit nsk mihgahon {continued)
Guarantees and credit derrvatives

Only ehgible providers of guarantees and credit denvatives may be recogrused in the standardised approach for credit
nsk Guorantees issued by corporate entiies may only be taken into account if their rating corresponds to A- or better
The guaranteed exposures recewve the nisk weight of the guarantor

GIB uses credit derivahves as credit risk protechon only to a very limited extent as the credit portfolio 1s considered to
be well diversihed

Collateral and valuation principles

The amount and type of collateral 1s dependent upon the assessment of the credst risk of the counterparty The
market/fair value of the collateral 15 actively monttored on a regular basis and requesks are made for additional
collateral 1t accordance wth the terms of the underlying agreements In general, lending 15 based on the customer’s
repayment capactly and not the collateral value However, collateral 15 considered the secondary cltlernative 1f the
repayment capacity proves inadequate Collateral 1 not usually held against securihes or placements

Types of eigible collateral commonty accepted

The Group holds collateral agamst loans and advances in the form of physical assets, cash deposits, securihes and
guaraniees

imparred credit focliies and provisions for impairment

Indvidually impaired financial assets represent assets for which there 1s objective evidence that the Group will not
collect all amounts due, including both principal and interest, n accordance with the contractuol terms of the obligation
Objechve evidence that o financial asset 1s impaired may include a breach of contract, such as defoult or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the granting of o concession that, for econemic or legal reasons relahng to the
borrower's inanaicl difficulties, would not otherwise be considered, indications that it 15 probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other fnancial reorgamisation, the disappearance of an active market, or other cbservable
data relahng to o group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrawers or 1ssuers m the group,
or economic condions that correlate with defaults in the group For equity securihes dassified as available-for-sale, o
significant or prolonged decline in foir value befow cost 1s considered in defermining whether o security 1s imparred

Provisions for impoirment are defermined based on the difference between the net carrying amount and the recaverable
omount of & financral asset The recoverable amount 15 measured as the present value of expected future cash flows,
including amounts recoverable from guorantess and ecllaterol

Provisions for impairment are also measured and recogmised on a collechve basis in respect of impairments that exist at
the reporting date but which will enly be mdvidually dentified in the fulure Future cash flows for financicl assets that
are collechvely assessed for impairment are eshimated based on contractual cash flows and historical loss experiences
for assets with similar credit risk charactenstics Historical loss experience 1s adjusted, based on current observable
data, to reflect the effects of current condilions that did net affect the perod on which the historical loss experience
s based Provisions for impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income and are reflected 1n an
allowance account aganst loans and advances and investment securihes

Impaired loan facilihes and related provisions for impairment

Impaired loan facilihes and the related provisions for impairment were as follows -

Gross Impatrment Net

exposure provisions exposure

USS millions USS millions  US$ millons

Corperates 164 9 844 BOS
Financial instivhons 370 98 27 2
Total 201 9 94 2 1077

The impaired loan facilihes were to counterparhes n the GCC
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CREDIT RISK — PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES (continued}
Impaired credit facilthes and provisions for impairment (continued)

Pravisions for impairment — loans and advances
The movements in the provisions for the impairment of foans and advances were os follows -

Specific provisions

Financiol Collechve Total

Corporates  inshtutions Total provisions provisions

USS millions  USS mdlions  USS millions  US$ millions  US$ mullions

At 1%t January 2008 78 26 104 650 754
Amounts uhhsed {29) - (29) - (29
Charge for the year 795 72 867 1150 2017
At 315t December 2008 84.4 98 942 180.0 274.2

The increase in collective loan provisions during the year ended 315t December 2008 reflected increases in the expected
probabilihes of default used in the caleulation of provisions for impairment measured on a collective basis Higher
probabilities of default are anticipated to result from the impact of the global recession on the regronal economic
environment The probabilines of defoult applied in the calculahon of the collechve provisions of impairment at
318t December 2008 equated to o speculahve-grade mean default rate of 13 9 per cent, exceeding the previous
historical high corporate defoult levels witnessed in July 1991

Impaired investment secunies and related provisions for imparment

Impaired investment securihes and related provisions for impairment were as follows -

Gross Impairment Net
exposure provisions exposure
US$ millons USS$ mullions US$ mdiions
Structured investment vehicles {SIVs) 564 5 564 5 -
Equity investments 958 é8 5 273
Residenhol mortgage-backed CDOs 25 95 -
Total 6698 6425 273

Total specific impairment provisions of US$642 5 million represented 95 9 per cent of the gross impaired investmen
secunthes exposure

Provisions for impatrment — investment securities

The movements i the provisions for the smpatrment of investment securihes were as follows -

Speafic provisions
Financial Collective Total
5lVs  Equities CDOs inshiuhons Total provisions provisions
U$$ milhens USS millions USS mulions  USS milhons US$ milliens  USS miflions  US$ milhons

At 13t January 2008 5000 241 206 9 20 7330 2520 9850
Exchange rate movements (2 4) {0 4} (2 4) {3 6) (8 8) 88 -
Amounts utlised {150) {164) (4255) (116 7) {573 6} - {573 6)
Charge/Irelease) for the year 819 612 2305 1183 491 9 {126 8) 3651
At 315! December 2008 564.5 685 ?5 - 6425 1340 776.5
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 'Report (continued)

CREDIT RISK — PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES {conknued)
Past due facilthes

In oecordance with guidelnes 1ssued by the CBB, credit facilines are placed on non-aecrual status and interest income
suspended when either principal or inferest 1s averdue by 90 days whereupon unpaid and accrued inferest is reversed
from income Interest on non-accrual facilihes 15 included 1n income onfy when received Credit facilihes classihed as
past due are assessed for impairment in accordonce with the IFRS guidelines as set out in sechon 4 5 of this report A
specific provision 1s established only where there 1s objective evidence that a credit facility 1s impaired

Loans

The gross and net book values of loans for which either principal or inferest was over 90 days past due were as
follows -

Carrying
Gross amount
__UsS millions US$ millions
Corporates 40 -
Financial inshtutians 20 10
Total 60 10
The post due loans were to counterparties in the GCC
The overdue status of past due loans based on original contractual matunibies wos as follows -
Less than 2103 Over 3
1 year years years Total
USS$ mdlions  USS milliens  US$ millions  US3 midlions
Corporates - 40 - 40
Financial inshiuhions e i 20 20
Total - 40 20 60

Investment secunties

The gross and net book values of debt secunities for which either pnncipal or interest was over 90 days past due were
as follows -

Carrying
Gross amount
US$ mdlions UsS milhens
Residenhal morigege-backed CDOs 95
Total e5 -

The past due debt secunhes were past due n relahion to interest only and had not yet reached their contractual matunty
dates

Restructured loan facilihes
There were no restructured loan faciihes dunng the year ended 315t December 2008
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MARKET RISK — PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES

Market nisk

Market risk 1s the risk of loss due to adverse changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rafes, equity prices and market
condihons, such as hiquidity The principal market nisks fo which the Group 1s exposed are inferest rate nisk, foreign
exchange risk and equity price nisk associated with s trading, nvestment ond osset and |1c1b|||ty management achvihes
The portfolio effects of holding a diversified range of instruments across a variely of businesses and geographic areas
contnbute to a reduction in the potenhal negative impact on earnings from market risk factors

The Group's trading actvities principally comprise trading in debt and equily securities, fore:gn exchange and dervative
financial instruments Dernvahve financial instruments include futures, forwards, swaps ond ophons in the interest rate,
foreign exchange, equity and credit markets The Group manages and controls the market risk wathin 1ts trading
portfolios through limit structures of both a VeR and non-VaR nature Non-VaR based constraints relate, inter dlia, to
positions, volumes, concentrahons, allowable losses and maturihies

VaR model

A key element in the Group’s market risk management framework 15 the estmahion of potenhal future losses that may
anise from adverse market movements Exposure to general market nisk 15 calculated uhlising o VoR model The use of
the internal model appreach for the calculation of the capital requirement for genera! market nsk has been approved
by the CBB The multiplicahion factor to be applied to the Value-at-Risk calculated by the internal model has been set at
3 75 by the CBB The mulhplicaton factor was ncreased by the CBB from the regulatory minimum of 3 0 during 2008,
based on the number of back teshng exceptions recorded in the financial yeor ended 315t December 2007 The krading-
related exposures that gave nse to the back teshng excephions in 2007 were liquidated in the three months ended
31st March 2008

An inherent limitation of VaR 1s that past market movements may not provide an accurate predichon of future market
losses Historic analyses of market movements have shown that extreme market movements {1 e beyond the 99 per
cent confidence level) occur more frequently than VaR models predict Stress tests are designed to eshmate the potential
economic losses in such abnormal markets Therefore, stress testing combined with VaR provides a more comprehensive
picture of market risk The Group regulary performs siress tests that are constructed eround changes in market rates
and prices resulting from pre-defined markef siress scenarios, induding both historical and hypothehcal market events
Historical scenanos include the 1997 Asian cnisis, the 1998 Russian crisis, the events of 9/11 and the 2007 US
subprime ensts In addihion, the Group performs stress festing bosed on mternally developed hypothetical market stress
scenanos Stress teshing 15 performed for all matenaol market risk porifolios

A major objective of asset and liabilty management 15 the maximisahion of net interest income through the proactive
management of the asset and hability repricing profile based on anherpated movements in interest rates VaR-based
hrits are utibised to control fluctuations in interest earnings resulting from changes in interest rates The asset ond habiity
repnicing profile of the various asset and liability categories are set out In sechion 8 of this repert

For mternal risk management purposes, the Group measures losses that are anhcipated to occur within @ 95 per cent
conhdence level Internally, the Group measures VaR utihising @ one month assumed holding period for both trading
and banking bock positons For regulatery capital adequacy purposes, the figures are calculated using the regulatory
VaR hasis at a 99 per cent conhdence level [2 33 standard deviahions) and o ten-day holding period using one-
year unwerghted historical datly movements in market rates and prices Correlations across broad nsk categones are
excluded for regulatory capital adequacy purposes

The VaR by risk class for the Group's frading pesihons as caleulated in accordance with the regulatory parameters set
out above, was as follows -

31.1208 Average High Low

USS mullions  US% milhons  US$ milions ~ US$ millions

Equity nsk 38 58 76 38

Interest rate risk 14 16 26 11
Foreign exchange risk . 02 09 -

Total diversified risk 4.4 71 97 4.6

The equity market nisk principally related to alternative investment funds managed by external managers
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

. MARKET RISK - PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES (conhinued]
5.2 VaR model {conhnued)

The Group conducts daily VaR back testing both for regulatory comphance purposes and for the internal evaluation
of VaR against actual trading profits and losses Duning the year ended 315! December 2008, the dadly trading loss
exceeded the rading VoR at the close of business en the previous business day on only three occasions

The graph below sets out the total VaR for alt the Group's troding actvities at the close of each business day throughout
the year ended 315t December 2008 -

Trading Value-at-Risk daily development

Us$ millions

Jon  Feb March Aprl May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

The dally trading profits and losses duning the year ended 315t December 2008 are summansed as follows -

Histogram of daily trading profits & losses

Frequency {days}

Dailly profits / (losses)
Us 50007

l(}‘) GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK




71

MARKET RISK — PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES (contnued)

Sensitrvity analysis

The sensitvity of the interest rate nisk m the banking book te changes in interest rates 15 set out in sechon 8 2{m) of this
report

The Group s also exposed to the impact of changes in credit spreads on the fair value of available-for-sale debt
secunies Credit spread risk 1s managed within VaR Limits and through the use of models fo evaluote the sensitivity of
changes in equity to movements in credht spreads Based on the availoble-for-sale debt securihes held at 315t December
2008, a one basis point increase in credit spreads would result n a US$0 6 mullion decrease in fair value

OPERATIONAL RISK - PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES
Operatonal risk

Whilst operational nsk cannot be eliminated in s enhrety, the Group endeavours to mimmise 1t by ensuring that
a strong control infrastructure 1s in piuce Ihroughout the organisahon The vanous procedures and processes used
to manage operchonal nsk include effective staff fraining, oppropriate controls to sofequard assets and records,
regular reconailighon of accounts and Iransactions, close monitoring of risk limits, segregation of duties, and financial
management and reporting In additon, other control strategies, including business continuity planning and insurance,
are in place to complement the procedures, as applicable

As part of the Group’s Operational Risk Management Framewark {ORMF), comprehensive risk self-assessments are
conducted, which identify the operational risks inherent in the Group’s activihies, pracesses and systems The controls in
place to mitigate these risks are also reviewed, and enhanced as necessary A dotabase of measurable operational risk
events 1s being developed and maintained, together with a record of key risk indicaters, which can provide on early
warning of possible operational nisk

The copital requirement for operational nsk 15 caleulated for regulatory purposes according fo the basic ndicator
approach, in which tha Group’s average gross income for the preceding three hinancial years 1s mulkphed by an alpha
coefficient of 15 per cent as prescnbed by the CBB

The operational nisk capital requirement s based on gross income from the preceding three inancial years Consequently,
the operational risk capital requirement 1s updated only on an annual basis

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE AND SECURITISATIONS

Off-balance sheet exposures are divided into two exposure types in accordance with the calculahon of credit nsk Rwias
in the CBB's Base! 2 capital adequacy framework -

o  Credit-related contngent items Credit-related confingent ilems comprnise guarantees, credit commitments and
unutlised approved credit facilities

¢ Derivahve and forelgn exchange instruments  Dervative and fore:gn exchclnge instruments are contracts, the value
of which 15 derved from one or more underying financial instruments or indices, and include futures, forwards,
swaps and ophions in the inferest rate, foreign exchange, equity and credit markets

In addition to counterparty credit nsk measured within the Basel 2 credit nisk framework, derivatives also incorporate
exposure to market nisk and carry @ potential market risk capital requirement, as commented on in more detail in sechon
5 of this report

For the two off-balance exposure types, there are different possible values for the calculahon base of the regulatory
capital requirement, as commented on below -

Credit-related contimgent items

Far credit-related contingent items, the nomina! value 1s converted to an exposure at default {EAD} through the applicahion
of a credit conversion factor (CCF) The CCF foctor 15 50 per cent or 100 per cent depending on the fype of contingent
ifem, and 15 intended to convert off-balance sheet notional amounts into an equivalent on-balance sheet exposure
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

7  OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE AND SECURITISATIONS [conhnued)
7.1 Credit-related contingent tems [conhnued)

Credit commitments and unutlised approved eredit facilities represent commetments that have not been drawndown
or uthsed at the reporting date The nominal amount provides the caleulation base to which a CCF 15 apphed for
coleulating the EAD The CCF ranges between O per cent and 100 per cent depending on the approach, product type
and whether the unutihsed amounts are unconditionally cancellable or irrevocable

The toble below summarises the nohonal principol amounts, RWAs and capital requirements for each credit-related

conhngent category -
Notional
principal Capital
amount RWA  requirement
US$ millions  USS millions  USS millions
Direct credit subshtutes 3346 283 6 340
Transachon-related contingent 1lems 1,147 2 4400 528
Shaort-term sell-iquidating trade-related contingent items 546 4 89 ¢ 108
Commitments, including undrawn loan commitments and
underwriting commitments under note 1ssuance and
revolving facilihies 1,609 3 7828 939
Total 3,637 5 1,596 3 1915

Commitments may be drawndown on demand

The notional principal amounts reported above are stated gross before applymg credit risk mitigants, such as cash
collateral, guarantees and counter-indemnihes At 318t December 2008, the Group held cash collateral, guarantees,
counter-indemnities or other high quality collateral in relation to credit-related contingent items amounting to
US$433 8 million

7.2 Denvohve and foreign exchange instruments

The Group utihses dervative and foreign exchange instruments to meet the needs of ils customers, fo generate trading
revenues and as part of its asset and lability management achvity to hedge its own exposure to market risk Dervahves
and foreign exchange are subject to the same types of credit and market risk as other financial instruments The Group
has appropnate and comprehensive Board-approved policies and procedures for the control of exposure to both
market and credit nsk from its denvative and foreign exchange achvities

In the case of denvatve transactions, the nohonal prinaipal typically does not change hands It is simply a quantity
which 1s used to caleulate payments While nohonal principal 1s a volume measure used in the dervahive and foreign
exchange markets, it 1s nerther @ measure of market nor eredit sk The Group's measure of credit exposure 1s the cost
of replacing contracts at current market rates should the counterparty default prior to the setflement date Credit nsk
amounts represent the gross unrealised gains on non-margined transachions before taking account of any collateral held
or any master nethng agreements in place

The Group parhcipates in both exchange traded and over-the-counter {OTC) derwatve markets Exchange traded
instruments cre executed through a recogmised exchange as standardised contracts and primarily compnise futures and
options OTC contracts are executed between two counterparhies who negohate specihic agresment terms, including
the underlying instrument, notonal amount, maturity and, where appropriate, exercise price In general, the terms and
condihions of these transachons are talored to the requirements of the Group's customers although conform to normal
markel prachce Industry standard documentation s used, most commonly in the form of a master agreement The existence
of o master nethng agreement 15 mtended to provide protection to the Group in the event of a counterparty defoult

The Group’s derwative and foreign exchange activies are predominantly shori-term in nature Transachions with
maturihes over one year principally represent erther fully offset trading transachons or transachions that are designated,
and qualify, as fair value and cash flow hedges

The aggregate nohonal amounts for denvative and foreign exchange instruments at 31 st December 2008 are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated inancial statements
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE AND SECURITISATIONS (continued)

Counterparty crecht nsk

Counterparty credit nisk 1s the nisk that o counterparty to a cantract in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity and
credit markets defoults prior 1o the maturity of the contract The counterparty credit nsk for derivatve and foreign
exchange instruments 15 subjedt to credit hmits on the same basis os other credit exposures Counterparty credit nsk
anses in both the trading book and the banking book

Counterparty credit nsk caleulahon

For regulatory capital adequacy purposes, GIB uses the current exposure method to calculate the exposure for
counterparly crecht risk for derrvative and forergn exchange instruments (n accordance with the credit nisk framework
in the CBB's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework Credit exposure comprises the sum of current exposure (replacement
cost) ond potential future exposure The potenhial future exposure 1s an eshmate, which reflects possible changes m
the market value of the mdmdual contract dunng the remaming hie of the contract, and s measured as the nohonal
principal amount mulhphed by a nsk weight The size of the nsk weight depends on the risk categonsahon of the
contract and the contract’s remanning ife Netting of potential fulure exposures on contracts within the same legally
enforceable netiing agreement is done as @ funchon of the gross potenhal future exposure

The EAD, RWAs and capital requirements for the counterparty credit risk of derivative and foreign exchange instruments
analysed by standard portfolio, 1s presented in the table below -

Exposure at Default (EAD}
Current Future Total Capital
exposure  exposute  exposure RWA  requirement
US$ millions USS millions USS millions  USS millions  US$ milhions
Banks 1027 379 140 6 216 26
Corporates 96 6 12 978 3 11
Total 199.3 39.1 238 4 309 37

Mihgation of counterparty risk exposure

Risk mitigation techmques are widely used to reduce exposure fo single counterparhes The most common nisk miigation
technique for denvahive and foreign exchange-related exposure 1s the use of master nethng agreements, which allow
the Group to net posihve and negative replacement values of contracts under the agreement in the event of default of
the counterparty

The reduction of counterparty credit nisk expasure for derivative and foreign exchange instruments through the use of
nisk mitigahon techniques 1s demonstrated as follows -

Current Effect of netting Netted current

expasure agreements exposure

USS$ millions US$ millions US$ mithons

Counterparty credit risk exposure 1993 (39 3) 1600

Securihsahons

Securihsations are defined as structures where the cosh flow from an underlying pool of exposures 1s used to secure at
least two different siratified sk positions or tranches reflecting different degrees of credit nsk Payments to the investors
depend upon the performance of the underlying exposures, as opposed to being derived from an obligahon of the enhity
onginahng thase exposures

At 315t December 2008, the Group had no exposure, net of speaﬁc provisions, to securihsahon tranches

The Group prowides collateral management services to five collateralised debt cbligatons (CDOs) issued between 2002
and 2006 The CDOs are intended to extract relative value from o wide range of asset classes across a broad spectrum
of credit rahings The underlying collateral of the CDXOs includes leveraged foans, residential and commereial real estate,
consumer finance, lending o small and medium sized enterprises, and other recervables In order to ensure granulanty,
each CDO helds between 80 and 140 individual investments providing dwersificahon by size, osset dass, industry,
geography, credit raing and date of 1ssue
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g1

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE AND SECURITISATIONS {conhnued)
Securitisations {conhnued)

At 315! December 2008 the underlying investments in the CDOs for which the Group acted as collateral manager
amounted fo US$1 8 bilion At 315t December 2008, GIB did not hold any exposure to CDOs managed by the
Group

The Fitch rohng agency reaffirmed the Group's CDO asset manoger rahing of CAM 2- 1n May 2008

INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES

GIB manages and measures other risk types that are not included under Pilar 1 1n the CBB's Basel 2 framework These
are prinaipally covered in the Group's infernal economic capital model

This sechon describes GIB's economuc copital model and discusses the treatment of the other nsk types thet are not
addressed in Pillar 1 of the CBB's Base! 2 framework
Economic capital model

For many years, GIB has applied economic capital and risk-adjusted rehsrn on capital {(RAROC) methodclogres which
are used for both decision making purposes and performance reporfing and evaluation

GIB caleulates econonvic caprtal for the following major risk types credit, morket and operating sk Operating risk
includes business nsk Additionally, the economic cepital model exphertly incorporates concentration nisk, interest rate
nisk in the banking book and business risk

The composition of economic capital by nisk type and business unit was as follows -

- Cradit nisk capvol 46 - Treasury 54
. Market risk copital 47 - Marchant Banking 43
@;‘ﬁ Operating nisk capital 7 ¥ Financral Markets 3

Total 100 Total 100

The prmary differences between economic capital and regulatory capital under the CBB's Basel 2 framework are
summansed as follows -

o In the economic capital methodelagy, the confidence level for oll risk types 1s set at 99 88 per cent, compared to
99 O per cent in the CBB's Basel 2 fromework

o Credit nsk 1s caleulated using GIR's eshmates of probability of default, loss given default and exposures of default,
rather than the regulatory values in the standardhsed approach

o The economic capital model uthises GIB's embedded internal rating system, as described in more detall later in this
section of the report, fo rate counterparhes rather than using the ratings of credit rating agencies o the appheation
of & 100 per cent nsk weighting for unrated counterparhes
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INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES (continued)

Economc capital model [continued)

» Conceniration risk 15 captured in the economic c0p|r0| model through the use of an internal credit risk portfolio
model and add-on factors where applicable

¢ The economic capital model applies a capital charge for interest rate sk in the banking bank

»  The economic capital model apphes a business nsk capital charge where applicable

Internal rahing system

The economic capital model 15 based on an internal credit rating system The internal credit raking system 15 used
throughout the organisation and 15 inherent in all business decisions relating to the extension of credit A rahng 1s an
eshmate that exclusively reflects the quantification of the repayment capacity of the customer, 1 e the nisk of customer

default

The Group monitors, manages and controls credit nisk exposures based on an internal credit rahng system that rates
indmidual obligors based on a rafing scale from 1 1o 10, subject to positive (+) and negative {-] modihers for rating
grades 2 to & The internal credit rahing 15 @ measure of the credit-worthiness of o single obligor, based on an assessment
of the credit nsk relating to senior unsecured, medium term, foreign currency credit exposure The pnmory objechves of
the internal credit rahing system are the maintenance of a single uniform standard for credit quality measurement, and to
serve as the pnmary basis for Board-approved nsk parometers and delegated credit authonty imuits The internal credit
rahing system also serves as a key input into the Group’s RAROC performance measurement system Rahngs are assigned
to abligors, rather than faciliies, and reflect o medium term time honizon, thereby roting through an economic cyde

The intemal ratings map directly to the rating grodes used by the infemational credit rahing agencies as dlustrated
below -

Historical default Fitch and

Internal rate range  Standard &
Internal rating grade classification per cent Poor's  Moody’s
Investment grade
Rahng grade 1 Standard 000-000 AAA Aaga
Rahng grade 2 Standard 000-002 AA Aa
Rating grade 3 Standard 005-007 A A
Rating grade 4 Standard 015-031 BBB Bao
Sub-investment grade
Rating grade 5 Standard 052-144 BB Ba
Rating grade 6 Standard 253-906 B B
Rating grade 7 Standard 2559 ccc Coa
Classified
Rating grade 8 Substandard 2559 cc Ca
Rating grade 9 Doubthul 2559 C C
Rating grade 10 Loss - D -

The external rating mapping does not intend to reflect that there 1s a fixed relatonship between GIB's internal rating
grades and those of the external agencies since the rahing approaches differ

The historical default rates represent the range of probability of defaulis [PDs) between the posiive and negative
modifiers for each rating grade based on Standard & Poor's one year default rates for the 27 years from 1981 to 2007
for semor unsecured obhgchons The default rates represent the averages over the 27 yeor penod and therefore reflect
the full range of economic condibions prevailing over that period
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8.  INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES {continued)
82 Other nsk types
i} Liguidiy risk

The Group has established approved limits which restrict the volume of liabilibes maturing in the shortterm An independent
nsk management funcon monifors the future cash flow maturity profile against approved himits on a dardy bass The cash
flows are moniored against imits applying to both daly and cumulatve cash flows occurnng over a 14 day peniod The
cash flow analysis 1s also monitared on a weekly basis by the Assets and Liabiliies Committee (ALCO)

Customer deposits form o significant part of the Group's funding The Group places considerable importance on
mantaining the stability of both its customer and interbank deposits The stability of deposits depends on maintaining
confidence in the Group’s inanaial strength and financial transporency

The funding base 1s enhanced through term hinancing, amounting to US$2,431 5 million ot 315t December 2008
Access to avallable byt uncommitted shortterm funding from the Group's established breadth of Middle East and
internahiona! relahianships provides addihonal comfort In addition to the stable funding base, the Group maintains o
stock of liqud and marketable securihes that can be readily sold or repoed

At 315t December 2008, 64 4 per cent of tofal assets were confracted to mature within one year With regard to
deposits, refention records demonsirate that there 1s considerable divergence bstween therr contractual and effective
maturihies By way of example, average deposits in the year ended 31t December 2008 from those counterparhes with
deposits over US$10 million at 315 December 2008 amounted to U5$13,081 2 million This represented 71 7 per cent
of tota! deposts at the year end

US$12,223 4 million or 66 4 per cent of the Group’s deposits at 315t December 2008 were from GCC counines, and
a Further US$4,213 9 mullion or 22 9 per cent were from other Middle East and North African countries Total deposits
from counterparties in Middle East and North African counirtes therefore represented 89 3 per cent of total deposits
at 315t December 2008 Historical experience has shown that GIB's deposits from counterpariies in the Middle East
region are more stable than deposits derived from the internahonal interbank market, which at 315t December 2008
were only US$1,957 7 million, or 10 7 per cent of the Group's deposit base At 31st December 2008 placements with
counterparties i non-MENA couniries were 1 8 tmes the deposits recerved, demonsirating that the Group 15 @ net
lender of funds in the infernational inferbank market

il Concentrahon risk

Concentration risk 1s the credit nsk stemming from not having o well diversified credit portfolio, 1 e the nisk inherent in
doing business with large customers or being overexposed in particulor indusiries or geographic regions GIB's internal
sconomic caprtal methodology for credit nsk addresses concentration nisk through the application of a single-name
concentraton add-on

Under the CBB's single obligor regulahons, banks incorporated in Bohrain are required to obtain the CBB's approval
for any planned exposure to a single counterparty, oF group of connected counterparties, exceeding 15 per cent of the
regulatory caprial base At 315t December 2008, the following single obligor exposures exceeded 15 per cent of the
Group's regulatory capital base (1 e exceeded US$412 2 million} -

On-balance Off-balance Total
sheet exposure sheet exposure exposure
US$ millons USs§ millions  USS$ mullions
Counterparty A 718 4 1525 8709

This exposure had been approved by the CBB i accordance with the CBB's single obligor regulahons Under the CBB's
regulations single obligors include entiies in which there 1s an ownership inferest of 20 per cent or more This s a
sigmificantly lower threshold than that used to determine control under IFRS

il  Interest rate nsk in the banking book

Structural interest rate risk anises in the Group's core balance sheet as a result of mismatches in the repricing of interest
rate sensihive financial assets and liabilties The associated interest rate risk 1s managed within VaR limits and through
the use of models to evaluate the sensivity of earnings fo movements in inferest rates
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INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES (conhnued)

Other risk types (continued)

Interest rate nsk in the banking book {continued)

The Group does not maintain material foreign currency exposures or equity exposures in the banking book Equites

held in the banking book are commented 1n more detail in section 4 4{wi) of this report

In general, the Group's policy 1s to match hnancial assets and liabilities in the some currency or to mitigate currency risk

through the use of currency swaps

The repricing profile of the Group's finonaal assets and habilities are set out in the table below -

Cash and other hquid assets
Placements with banks
Due from shareholders
Trading securihes
Investment securihes -

- Fixed rate

- Floating rate

- Equites and equity funds
Loans and advances
Other assets

Total assets

Deposits
Securrhes sold under
agreements fo repurchase

Other liabilihes

Term finaneing

Equity

Tota! hiabilihes & equity
Interest rate sensihvity gap

Cumulative interest rate
sensihvily gap

Non-interest
Withm  Months Months Over beaning

3 months 4106 7012 ¥ year items Total
US$ milfions US$ millions  USS milhions US$ mdhons US$ mdlions US$ mihons
3020 10 - - . 3030
3,662 4 750 - 3000 4,037 4
48320 - - - 48320
- - - 2071 2071
200 134 135 1545 201 4
1,7845 1593 - - {1340) 1,8098
- - - - 2093 2093
10,6103 2,371 2 144 6 260 (1800) 12,9721
- - - - 441 4 461 4
21,2112 26199 158 % 4805 5638 250335
17,3010 927 1 1532 137 18,3950
1,0280 216 8 - 1,244 8
N . 486 7 4867
2,951 5 300 - 2,981 5
. . - 19255 19255
21,2805 1,1739 153 2 137 2,4122 250335

(69.3) 1,446.0 49 4668 (1,848 4) .

693 13767 1,381 6 18484 -

The repricing profile 15 based on the remaining period to the next interest repricing date and the balance sheet

categories in the consolidoted hnancial statements

The repnicing profle of placements incorporates the effect of interest rate swaps used to lock-in o return on the Group's
netfree capital funds Derivatve financial instruments that have been used for asset and hiobility mencgement purposes
to hedge exposure to wnterest rate risk are incorparated 1n the repricing profiles of the related hedged assets and
lrabihhes The non-specific investment security and loan prowistons are dassified in non-interest bearing items

The substanhal majonly of assets and habilihes reprice within one year

interest rate exposure beyond one year amounted to only US$480 5 milion or 1 2 per cent of fotal assets This exposure
represented the investment of the net free capria! funds in hixed rate government secunhies and hixed recerve interest rale
swaps At 315t December 2008 the modihed duration of these fixed rate government secunties and interest rate swaps
was 3 03 Modihed duration represents the approximate percentage change in the portfolio value resulting from a 100
basts point change in yield More precisely in dollar terms, the price value of a basis point of the fixed rate secunhes
ond inferest rate swaps was US$140,500
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8. INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES (continued]
82 Other risk types [confinued)
w)  Interest rate nsk in the banking book continued)

Based on the repnaing profife ot 315t December 2008, and assuming that the finanaial assets and habilihes were
to remain unkl maturty or setflement with no action faken by the Group to alter the interest rafe risk exposure, an
ymmediate and sustained one per cent {100 basis points) ncrease in nterest rates across all maturihes would result in
a reduchon n net income before tax for the following year and in the Group's equity by approximately US$7 0 miflion
and U5$22 1 million respechvely The impact on the Group’s equity represents the cumulative effect of the increase in
interest rates over the entre durchon of the mismatches in the repricing profile of the inferest rate sensiive financsal
assefs and liabilies

iv] Business risk

Business risk represents the earnings volahlity inherent i all businesses due fo the uncertainty of revenves and costs due
to changes in the economic and compefitive environment

For economic capital purposes, business risk 15 caleulated based on the annualised cost base of applicable business
areas

9  CAPIWAL ADEQUACY RATIOS AND OTHER ISSUES

9.1 Copital adequacy ratios

The Group'’s pohcy s to maintain a strong cupltci base so as to preserve investor, creditor and market confidence
and fo sustain the future development of the bustness The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return 15 also
recognised as well as the need to mantain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater
gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital posthion The Group manages its capital siructure
and makes adjustments to the siructure taking account of changes n economic conditions and strategic business plans
The capital siructure may be adjusted through the dividend payout, and the 1ssue of new shares, subordinated term
finance, ond innovative tier 1 capifal securibes

The capital adequacy rahos of GIB's prinaipal subsidiary, GIBUK, ond the Group were as follows -

GBuk _Group
Totad RwWas [US$ millions) 7390 15,894 2
Capital bose (US$ millions) 2015 2,747 9
Tier ¥ capital {US$ millions) 20015 1,9854
Ter 1 raho {per ceni} 27.3% 12 5%
Total rahio {per cent] 27.3% 17 3%

GIB aims to mantamn a minimum her 1 ratio of 8 per cent and a total capital adequacy ratio 1n excess of 12 per cent
The CBE's current minimum total capital adequacy rahio for banks incorporated in Bahrain 15 set ot 12 per cent The CBB
does not prescribe o mimmum ratio requirement for her 1 capital

Strategies and methods for mamtaining a strong capital adequacy rato

GIB prepares mulh-year strategic projechions on a ralling annual basis which include an evaluation of short term capital
requirements and a forecast of longer-term capital resources

The evaluation of the sirategic planning projections have historically given rise to capital injechions The capstal planning
process tnggered the rarsing of additional her 2 capital through a US$400 million subordinated debt 1ssue in 2005 to
enhance the total regulatory capital adequacy ratio, and o US$500 million copital increase n March 2007 to provide
additional her 1 copstal to support planned medium ferm asset growth A furiher US$1 0 billion capital increase took
place in December 2007 to enhance capial resources and compensate for the impact of provisions relahing to exposures

;mpocted by the g|obai credit cnsis
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CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS AND OTHER ISSUES (continued)
ICAAP considerahons

Pillar 2 in the CBB’s Basel 2 framework covers two mam processes the ICAAP and the supervisory review and evaluation
process The ICAAP involves an evaluation of the idenbhcation, measurement, management and control of matenial
nsks m order to assess the adequacy of internal capital resources and to determine an infernal capital requirement
refleching the nsk appetite of the instiution The purpose of the supervisory review and evaluahon process 1s ta ensure
that insttuhions have adequate capital to suppart the risks fo which they are exposed and to encourage inshiuhons to
develop and apply enhanced risk management techmgues in the monttoring and measurement of rnsk

GIB’s regulatory capital base exceeded the CBB's mimmum requirement of 12 per cent throughout the year ended
315t December 2008 Based on the results of capital adequacy stress testing and caprtal forecasting, GIB considers that
the buffers held for regulatory copital adequacy purposes are sufficient and that GIB's internal minmum capital targets
of 8 per cent for her | capital and 12 per cent for total copite! are adequate given its current nisk profile and capitol
posthon The Group's regu|utory cupltc| cdequocy ratios set outin section 9 1 of this report s1gmﬁccnlfy exceeded the
mimimum capital targets and are high by infernational comparison

GIB uses its internal capitol models, economic capital, and capital adequacy caleulations based on the CBB's FIRB
approach for credit nsk when considering internal capital requirements both with and without the opplication of market
stress scenaros As a number of Pillar 2 nisk types exst within GIB's economic caprtal framework {1 @ interest rate risk
in the banking book, concentration risk and business risk), GIB uses its exiskng infernal capital measurements as the
basis for determining addihonal copital buffers GIB considers the results of its capital adequacy siress teshing, along
with economic capital and RWA forecasts, to determine its internal copital requirement and to ensure thot the Group 1s
odequately capitalised in siress scenarios reflecting GIB's risk appehite

GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS
ALCO Assets and biabilihes GiB Gulf International Bank B 5 C
Committee GIBUK Gulf Internationa! Bank {U K ) Limited
AMA Advanced Measurement The Group Gulf Infernational Bank B S C
Approach and subsidiaries
Basel Committee Basel Commutiee for ICAAP Internal Capital Adequacy
Banking Supervision Assessment Process
CBB Central Bank of Bahran IFRS International Financial Reperting Standards
CCF Credit Conversion Factor LGD Loss Given Default
o Collaterahsed Debt Obligation MD RM Managing Director - Risk Management
CEO Chief Executive Officer MENA Middle East and North Africa
CFO Chief Financial Officer ORMF Operational Risk Mancgement Framework
CG&TO Chief Investment and PD Probability of Default
Treasury Officer PSE Public Sector Enttes
EAD Exposure at Default RAROC Risk-adjusted Return on Copital
FIRB Approach Foundahon Internal RMBS Residential Mortgage-Backed Secunhes
Rahings Based Approach
RWA Resk Weighted Amount
FSA Financial Services Authonty
(of the United Kingdom sV Structured Investment Vehicle
GCC Gulf Cooperation Counail VaR Value-ot-Risk
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Organisation and Corporate Governance Chart

GIB Shareholders

Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency, Public Investment Fund (KSA), Kuwait investment
Authority, Qatar Investment Authority, Bahrain Mumtalakat Holding Company,
UAE Ministry of Finance, Oman Ministry of Finance
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Biographies of the Board and Senior Management

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

H E Mr Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Subaimi

Charrman

Saudi Arabian Citezen

HE Al Subaim holds a Bachelor s degree in Etecinical Lngineening from
the Untversity of Washington 1n Seatdle, USA He joined GIB as Chairman
of the Board of Directors m 2008 Prior to that he served between 2004 and
2006 as Chairman and Chief Executive of the Capital Market Authonty,
the regulatory body for the capstal market in the hangdom of Saudi Arabia
Dunng the penod 1989-2004, he was Deputy Govemor of the Saudi
Arabian Monetary Agency Ee munally joined SAMA as Director-General
for Banking Control He had also held vanous senior management posiions
i the govemment mcluding that of Deputy Durector General of the Saudi
Industnal Development Fund (1982-1984) H E Al-Suhainu has held Board
memberships i many beading public and private orgamsauons such as the
Saudi Arabtan General Investment Authonty, the General Petroleum and
Minerals Orgaisation the Nauonal Company for Cooperauve Insurance
and the London-based Saud: International Bank (which merged wath GI1B
i 1999)

Mr Abdul Aziz M Al-Abdulkader

Vice Chairman

Saudi Arabian Cinzen

BA in Business Admimstration, the Unnersity of Washington, USA

Mr Al-Abdsihader was appointed to the Board i 2001 He 1s Chairman of
the Rusk Policy Commuttee He 1s the founder and owner of the AMA Group
of Compames in Saudi Arabta Mr Al-Abdulkader 1s also the Chauman
of Osool Caprtal Other current directorships include Middle East Captal
Group Umited Gulf' [ndustries Company and Nauonal Instalment Company
Ltd He 13 a former Charrman of the Board of Pircctors of Bank Al-Janm

Dr Hamad bin Sulaiman Al-Baza © @

Saudi Arabian Ciuzen

BA m Adnunissrauve Sciences hang Saud Umiversity, Saudi Arabia, MS
and Ph D in Economics Colorado State University, USA Dr Al-Bazai
was appoinied to the Board 1n 1999 He 13 Deputy Minister of Finance for
Economic Affairs at the Mimistry of Finance Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
He 1s a Member of the Preparatory Commuttee of the Supreme Petroleum
Caouncil and 2 Board Member of the Human Resources Development Fund,
the Southern Region Cement Company and the Higher kducation Fund

Mr Saud bin Nassir Al Shukaily 0 ©

Omam Citzen

BS in Business Admumstraton from USA and MA in Dervclopment
Management the Amencan University Washington DC Mr Al-Shukaily
was appornted to the Board in 1999 He 1s cuerently the Secretary General
fot Taxauon at the Mimsiry of Finance Suliznate of Oman Larlier be served
as Durector General of Revenue and Investment at the Miuistny of Finance,
Directot of the Mimster's Office au the Mimstry of Nasonal Economy and
Director of the Minuster s Office at the Mimistry of Givil Services He 1s alsa
Deptity Chavmman of the Board of Oman Refinery Company Oman Aurport
Management Company and Qatar-Oman Investment Company He 15 a Board
Member of Sohar Industral Port Company and Dubm Mercantile Exchange

Dr Khalid A Al-Sweilem 0 @ ©

Saudh Arabian Ciuzen

BS in Indusinal Engimecning Unnersity of Anzona, MA 1 Economics,
Boston University Ph D 1n Economucs Uneversity of Colorade-Boulder,
1 addimon to post-doctoral fellowship 1n Econormics a0 Harvard Unin ersity,
USA Dr Al-Sweilem was appoinied ¢ the Board 1n 2004 He 15 now
Director General of Envestment at the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency
{SAMA) Presious positions at SAMA included Deputy Director General
of Investment and Director Investment Management Department

M Khalid bin Abdulta Al-Sowmd: 0 ©

Qatan Citizen

BA in Accounung from South Eastern University United Kingdom He
Joined the Board 1n 2004 He currently heads the Admimsiraton Department
at the Qatar Investment Authonty Earher he was Director of Tinance at
Doha Tntematonal Aicport (1997-2003) and Office Derector at the Deputy
Secretary General s Office of the Supreme Couneil for Economuc Affairs and
Imvestment 1n Qatar from 2003-2006 In 2006 he was appointed as Office
Manager of the Execunve Board Member to Qatar Investment Authonty

Mr Nasser Khamis Al-Suwad: 0 ©

UAE Cinizen

BS in Business and Banking Anzona Unnverity USA, n addiion te
specialised courses 1n macro economics at the Intematonal Manetary Fund

He jomned GIB s Board 1n 2004 Currently he 1s the Director for Development
and knsututional Support at the Mimisiry of Leonomy He previously senved
as Director of Exports Promotion at the Misuswry of Economy Prior to this
he was Dhrector of Industnal Development at the Mimstry of Finance and
Industry 1n the UAE Previous positions at the Minustry included Dircctor
of Inyvestments (2003-2004) Mumster 3 Office Manager {2000-2003), Head
of Developinent Institetions-Iny estment Department (1969.2000) Mr Al-
Suwaidi 15 2 Board member at OPEC Fund for Development and a member
of the UAE Anu-Dumping Commuttee and the Central Commuttee for
Staustics Coordination

HE Dr Abdul Rahman in Ahmed Al Jafary @ ©

Saudi Arebran Citizen

Bachelor of Science m Geology, Universiry of Washington Seartle, USA,
Master of Science in Educanonal Adoumstrauon from East Texas State
Umversity {Texas A&M) and a Ph D n Busmess Adnuenistrauon from
the Unnnersity of Oklahoma He joined GIB s Board of Directors 1n 2005
Dr Al-Jafary started bus career as Admuntsirauve Assisiant to the Dean of
the College of Petroleurn & Minerals tn the Kingdom of Saud) Arabia and
worked as a teaching assistant at the University of Oklahoma He joined
King Fahd Umiversity of Petroleum and Minerals as Assistant Professor and
Associate Professor (1979-1985) He also sened as Dean of the College
of [ndustrial Management between 1985-1989 Dr Al Jafary was appornted
Secretary General of the Gulf Orgamsauon for indusinal Consulung (1989-
1999} He was selected as a member of the Saudi Arabian Shura Council in
1993 and held thts post unul 2005 Dunng ihis penod he served as Chairman
of the Finance Commuitee for four years Ln 2007 he was appointed Govemnor
of the Commumcauons & Informaton Technology Commussion n the
Kingdom of Saud1 Arabia He 1s a member in the Acaderny of Management
and a member of the Insutute of Deciston Sciences Dr Al-Jafary 1s Board
member of the Saud: Arabian Mining Company and Dar Al Youm Press and
Publishing He has numerous published researches and lectures

Mr Ahmed Tohous Al-Rashed Al-Tahous @ ®

Kuwaiu Ciuzen

Bachelor of Business in Economics, Kuwant Umversity, 1981 He was
appounted to the Board of Dhrectors 1n 2007 Currently he 15 Dhrector of the
Equtites Department {Amenca Europe and Asia) a1 the huwait lavestment
Authority Pnor 1o this posimon, he was Semor Investment Manager
(US Equity) Between 1984-1988, he worked ai Morgan Stanley Asset
Managementin New York as a Portfolio Manager Mr Al-Tahous started his
career with Kuwart Invesunent Authority tn 1982 He s a Board Member of
the Kuwait Real Estate Investment Consortium (ks¢)

Mr Khald hooruddin €

Bahraim Ciuzen

A Chartered Financtal Analyst Mr Nooruddin holds a Bachelor of Science
degree 1 Systems Engweenng from the Unnersity of Petrolewn and
Mnerals, KSA, and a Master of Science degree in Quantitatne Analysis
and Finance from Stern Business School at New York University He joined
GIB s Board of Dhrectors in 2008 Mr Nocruddin s the founder and the
Managing Parner of Capital Knowledge, a financial consuhancy and
traneng company based in Bahrain He served as the Director of the Bahrain
Insutute of Banking and Finance from 2004-2007 Pror to that he worked
for 20 years as a corporate and imvestment banker His last astignment wag
with Investcorp Bank where he served as a member of the Management
Comanitec for 10 years Earlier he worked as a corporale banker with
Chase Manhatian Bank m Bahrain and as an wvestmment banker with Chase
Investors Management Corporatron and UBS Asset Management in London
and Zunch He also warked for five years ag an operations research analyst
with Bahramn Pewroleum Company and Caltex Petroleum Corporation
New York Mr Nooruddin 15 a Board Member of Ithmaar Bank and Vice
Chatrman of Alpine Wealth Management He 13 also an active member of
several civil and professional socteties in Bahrum

0 Audit Commitice Member
© HR & Compensation Committee Member
® Rusk Poltcy Commutise Member
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Biographies of the Board and Senior Management (continued)

114

SEMOR MANAGEMENT

Dr Yahya bin Abdullak A Alyahya

Chiel Executive Officer

Saudi Arabian Ciuzen

Dr Alyahya served on the Board of The World Bank Group as Executive
Dhrector representing Saudi Arabia from 1999 to 2006 During that period
he served 1n many capacities most notably as Dean of Executive Directors
and Chaurman of the Board Steenng Comruttee (03-06), Chairman of the
Personnel Comnuttee and Member of the Budget Commutiee (02-03), Vice
Chairman of the Audet Committee and Member of the Governance Commuttee
(60-02) Pnor to that De Alyahya served as Adwisor to the Governor Saud
Arabian Monetary Agency (99) General Manager of LA Juffali & Bros
m Reyadh (94-99), Founder and Dhrector General, The Institute of Banking
SAMA, in Ruyadh (89-94), Professor of industnal and Systems Engineenng
at King Saud Umiversity Riyadh (86-89) and the Umiversity of Michigan
USA (83-86) Lecturer on Matching Problems and Afgoruhms at the Indian
Sratistical Tustitute, Bangalore India (82), and a Project Analyst at the Saud
Industrsal Development Fund, Riyadh (75) Dr Atyahya has also served
on the Boards and Board Commitiees of many orgamsations, most notahly
Saudi Re (first reinsurer in $A) (07-08) Gulf Invesiment Corporation (GIC)
(06-08), Natonal Commercial Bank (NCB) (08) Guif Intemational Bank
(GIB) (99-01), Saudt Engineenng Soaety (79-99) Audu Commuitee of
AlBank AlSaudi AlFarans: (97-99) and Saudi Agricultural Bank (92-95)
Dr Alyahya holds a Ph D in Indusinal and Systems Engineenng from The
Umiversity of Michigan, Ann Arbor (83) and a Graduate of the UPM (73)
Currendy, Dr Alyahya s Chief Executve Officer of Gulf Internanonal Bank
(GIB) since January 2009 He also chairs the Board of Shumbah Water and
Electricity Company (first IWPP i SA) and sus on the Board of Oger
Telecom

Mr Abbas Ameeri

Maraging Director-Merchant Banking

Bahraim Citizen

Mr Ameen has banking expenence of 25y ears atGIB, where he worked within
the credit and banking groups He 1s responsible for GIB's total relationship
efforts withun the GCC  encluding munistnes of firance government
agencies corporahions financial insttutions and investment companics He
also supenises other activilies, including project and swructured finance,
syndicauons and [slamic banking, as well as the aenvites of GIB's branches
in Riyadh, Jeddah London and New York and the two representative of fices
m Abu Dhabi and Berrut Mr Ameen 15 a member of GIB s Managemem
Commuttee, the Credit Comouttee and the Assets and Liabihues Commutiee

Mr Antoine Dykstra

Managing Director-Chief Investment and Treasury Officer

Dutch Citizen

Mr Dijkstra graduated 1n Economics at the Erasmus University Rotterdam
and completed is doctorates at the same mstuution He also attended the
executive course at INSEAD (France) in 2005 He joined GIB 1n 2008 as
Managing Director and Clief Invesiment & Treasury Officer Between
2006 and June 2008 he was a Semor Managing Director at Bear Stearns
International 1 London He 1s also a member of the Supervisory Board
at Bnink s NV, a member of the Board of the Trust Fund of the Erasmus
Umversity Rotterdam and member of the Board of Zegora Investments 1n
Zunch Between 2000 and 2006 he was a member of the Managing Board
of NIB Capial NV in the Netherlands wath responsibnhity for the Strategic
Business Umits Tinancral Markets Real Estate Markets, Inyvestment
Management and Wealth Management He 13 also former member of the
Board of Harcourt Investment Consulung

GULY INTERNATIONAL BANK

Mr Stephen Williams

Managing Director-Chief Financial Officer

UJK Citizen

Chartered Accouatant, Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
n England and Wales (ICAEW) BSc Economues Utuverstty College
Cardiff UK Mr Williams joined GIB in 1987 He was appotnied Group
Financtal Controller 1n 2000 and Cluef Financiat Officer in 2008 He 1s
directly responsible for Groupwide siatitory regulatory and management
reporting  strategic, financial and balance sheet planming, day to-day
market operatcnal and liqudity nisk management and mformauon
secunty Mr Walliams was responsible for GIB’s Basel 2 implementation
project and was a member of the Insutute for Intermational Finance s ([IF)
Working Group on Capual Adequacy Mr Williams 15 a member of GIB &
Management Commutice Group Risk Commutiee, Assets and Liabnlines
Commutee, Informauon Systems Commuttee and 15 the chawman of
the Information Secunty Commuitee and Operanonal Risk Commttee
Prior 1o joning GIB, Mr Willhams worked for KPMG 1n London and the
Middle East

Mr Richard David Scolt

Managing Director-Head of Risk Management

UK Cuizen

Master s degree 1n Modern History from Oxford University He jomed GIB
as Managing Director-Head of Risk Manag atats head ters i the
Kingdom of Bahrain 1n 2008 Mr Scott worked with Ciucorp/Citigroup
between 1977 and 2007 most recenily as the Region Head for Country
Rusk Management in Europe, the Middle East and Africa Prior 1o this he
worked as Rusk Manager for the Snuth Barmey Private Equity Finance
business for the Asia Pacific region and Europe (2005-2006) Farlier
Mr Scott was also the Director and Head of the Investment Fipance
Business platform of Citibank Private Bank London (2003-2005), and at
Saudi American Bank he was the Semor Crednt Officer {seconded from
Citibank) covering the Central and Western regions, Energy Public Sector
and Financial Insttunons (1999-2003) Before jouming Samba Mr Scou
was Cibank"s Corntry Risk Manager in Russia (1996-1999)

Mr Hassan Abdul Gham

Managing Director Operations and Admuntstration

Bahraim Crtizen

Mr Abdul Ghant joined GIB more than 30 years ago where e worked
withm vanous departments and busimess units and headed the Singapore
Branch He completed many speciahised and advanced tramming programnes
m credit and operauons, including the Darden Executive Management
Programmes from the Umversity of Virgmia USA Mr Abdul Gham
was appointed Managmng Director i 2007 and his responsibilihies
cover the Bank’s operations, information fechnology, human resources
and admuustration services Prior to that, Mr Abdul Gham served as
head of the Humant Resources Group, GCC Branches & Syndications
Financial Institutions and other areas Mr Abdul Gham 1s a member of
GIB 5 Management Commuttee, the Group Risk Commutiee, the Human
Resources Committee the 1T Commuttee and the Information Security
Commutiee

Mr Mohab Nap Muft

Managing Director and CEQ, GIBUK

Saudi Arabian Cinzen

BSc Computer Science, University of East Anglia, UK Mr Mufh was
appointed 1in 2008 Managing Dhrector and CEO of Gulf Intemational
Bank (UK) L1d He has been responsible for GIB s Financial Markets
business since 1599 He joined Guif Internanonal Bank (UK) Liniued in
1996 Pnor to that Mr Mufu worked with the National Commercial Bank
i Saudh Arabta where he was the Head of Trading Between 1987 and
1993 he occupied vanous senior trading and 1nvestment roles within Sauds
Intemauonal Bank i London Mr Mufu ts a Board member of the Arab
Bankers Associtauon, UK




Co rporate Directo ry

General Management

Dr Yahya A Alyahya

Chuef Executive Officer

Abbas Ameeri

Managing Dhrector - Merchant Banking
Anteine Dijkstra

Managing Director - Chief Investment
& Treasury Officer

Stephen Williams

Managing Drrector - Chief Financial
Officer

Richard David Scott

Managing Director - Risk Management
Hassan Abdulgham

Managing Drrector - Operations &
Admunistratton

Mohab N Mufti

Managing Director & CEO - GIBUK

Merchant Banking

GCC Relationship Management
Al Rahimi

Head of GCC Relauonship
Management

Alt Al-Derazi

Head of Bahrain Kuwant &
Saudi Arabia

Al Abdul Wahab

Head of Oman & Qatar

Fadel Al Meer

Country Head - Saud: Arabia
and Riyadh Branch Manager
Haroon Alireza

Jeddah Branch Manager

Project Futance & Advisory

M Chandrasckaran

Head of Project Finance & Advisory
Ravi Knishnan

Structuring & Project Advisory
Tarun Puri

Project Finance

Rajan Malik

Syndicanons

GCC Capial Markets

Srimvas Vemparala

Head of GCC Capital Markets
Private Equty & Islamic Banking
Iftikhar § Ah

Islamic Banking

P R Suoresh

GCC Capital Markets

Maneesh Aymani

GCC Pnivate Equity

Tnrernanonal Banking
Asghar Al Baba

Head of International Banking
Charbel Khazen

London Branch

Gregga Baxter

New York Branch

Hassan Yaseen

Berrut Representative Office

Investment Banking

Oscar Silva

Head of Tnvestment Banking
Fakhre Fazh

Corporate Finance - GCC

Asset Management

Robert Sargent

Head of Asset Management
Uday Patnatk

Senior [nvestment Officer
Alex Gracian

Egutty Portfohio Management
James Taylor

Bond Partfolio Management
Azhar Hussain

Fund Products

Andrew Burgess
Structured Products
Anthony Chisnall

investor Relanons Officer

Treasury

Ahbdulla Hap

Head of Money Markets & FX
Mare The

Head of Sales & Trading
Adnan Al-Rifaie

Head of Riyadh Treasury
Steven Moulder

Head of London &

New York Treasunes

Al Al-Qaseer

Head ol Internatronal
Financial Insttutions
Austin Sequeira

Head of Treasury Palicy
& Admumistration

Risk Management & Finance

Masood Zafar

Chief Credu Officer

Robert Amus

Chief Financial Officer -
GIBUK

Russel Bennett

Head of Financial Management

Rahul Thomas

Head of Market Risk

Michael Cowling

Head of Informaton &
Operaonal Risk

Shane Panjavam

Operauonal Risk - Bahramn
Jameel Al-Sairafi

Information Secunty - Bahrain

Support Functions

Ali Buhejp

Operations - Bahrain

Ah Ashoor

Admimstrative Services - Bahrain
Dimitn Varvitsiotis

IT Applications - Bahrain
Ebrahim Al-Rafael

IT Operations - Bahrain
Rashed Abdul-Rahim
Operatons & Admimstration -
Saudi Arabia

David Maskall

Operations - GIBUK

Human Resources

Hassan Abdulgham

Head of Human Resources
Darshan Singh

Human Resources Development
Jamal Hejris

Human Resources - Bahrain

Audit, Legal & Compliance

Hassan Al-Mulila

Group Chief Audstor

Julian Anthony

Audst - Londen

Vernon Handley

legal Counse! - Bahratn
Georges Djandp

Head of Compliance - Bahrain
Toby Billington

General Counsel & Head of
Corporate Office/Company
Secretary - London

Corporate Communications

Abdulla Naneesh
Head of Corporate
Communicattons

Board Secretariat

Faiz Al-Barwam
Secretary to the Board
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Corporate Directory (co ntinued)

Head Office

PO Box 1017

Al-Dowalt Building

3 Palace Avenue

Manama Kingdom of Bahran
Telephone

General (+973) 17 534000

FX & Meoney Markets

(+973) 17 534300 17 530030
Treasury Sales (+973) 17 522533
Fixed Income/Den atives
(+973) 17 522521

Investmenis (+973) 17 522575
Investment Banking

{(+973) 17 522536

International Banking

(+973) 17 522402

Financial Institutions

(+973) 17 522685

Teiex

General 8802 DOWALI BN
Telefax

General (+973) 17 522633
Treasury Sales {+973) 17522422

FX & Money Markets (+973) 17 522530

Investmems (+973) 17 522625
Investinent Banking

(+973) 17 542790

International Banking

(+973) 17 522642

Financial Institutions

(+973) 17 542730

SWIFT GULFBHBM
Reuter Direct Daal

Forex Umt & Options GIBB
International Money Market Umt/
Middle East Currencies GIBF
Treasury Sales GIBA

E-Mail

Enquiry under contact us

1n GIB website

Internet

http /www gibonhne com

Principal Substdiaries

Gulf International Bank (UK)
Limted

One Knightsbridge

London SW1X 7XS

Unuted Kingdom

Telephone (+44) 20 7259 3456
Telefax (+44) 20 7259 6060
Cables SAUDIBANK
LONDON 5W1

SWIFT SINTGB2L

} l() GULF INTERNATTONAL BANK

GIB Financial Services
Limuted Libuliy Company
3rd Floor South Tower

Abraj Atta awuneya Building
King Fahad Road

P O Box 89389

Riyadh 11673

Kingdom of Saud Arabia
Telephone (+9661) 218 G555
Telefax (+9661) 218 00355

Branches

London Branch

One Kmghtsbridge

London SWIX 7X8

United Kingdom

Telephone

General (+44) 207393 0410
Treasury (+44) 20 7393 0461
Telefax

General (+44) 207393 0458
Treasury {+441) 20 7393 0430
Banking (+44) 20 7393 (454
SWIFT GULFGB2L
E-Mall Londonbranch@gibuk com

New York Branch

330 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017

Umnited States of Amenca
Telephone (+1) 212922 2300
Telefax (+1) 212 922 2309
SWILFT GULFUS33

E-Mail gregga baxter@ gibuk com

Cayman Islands Branch
Clo New York Branch

Ruyadh Branch

Abraj Atta’awuneya

King Fahad Road

P O Box 93413

Ruyadh 11673

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Telephone

General {(+9661) 218 0888
Treasury (+9651) 218 1192
Telefax

General (+9661) 218 0088
Corporate Banhing (+9661) 218 1184
Treasury (+9661) 218 1155
SWIFT GULFSARI

Jeddah Branch

Bin Homran Center

Office No 5068

HRH Prince Mohammed

Bin Abdulaziz St , Jeddah

PO Box 40530, Jeddah 21511
Kingdom of Saudt Arabia

Tel (+9662) 660 7770

Fax (+9662) 660 6040
E-Mail h alireza@gibryd com
S WIFT GULFSARI

Representative Offices

Lebanon Representative Office
Gefinor Centre, Block B
Office Number 1401

P O Box 113/6973

Beirut

Lebanon

Telephone (+961} | 739 505
(+961) 1 739 507

(+961) 1 739 509

Telefax {+961) 1 739 503
E-Mail gibbey@inco com b

United Arab Emirates
Representatve Office

Arab Monetary Fund Building
Corniche Road

P O Box 27051

Abu Dhaby

United Arab Enurates
Telephone (+ 971) 2621 4747
Telefax (+971)2 631 1966
E-Mail ah alderazi@gib ae




Registeation Number FGIH 143




